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APPLICATION FOR CHANGE OF RATES OF PILOTAGE
PAGE TWO

PART B

1. Name of Port for which rate change is being requested:

Port Everglades

2. Detailed explanation of rate change being requested:

Effective on Final Order

An adjustment in rates providing a tonnage discount of between -25% and -50% to the largest vessels calling at
Port Everglades, but resulting in a net adjustment of +11% in rates overall:

a) A draft charge increase as follows:

The current charge of $13.30 per draft foot with a 14-foot minimum increased to:

For vessels with draft of 0 to 20 feet: $18.00 per draft foot (14-foot minimum)
21 to 30 feet: $22.00 per draft foot
31 to 40 feet: $29.00 per draft foot
Over 40 feet: $45.00 per draft foot

b) To promote business at the Port, encourage vessel calls during periods of off-peak berth and pilot
utilization, and encourage calls by larger vessels, the following discounted niche categories are
requested. After a vessel’s second call, the vessel may apply for and receive special tonnage rates as
follows:

First 80,000 GT $0.0356 per GT and
On tonnage from 80,001–130,000 GT $0.0267 per GT and
On tonnage over 130,000 GT $0.0178 per GT

Weekly “feeder-size” vessel $0.0320 per GT
(less than 18,000 GT)

Frequent caller (2,500–80,000 GT) $0.0320 per GT

c) No change to the base tonnage rate of $0.0356 per GT with a 2,500 GT minimum. This charge applies to
every movement of a vessel and is based on the highest published tonnage.

d) For weekly scheduled “feeder-size” vessels of less than 18,000 GT, a tonnage charge decrease to $0.0320
per GT.

e) For frequent calling vessels, calling on a regular service with at least 3 arrivals per week, a tonnage
charge decrease to $0.0320 per GT for the first 80,000 tons.

f) Detention – $150 per hour after the first 0.5 hours.

g) Canceled or delayed sailing – $150 after pilot is dispatched to vessel.
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h) Running lines by pilot boat – $300.

i) Shifting – $330 plus draft and tonnage charge.

j) Placing personnel on or off vessel by pilot boat – $200.

k) Piloting or shifting ship or barge without motive power and/or steering – 2.0 x draft and tonnage charge.

l) Any movement of a vessel operating under a USCG letter of deviation or any vessel with a deficiency
that affects maneuverability – 2.0 x draft and tonnage charge.

m) Anchor – $400 plus draft and tonnage charge. This charge shall also apply to taking a vessel from
anchor, if requested.

n) Second pilot – When a second pilot is need for safety or at the request of the master, owners, agents,
charters, operators, port, or under consultation with the pilot, each pilot will receive full tariff charge.

o) Deputy training charge – $20 per certificated deputy pilot per movement on all vessel movements.

p) Pension charge – $200 per vessel movement. (Note: This charge is not included in the calculation of
the net adjustment of +11% requested above.)

Effective January 1, 2016

Capital investment, maintenance, and pilot-training and education charge – A charge of $70 per vessel will be
assessed per vessel movement.

Effective January 1, 2017

As recommended by the Rate Committee Chairman, a CPI adjustment to the rates will be made based on the
change in the CPI (up or down). CPI will be calculated on a rolling 3-year average of the annual CPI, All Urban
Consumers published by the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics. The CPI adjustment shall apply to all
charges and rates with the exception of special tonnage rates in excess of 80,000 GRT, which shall remain
unchanged.

Effective January 1, 2018

A CPI adjustment to the rates will be made based on the change in the CPI (up or down). CPI will be calculated
on a rolling 3-year average of the annual CPI, All Urban Consumers published by the United States Bureau of
Labor Statistics. The CPI adjustment shall apply to all charges and rates with the exception of special tonnage
rates in excess of 80,000 GRT, which shall remain unchanged.

Effective January 1, 2019

A CPI adjustment to the rates will be made based on the change in the CPI (up or down). CPI will be calculated
on a rolling 3 year average of the annual CPI, All Urban Consumers published by the United States Bureau of
Labor Statistics. The CPI adjustment shall apply to all charges and rates with the exception of special tonnage
rates in excess of 80,000 GRT, which shall remain unchanged.
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This rate adjustment deals directly with issues raised at the Miami rate-reduction hearing in July 2014. Tonnage
charges are reduced on the largest vessels and frequent callers. Draft charges are increased to allocate the
revenue more evenly over the entire spectrum of port traffic, and consideration is given to small vessels.

Surcharges, common in most U.S. ports, are introduced to offset some of the more variable expenses and are
treated in a way that spreads them evenly across port traffic. Overall revenue is increased to promote a safe,
efficient, and reliable piloting service, and the resulting rate is fair, just, and reasonable, as defined by Chapter
310, Florida Statutes. The resulting rate is among the lowest of any of the major ports in the United States.

3. Basis for requested rate change:

Introduction

It is the public policy of the State of Florida—and a policy of the highest order—to secure not minimally
qualified pilots, but world-class pilots of the highest skill and expertise. See § 310.151(5)(b)6., Fla. Stat. (2014)
(providing that, “in order to attract to the profession of piloting, and to hold the best and most qualified
individuals as pilots, the overall compensation accorded pilots should be equal to or greater than that available to
such individuals in comparable maritime employment”); id. § 310.0015(3) (noting that Florida’s regulation of
port pilots “benefits and protects the public interest by maximizing safety . . . and enhancing state regulatory
oversight”).

Moreover, it is the public policy of the State to out-compete other maritime professions for the best and most
capable mariners—and then to hold them accountable to the public, rather than to ship owners and operators,
through strict state licensure and regulation. See ACL Bahamas Ltd. v. Dep’t of Bus. & Prof’l Regulation,
Pilotage Rate Review Comm., Case No. 10-2335 ¶ 56 (Fla. DOAH Jan. 31, 2012), approved and adopted, (Fla.
PRRC Apr. 18, 2012) (explaining that wage rate of comparable professions is a “floor” for pilot compensation);
In Re: Application of Port Everglades Pilots Ass’n for Rate Increase in Port Everglades, Case No. 97-3656,
1998 WL 866445, at *12 (Fla. DOAH Feb. 24, 1998; Fla. PRRB June 10, 1998) (explaining that the “law does
not tie pilot compensation to other maritime professions other than to set a ‘floor’ for pilot compensation”).

The legislative mandate to the Pilotage Rate Review Committee is crystal clear. In deciding rate applications,
the Committee must “give primary consideration to the public interest in promoting and maintaining efficient,
reliable, and safe piloting services.” § 310.151(5)(a), Fla. Stat. (2014) (emphasis added).

To “promote” piloting services means “to contribute to the growth or prosperity of” piloting services. See
http://www.m-w.com. To promote “efficient” piloting services means to make those services “capable of
producing desired results without wasting materials, time, or energy.” Id. To promote “reliable” piloting
services means to ensure piloting services that are “able to be trusted to do or provide what is needed.” Id.

The overarching policy of the State of Florida is “to attract to the profession of piloting, and to hold the best and
most qualified individuals as pilots.” § 310.151(5)(b)6., Fla. Stat. (2014).

The PEP alternative application, based on real facts and common sense, proves that a moderate, equitable
adjustment of the current rate structure will serve the public interest in promoting and motivating efficient,
reliable, and safe piloting services in Port Everglades. It has been eleven long years and over 120,000 handles
since the PEP has had a rate increase. During that time, the cost of living has increased by 29.6%, and real CPI-
adjusted pilot net income has decreased by approximately 14%. The facts will show that despite having the
highest number of jobs per day in the country, and despite having to navigate one of the riskiest ports in the
nation, the PEP net income is well below the average pilot compensation of 23 organizations consisting of 760
pilots.



5

This erosion in net income is having a tangible and ominous impact. The pool of approved candidates to fill
openings for new pilots at Port Everglades has declined precipitously, from 62 in 1996 to 18 in 2012. But there
is an easy and effective remedy for this problem, as the Investigative Committee noted in 2000:

It is in the best interest of the State of Florida to attract the most capable
pilots in the country, and nothing attracts them better than good
compensation.

For these very same reasons, the FCCA application is contrary to law and should be rejected. Rather than
attempting to prove compliance with the statutory criteria, the FCCA uses pejoratives such as “monopoly” to
send a subliminal message to the Committee to ignore the mandates of Chapter 310 and begin the dismantling
of the piloting profession. The Committee, of course, must reject such a lawless invitation.

The FCCA’s assertion that the gross-tonnage calculation has resulted in a “cost shift” to the few massive cruise
ships that call on Port Everglades is incorrect. Nevertheless, without for a moment conceding that threading a
leviathan through a narrow limestone channel bristling with private boat traffic is risk-free to port pilots and the
citizens of Florida, the PEP has fairly and responsibly addressed the FCCA’s concerns. The PEP recognizes that
the traditional tonnage-to-draft ratio has been altered by the arrival of large passenger ships, and this application
proposes to adjust rates to shift the balance toward draft. The proposed tariff thus results in lower rates for
many cruise ships while modestly adjusting rates to the cargo industry to account for increases in the cost of
living and the absence of a rate increase for over a decade. The application will move pilot compensation at
Port Everglades closer to the national average without imposing an undue financial burden on maritime sectors.

Argument

If the requested rate is granted, pilotage rates at Port Everglades will remain among the lowest of any major port
in the United States. The pilots, with other key businesses at the Port, as well as the Port Everglades Authority
itself, continually work to make certain that Port Everglades is competitive with other ports. We understand
that in most cases the ship owner and the freight forwarder have a choice of ports, and we will not allow the Port
to lose its competitive advantage by imprudently raising pilotage rates.

Since June of 2003 when the last rate change was implemented, the CPI has risen over 29.6%. During the same
period of time, the Port Everglades Department of Broward County has raised its charges on cargo vessels by
36% and on passenger vessels by more than 40%. From 2004 to 2013, Port Everglades operating revenue has
increased 30.98%. Over the same period, the pilotage revenue has decreased by 8.9%. The rate adjustment in
June of 2003 was the last adjustment in pilotage rates at Port Everglades, and in eleven years there has been no
change in pilotage fees.

In 2008, PEP elected not to file for any rate changes because of the economy. Despite a decline in pilotage
revenue of 17.8% from September 2008 to December 2009, and without a rate increase, the pilots continued to
provide the same quality service that port users have come expect. Several customers have recognized the long
period since our last rate application and acknowledged that that was a long time without a change. Piloting
expenses are the only expense in their budgets that had not increased. They were understandably concerned
about how a rate change for passenger vessels only would impact their operations. Most of them would prefer
not to have any increase at all but recognize that all costs increase over time. We assured them that we would
attempt to address their concerns with our own rate proposal.

While revenue per job has increased since the last rate change, it would be incorrect to assume that this results
in the pilots making more money. Total revenue has declined. The number of large vessels has increased, but
the primary reason for the increase in revenue per job (88%) is the loss of small- and below-average revenue
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traffic (-3900 movements). Since 2010, the first full year that the Oasis of the Seas was in operation, revenue
per job has increased by $61.30, or 4.3%—less than half of the rate of inflation. The revenue-per-job number is
not a statutory criterion and reflects the average size of vessels more than anything else. It can be affected by the
increase or decrease in tonnage or draft, as well as an above- or below-average change in traffic volume by size.

We listened carefully to the arguments before the Rate Review Committee in Miami and to the deliberations of
the Commissioners. We have analyzed the FCCA application and have discovered that much of their data and
many of their arguments are false. They do not apply to Port Everglades. There has not been an “organic
increase” in revenue, either overall or with regard to passenger vessels at Port Everglades. Revenue has fallen.
From 2004 to 2013, passenger ship revenue has fallen by 19.9%, and passenger ship tonnage has also fallen.
Overall revenue is down by 8.9% over the same period. In 2004, passenger ship revenue represented 57.3% of
the total revenue. In 2013, passenger ship revenue represented 50.4% of total revenue—an amount that has
fallen for four consecutive years. Even without a rate change, this ratio will continue to fall through 2016.

No question—the Oasis of the Seas and Allure of the Seas are extremely large. But they have substantial
economies of scale and provide significant savings in all aspects of their operation including pilotage. The
Genesis project, which became the “Oasis Class,” began its design phase in 2004-2005—after implementation of
the last rate change. While the pilots did not envision vessels of this size when designing the current rate
structure, Oasis is its biggest beneficiary. These ships actually call in Port Everglades and operate on a year-
round basis. Their tonnage is 25 to 30% greater than the next largest vessel, and the revenue they generate for
the pilots is a significant proportion of the overall revenue. This year, the Oasis, which previously operated
year-round from Port Everglades, reduced its service from the Port to ten months. In 2015, the Allure will only
operate from our port for six months. In 2016, the Oasis will be permanently repositioned and is scheduled to be
replaced by a vessel that is 25% smaller.

In the meantime, the Oasis and Allure actually save the cruise lines on pilotage fees. While these large vessels
pay larger pilotage fees than other cruise ships, they accommodate a larger number of passengers and therefore
make fewer port calls. Thus, while the FCCA points to the two largest passenger ships in the world in an
attempt to show that rates are excessive, not only are those ships outliers whose tonnage far exceeds that of the
next largest ship, but the size of the ships allows the cruise line to cruise less frequently.

The FCCA makes much of the fact that the Oasis and Allure make up 14% of pilot revenue. This points,
however, to the business risk in Port Everglades. Loss of a single vessel for mechanical problems, shipyard
periods, and repositioning—all factors that have affected the schedule of these two ships—has a significant
downside impact to our revenue and income. Since berth scheduling is done well in advance for a cruise-ship
season, unexpected interruptions in vessel schedule result in unplanned loss to the pilots, but frequently are
insurable to the cruise companies. In 2003, 22.2% of pilot revenue came from just two vessels. Four years later,
neither vessel was calling Port Everglades. Both companies went out of business, and their business was not
replaced.

Port Everglades is the only port in the United States that provides tiered discounts for tonnage. These tonnage-
based tiers extend to all vessels and do not—and should not—discriminate by vessel type. Container, RO/RO,
Tanker, and General Cargo vessels are all eligible to take advantage of the discounts, provided they meet the
tonnage criteria. In 2004, there were 706 vessel movements on ships over 80,000 GRT. In 2013, there were
1,012 vessel movements on ships over 80,000 GRT, and, of these, 345 were movements on ships over 130,000
GRT. All of these ships received a discount from the standard pilot rate, and all of these ships were passenger
vessels. At the time of the last rate change, the largest passenger ship was the Queen Mary II, at 148,528 GRT.
This ship has received a discount every time it called at Port Everglades. Of the 44 passenger ships calling Port
Everglades during the 2014-15 season, only four are larger than the Queen Mary II.
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Our rate request expands the discounts on the largest vessels by decreasing the tonnage rate on the top two tiers.
The new rate gives a 50% discount on tonnage over 130,000 GRT and a 25% discount on tonnage between
80,000 and 130,000 GRT. The net result is a total tonnage charge for the Oasis that is 25% lower than the
standard rate.

We have incorporated some of the recommendations from our customers in our requested rates. These include
incentive tonnage discounts to customers in two categories: (1) weekly feeder vessels of less than 18,000 GRT;
and (2) frequent-calling vessels up to 80,000 GRT, calling on a regular service with at least three arrivals per
week. The tonnage tiers above 80,000 tons would also apply. The first category—feeder vessels—is in our
current rate structure, while the second is a new category. These categories represent areas in which the port is
attempting to expand service in order to achieve better berth utilization during off-peak times. Success in
attracting business in these areas will also have the added benefit of increasing pilot utilization.

We have structured the rate adjustment to meet the expressed intentions of the Rate Review Committee, while
providing what are plainly fair, just, and reasonable rates. Draft charge increases serve to spread revenue more
evenly over the entire business. We have provided draft tiers which, on the low side, minimize the impact of
rate increases on our smallest companies. As the draft tiers increase, the ships that are closest to the hard rock
bottom of the channel and those with the greatest mass and inertia will pay more. On the top end, the draft tier
levels are set at recognized ship handling levels subject to “shallow water” maneuvering effects.

Historically, across the entire business, pilot revenue was approximately 70% tonnage-based and 30% draft-
based (70:30). Since the arrival of the Oasis and Allure, this ratio has shifted toward tonnage. In 2013, the
tonnage-to-draft ratio was 78.4:21.6. In addition to providing discounts to large vessels, our proposed rate shifts
tonnage charges to draft, improving the ratio and moving it beyond historical norms, to a 65:35 tonnage-to-draft
ratio.

Increased expenses continue to be a major concern. While the cost of major medical and other insurance often
rises at rates greater than the CPI, pilots who have responsibility for these areas of our business have had some
success in managing the increases. Fuel costs have risen dramatically since the last rate application (+214%).
We have repowered all of our boats with more fuel-efficient and environmentally sound engines, but this
ongoing cost remains a significant concern. While the level of service has remained unchanged, the poor
economy has forced us to make difficult choices in the maintenance and operation of our pilot vessels and
infrastructure. We do our best to forecast expenditures and budget for them, but in some cases we are forced to
postpone certain expenditures and fund more urgent ones.

We have carefully reviewed much needed capital expenditures on our building, boat shed, and pilot boats. We
will have to fund these essential projects from pilotage revenues generated by the requested rate increase. Many
of these expenditures have been delayed in favor of more immediate problems, such as legislative and legal
expenses to fend off FCCA attacks and legitimate concerns over a 25% rate reduction application and its impact
on our business operation. We are approaching the limit of these delays.

We have added two surcharges to spread some of the costs more evenly across all port traffic, rather than
weighting it toward larger vessels. Outside of the State of Florida, we were able to find only a single port that
did not include surcharges as part of their rates. The proposed surcharges include a deputy training surcharge
and a surcharge for capital investment, maintenance, and pilot training.

The first of these requested charges is a deputy-training surcharge, which would only be charged when a deputy
was in a training program. This type of surcharge—fundamentally a cost-recovery charge—is common on the
West and Gulf Coasts of the United States. The Florida Statutes require pilots to “train and compensate”
deputy pilots. § 310.0015(3)(d)1., Fla. Stat. (2014). The State selects deputy pilots for Port Everglades with no
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input from the pilot organization. While most deputies successfully complete the program, about 12.5% do
not. This comes at a high cost to the pilots and currently can only be passed on through a rate increase. And not
all deputies progress through the program at the same rate. A training surcharge fairly addresses these costs.

The second surcharge is also designed to spread major expenses more evenly across all port traffic. It combines
pilot continuing education training and capital expenses and maintenance in a single charge and again is
designed to recover some of the costs associated with these factors. Since the last rate hearing, the Port
Everglades pilots have purchased two pilot boats for their operation and replaced six engines in the boats. None
of this was projected at the last rate hearing. In addition, the engines have been rebuilt a number of times. Four
boats are required to meet maintenance schedules and service the traffic, particularly during peak cruise ship
times, to maintain our one-hour call policy and 15 minute cruise ship entry interval. With a 20- to 28-year life
span for pilot boats, pilots must purchase a new boat every five to seven years. The great recession has put us
behind the curve on our equipment replacement schedule. STCW95 reached full implementation in 2003—after
our last rate adjustment. While we have continued to perform annual training and simulation exercises, our
review of pilot organizations around the country convinces us that we must do more to be in line with pilots
across the country.

We have incorporated many of the stated concerns and wishes in the proposed rate. Notably, all of our
customers expressed complete satisfaction with the level of pilotage service rendered, especially in light of the
fact that the pilotage rates for Port Everglades would continue to be among the lowest in the country, even after
the proposed rate adjustments.

Pension Charge

In order to address the issues enumerated by the Rate Committee, we have evaluated a funded retirement plan.
We view this issue as separate and distinct from the rates. Preliminary discussions with our retirement
consultant have identified a requirement of $4.1 million per year for an initial ten-year period to establish a fully
funded pension program. This would amount to a per-vessel charge of $550 per vessel movement and would
be a significant burden on consumers of the port. For purposes of this application and discussion, we suggest
as an alternative a pension surcharge of $200 per vessel movement to begin funding a pension program. This
surcharge will begin to create a funded and qualified pension program for the PEP and to address the retirement
of only active pilots and employees. If the Committee intends to pursue a funded program, we suggest the
Committee consider funding in a range from $125 per movement for a partially funded plan, or up to $550 per
movement for a fully funded plan. Ultimately, the current unfunded plan would be phased out.

Creating a plan is complicated. It requires careful analysis and reworking of long-standing contracts and
commitments to both active and retired pilots. A key element in the decision is the level of funding. Following
a positive decision by the Committee, PEP would proceed with the careful structuring of a viable plan for
presentation to the Committee prior to issuance of the final order.

The PEP listened carefully to the Committee discussion at the rate hearing in Miami on July, 31, 2014. Our non-
funded retirement agreement is similar to most pilot retirement systems throughout the United States and in
many respects to that of the Biscayne Bay Pilots. We do not provide lifetime medical benefits to our retirees,
and the spousal benefit is limited to ten years from the date of retirement. The plan is funded from current
revenue and has reached its maximum cap. Any reference in our plan to 50% of pilot income is in terms of the
upper limit of the benefit received. It is not a given or assumed amount and going forward will be considerably
less than this limit. Upon the retirement of additional pilots, individual retirement benefits will be reduced while
the cost of the plan will remain constant relative to the gross pilotage.

Our plan has been in effect since 1960. It has been reviewed and discussed in the rate-setting process on eleven
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separate occasions before the Board of Pilot Commissioners (the “BOPC”) and also in administrative hearings.
Throughout the 1970’s, 1980’s, and early 1990’s, the plan was administered at little cost to the Port’s users,
primarily because there were few if any retirees. Most recently, at a rate hearing on April 17, 2001, the PEP
suggested funding the plan. In its final order (Case No. 01-01), the BOPC concluded that funding retirement
from the general operating revenues is a lesser imposition on users and took no action to fund the plan.

During discussions on legislative issues over the last year, maritime users and particularly members of the FCCA
have made it clear that they wish to have mandatory retirement ages for pilots. The Legislature has not acted on
these recommendations, but the PEP has for more than 25 years, through its retirement agreement, provided
mandatory retirement at the age of 65.

The statute clearly recognizes the value of a retirement system in attracting and retaining qualified individuals to
the profession of piloting in Florida. Prior to the Miami rate hearing, we did not believe it possible to create a
funded plan. One need only look at the implications to a non-funded program of drops in business, rate
reductions, political manipulation, and changes to the statute to understand the inherent risk in a non-funded
program. In evaluating these risks, the PEP realize that the current retirement formula as compared to those
available at other ports across the country puts them at a disadvantage in attracting deputy pilot candidates.

Despite having similar unfunded retirement programs within their companies, the members of the FCCA have
suggested the creation of a funded and qualified retirement program. At the Miami hearing, some Committee
members seemed to agree that this was necessary as well. In the limited time available to us, we have
benchmarked other pilot plans around the country to identify retirement programs, their funding mechanisms,
and levels of funding. We have partnered with a major investment firm and are assessing how these plans were
instituted. By the time of the rate hearing, we will be able to offer a framework for implementation. Our
objective was to meet the goals expressed by members of the Committee and to create a plan that would provide
for our members in retirement. At the same time, we have considered phasing out the current plan over time.
The pension surcharge will be the funding mechanism for this plan.

Conclusion

We recognize that shippers have a choice when determining a destination for their vessels. Our requested rates
meet the requirement of fair, just, and reasonable rates for pilots and consumers alike. They do not discriminate
based on vessel type and gives consideration to ships that call our port frequently. They address the effects of
rising costs while providing stable rates going forward. In order to continue to attract the best and brightest pilot
candidates, the requested rates will help to correct the disparity in incomes between Port Everglades pilots and
the national average of pilots across the country. They will enable the pilots at Port Everglades to continue to
provide safe, efficient, and reliable piloting service at the levels that customers have come to expect, and, despite
the modest, overall increase in pilot revenue, Port Everglades pilots will continue to have among the lowest
pilotage rates in the United States. If a vessel owner chooses to call at a different port, in almost every case, they
will pay more for their pilot.

Our pilots answer not only to ships calling on Port Everglades, but to all the citizens of the State of Florida, and
to its economy and natural resources. We know that the port and the ships it accommodates need to arrive and
depart on time in order to operate profitably. We work tirelessly to accomplish that. But most critically, pilots
have the independence to say “no” to a cruise ship that wants to depart hurriedly in order to please its owner, or
to report a cargo ship that has defective equipment or is discharging waste into the sea.

With that independence comes awesome responsibility and risk. Pilots cannot afford to make a single mistake.

Aspiring pilots leave their well-paid jobs in the maritime industry, go through three years of underpaid and
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arduous training without any certainty of passing the final examination, and subject themselves to liability
because they expect to be well compensated. Sufficient compensation to attract the best and brightest pilots is
the least expensive insurance policy that the State of Florida can obtain to protect the lives of its visitors and
residents, the property of those who do business in this State, the natural environment that deserves our care,
the State’s quality of life and appeal to tourists, and the economic activity that depends on our ports.
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APPLICATION FOR CHANGE OF RATES OF PILOTAGE
PAGE THREE

4. Effective Date of Last Pilotage Rate Change:

June 13, 2003

Pilotage Charges Increased at that time:

Charge From To

Draft (13-foot minimum) $12.91 per draft foot $13.30 per draft foot (14-ft min.)

Tonnage:

For vessels over 80,000 GRT:

a) First 80,000 gt $0.0348 per gt $0.0356 per gt

b) Next 50,000 gt (80,000–130,000 gt) $0.0333 per gt $0.0343 per gt

c) Any additional tonnage $0.0320 per gt $0.0330 per gt

For weekly scheduled ‘feeder-size’ vessels:

Up to 18,000 gt $0.0333 per gt $0.0343 per gt

All other charges remained unchanged.

5. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(a) PILOT

The completed financial statements are attached to this application as Appendices A and B.
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APPLICATION FOR CHANGE OF RATES OF PILOTAGE
PAGE FOUR

(REQUIRED BY PILOT APPLICANT/OPTIONAL BY NON-PILOT APPLICANT):

Number of Vessels Handled During:

Tonnage of Vessels
Handled

Second Preceding
Fiscal Year F/Y/E:

2012

Last Fiscal Year
F/Y/E: 2013

Estimated Current Fiscal
Year F/Y/E: 2014

Projected Next Fiscal
Year F/Y/E: 2015

Less than 500 GRT 23 32 30 30
500 - 1000 GRT 235 239 167 167

1000 - 2000 GRT 172 166 146 146
2000 - 5000 GRT 1580 1485 1493 1493

5000 - 10000 GRT 1400 1303 1421 1421
10000 - 20000 GRT 1067 990 782 782

Over 20000 GRT 2959 3166 3489 3366

Draft of Vessels
Handled

Less than 8 feet 16 14 47 47
8 - 10 feet 383 313 211 211

11 - 15 feet 910 939 952 952
16 - 20 feet 1072 1019 1066 1066
21 - 25 feet 1608 1510 1502 1516
26 - 30 feet 2081 2213 2371 2263
31 - 35 feet 868 858 867 838
Over 35 feet 498 517 512 512

Length (LOA) of
Vessels Handled

Less than 100 feet 27 5 5 5
100 - 250 feet 869 889 906 906
250 - 500 feet 2593 2372 2341 2346
500 - 750 feet 2178 2392 2371 2362
Overt 750 feet 1769 1725 1905 1786
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APPLICATION FOR CHANGE OF RATES OF PILOTAGE PAGE 5

7(a). Comparison of the average net income of pilots in the port, using current rates, including the value of all benefits derived from services as a
pilot, to the projected average net income using the requested rates.1

PRIOR YEAR
(2012)

PRESENT YEAR
(2013)

PROJECTED YEAR
(2014: +5.2%)

PROJECTED YEAR II
(2015: -1.70%)2

Total Number of Pilots 18 17 17 18.5

Gross Pilotage Fees 10,953,151 10,935,160 11,492,537 11,297,190

Operating Expenses 4,767,103 5,047,267 5,524,662 5,589,432

Net Income 6,186,048 5,887,893 5,967,875 5,707,758
Average Net Income
Per Pilot 343,669 346,347 351,051 308,527

PRIOR YEAR PRESENT YEAR PROJECTED YEAR I PROJECTED YEAR II

Other reasonable
operating expenses of
pilots (unaudited):

Average Net Income
Per Pilot 343,669 346,347 351,051 308,527

Items added back (per
pilot) from previous rate
hearings: 3

Corporation Funded
Pension Contribution 7,228 7,228 7,228 7,228

Present Value of Non-
Funded Retirement
Plan

25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

Corporation Major
Medical 26,304 26,505 27,308 28,220

Corporation Life
Insurance 1,440 1,440 1,440 1,440

SUBTOTAL 403,641 406,520 412,027 370,415
Expenses previously
added back, though they
are clearly common and
reasonable expenses in
the maritime industry:

Political Contributions 632 165 0 0
Business Promotion
and Lobbying 4 5,354 4,553 4,353 4,045

ADJUSTED TOTAL
PER PILOT 5 409,627 411,238 416,380 374,260

1 PEP provides these statements based on information from attached audited financial statements.
2 2015 Projected Revenue with 11.2% rate increase applied for ½ year.
3 Items are added though required to be treated as normal business costs. See § 310.151(5)(b)9., Fla. Stat. (2014).
4 Much of this money is used to secure state and federal funding for dredging and other infrastructure improvements, including

development of additional acreage at Port Everglades. Business promotion includes money spent on the minority mentoring program set
forth in Chapter 310, Florida Statutes. The lobbying and other political influence of the cruise and general shipping industry have made our
level of awareness and involvement especially essential.

5 Other reasonable operating expenses of pilots are provided with attached PEP financial statements.
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7(b) Comparison of the average net income of pilots as follows:

(1) 2015 no change in rates; (2) 2015 FCCA rate request of -25% for passenger vessels, applied for only 6 months of year; (3) 2016 projected
with PEP rate request, with rates applied for year 1 and year 2 requested rates; and (4) 2016 projected with FCCA rate request of -25% for
passenger vessels applied for entire year.

No Rate Change

(2015)

FCCA Rate Request

(2015 – 6 months of -

25%)

PEP Rate Request

(2016 Full Year)

FCCA Rate Request

(2016 – Full year -25%)

Total Number of Pilots 18.5 18.5 18 18

Gross Pilotage Fees6 10,715,256 10,006,951 12,279,064 9,112,673

Operating Expenses 5,455,652 5,294,867 6,214,054 5,495,280

Net Income 5,259,604 4,712,084 6,065,010 3,617,393

Average Net Income

Per Pilot
284,303 254,707 336,945 200,966

2015 (No Rate

Change)
FCCA Rate Request

(2015 – 6 mos. -25%)
PEP Rate Request
(2016 Full Year)

FCCA Rate Request
(2016 – Full year -25%)

Other reasonable operating expenses

of pilots (unaudited):

Average Net Income

Per Pilot
284,303 254,707 336,945 200,966

Items added back (per pilot) from

previous rate hearings:
7

Corporation Funded

Pension Contribution
7,228 7,228 7,228 7,228

Present Value of Non-

Funded Retirement

Plan
25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

Corporation Major

Medical
28,220 28,220 28,220 28,220

Corporation Life

Insurance
1,440 1,440 1,440 1,440

SUBTOTAL 346,191 316,595 398,833 262,854

Expenses previously added back,

though they are clearly common and

reasonable expenses in the maritime

industry:

Political Contributions 0 0 0 0

4,045 4,045 4,045 4,045

ADJUSTED TOTAL PER PILOT
8 350,236 320,640 402,878 266,899

6 Gross Pilot fees includes projected revenue from changes in traffic and specific rate request applied.
7 Items are added though required to be treated as normal business costs. See § 310.151(5)(b)9., Fla. Stat. (2014).
8 Other reasonable operating expenses of pilots are provided upon completion of PEP’s financial statements.
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APPLICATION FOR CHANGE OF RATES OF PILOTAGE
PAGE SIX

8. a) Pilotage rates in other ports deemed relevant by the applicant:

An objective way to determine whether pilotage rates are fair, just, and reasonable is to compare the costs to the
customer. A customer who chooses to ship goods through Port Everglades pays less (and after the requested rate
change, will continue to pay less) pilotage per unit of cargo than almost anywhere else in the United States. The
customer will pay less per container, per barrel of petroleum, per ton of bulk cargo, and per passenger at Port
Everglades than at any other port of comparable size.

Port Everglades is the eighth largest container port by TEU (source: Colliers) and the third largest port for passenger
ships (source: FCCA) in the United States. It is also the largest tanker port by volume in the State of Florida,
(source: Port Everglades) and handles among the most product tankers in the United States. Below is a comparison
of other major U.S. ports and major ports within the State of Florida. See Appx. C.

Table 1 - Rate Comparison for Major Florida Ports

Florida Port Rate Min GT Minimum Standard Vessel Fee Large

$/ft Feet $/ton Ton Minimum Medium Large Cruise

Tampa 39.27 12 0.0713 2,600 657 $2,586 $5,135 $10,920

Jacksonville 21.20 15 0.0464 3,000 457 1,856 3,232 7,070

Key West 18.40 12 0.0345 2,000 290 1,260 2,498 5,330

Miami 17.43 14 0.0364 2,500 335 1,280 2,564 5,568

Port Canaveral 12.50 12 0.0280 2,500 220 962 1,940 4,258

Port Everglades (current) 13.30 14 0.0356 2,500 275 1,158 2,373 5,225

Port Everglades (proposed) various 14 0.0356 2,500 341 1,396 2,958 4,969

Average (Mean) $368 $1,500 $2,957 $6,194

Source: Published pilot tariff rate sheets for each port.

Table 2: Rate Comparison for Major United States Ports - 2014 Data
(ranked by large vessel charge)

Port Rate GT SChg Standard Vessel Fee Effective

$/ft $/ton Y/N Small Medium Large Date

Baltimore Time EC Pilot Unit Y $3,057 $8,186 $14,367 1/1/2014

New Orleans 109.33 DWT Y 3,962 6,022 10,301 7/1/2014

New York 0.00 EC Pilot Unit Y 1,399 1,954 7,282 1/1/2014

Arkansas/Corpus Christi 36.61 GC Pilot Unit Y 1,218 1,784 6,926 8/1/2014

San Francisco 10.26 0.09181 Y 876 3,146 6,792 7/1/2014

Columbia River (Portland) 11.44 0.0615 Y 2,843 4,225 6,196 4/15/2014

Houston 74.26 GC Pilot Unit Y 2,241 2,945 6,064 1/1/2014

Galveston 47.18 GC Pilot Unit Y 1,384 3,260 5,860 5/14/2014

Crescent River 62.15 DWT Y 2,607 3,966 6,023 1/1/2014

Tampa 37.27 0.0713 N 633 2,586 5,135 2/1/2010

Puget Sound (Seattle) LOA 0.1042 Y 1,157 2,206 4,994 1/1/2014

Mobile 33.00 0.0550 Y 1,270 2,892 4,827 1/1/2014

Charleston 24.85 0.6100 Y 1,346 2,231 4,335 1/1/2014

Boston * 86.64* 0.0105 Y 1,288 2,450 4,287 1/1/2014

Associated Branch 55.89 DWT Y 1,355 2,056 4,278 7/1/2014

Virginia 31.20 0.0596 N 805 1,075 4,169 10/1/2006

Jacksonville 21.20 0.0464 N 498 1,856 3,232 1/1/2004

Savannah 25.72 0.06126 Y 1,371 2,374 3,160 7/1/2014
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Port Everglades (Proposed) ** 15,22,29,45 0.0356 Y 505 1,396 2,958

Miami 17.433 0.0364 N 405 1,280 2,564 4/1/2002

Port Everglades 13.3 0.0365 N 325 1,158 2,373 6/13/2003

Average (Mean) $1,455 $2,812 $5,530

Standard Vessels Utilized:

Small Vessel LOA 342’, Beam 55’, Depth 26.9’, GRT 2033, DWT 5196, Draft 18’

Medium Vessel LOA 636’, Beam 79’, Depth 26.9’, GRT 23200, DWT 26800, Draft 25’

Large Vessel LOA 965’, Beam 106’, Depth 70.2’, GRT 53208, DWT 67616, Draft 36’

EC Pilot Unit - (LxB)/10,000

GC Pilot Unit

(LxB)/100

* Boston has a graduated rate for Draft Based on Tonnage ranging from $54.57 to $133.09 per draft foot

** Port Everglades(Proposed) - Tiered tonnage $0.0356,$0.0320,$0.0267,$0.0178

Source: Published pilot tariff rate sheets for each port.

Table 3 - Port Comparison for Large Cruise Ship - 2014 Data
(ranked by cost)

Port One-Way Cost

Large Cruise Ship

Mobile $18,499

San Francisco 16,875

Columbia River (Portland) 11,416

Tampa 10,920

Baltimore 10,919

Puget Sound (Seattle) 10,911

Houston 10,058

Savannah 9,347

New Orleans 8,865

Virginia 8,539

Arkansas/Corpus Christi 7,884

Charleston 7,837

New York 7,610

Jacksonville 7,070

Miami 5,568

Key West 5,330

Port Everglades (current) 5,225

Port Everglades (proposed) 4,989

Port Canaveral 4,258

Galveston 3,244

Average (Mean) $8,768

Passenger Vessel Used for Comparison:
Cruise: Navigator of the Seas (LOA 1021’ Beam 127’, Depth 70’, GRT
139570, DWT 9616, Draft 28’)

Notes on Rate Comparison:

 Of the eighteen ports compared outside of Florida, sixteen have surcharges in addition to their
standard rates. This includes charges for transportation, communications, pension plans, pilot
boats, board operations, capital expense, continuing education, pilot training, helicopter transport,
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fuel, and insurance.

 Only one of the eighteen ports outside of Florida had no rate increase in 2014.

 All ports outside of Florida have regular adjustments for inflation, most on an annual basis.

 The following twelve ports have additional charges added to the base pilotage rate for pilot-
assisted docking or for a docking master: Jacksonville, Tampa, Charleston, Savannah, Mobile,
Crescent River, New Orleans-Baton-Rouge, Boston, New York, Delaware River, Maryland, and
Virginia. The service is provided at Port Everglades at no additional charge.

 Few ports on the East or Gulf Coasts cater to as diverse a range of tanker, bulk, passenger,
Ro/Ro, freight and break-bulk, container, barge, and U.S. Navy traffic as Port Everglades. Most
ports serve more concentrated segments of the maritime industry. After the requested rate is in
effect, the pilotage rates at Port Everglades will continue to be lower than those in competing and
comparable Florida and U.S. ports for virtually every category of vessel.

Pension Surcharge:

 The following ports charge all vessels additional fees in order to fund pilot pension plans:
Crescent River, Associated Branch, New Orleans-Baton Rouge, New York, and San Francisco.
This charge is as much as 37% over the pilot rate.

b) (REQUIRED BY PILOT APPLICANT/OPTIONAL BY NON-PILOT APPLICANT)

Time Spent by Applying Pilot Time Spent by Applying Pilot on Other
on Actual Piloting Duty Essential Support Services
(Actual Hours/Year) (Actual Hours/Year)

Time Spent on Actual Piloting Duties.

“Time spent on actual piloting duty includes handle time, transit time to and from the vessel, and administrative time
related to that handle.” ACL Bahamas Ltd., Case No. 10-2335 ¶ 53, approved and adopted, (Fla. PRRC Apr. 18,
2012).

Time spent on actual piloting duty is an estimated 2 hours and 37 minutes. This includes approximately 1.75 hours
of bridge time per vessel. The pilots moved the primary boarding area further offshore to two miles seaward of the
Port Everglades buoy after the tragedy of 9/11, when federal law enforcement agencies requested that the pilots
conduct a security assessment on all inbound vessels, which we continue to do on each and every boarding. The
largest vessels are being boarded as far as three miles offshore when conditions require. The larger vessels require
not only more time to get to the bridge, but more sea room to properly position the vessel for the channel approach.
This has increased our transit time inbound by about 12 minutes. The increased average vessel size has also added
transit time, due to slower transit speeds in the inner channel and intercoastal waterway to avoid adversely affecting
other vessels docked in the port.

The time spent transiting to or from a ship by pilot boat can be greater during rough weather when the pilot boat
cannot safely run at full speed. An idle speed/minimum wake zone in all areas of the port extending to the inner
channel greatly increases the time necessary to get to a ship or return to the dock. Time spent traveling between the
pilot office and the port can be longer during peak traffic hours and on days with multiple passenger ships. On
average, five minutes is spent per ship logging ship information for billing and record keeping purposes.
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The PEP moved 7,383 ships in 2013—an average of 434 movements for each of the port’s seventeen pilots.
Therefore, in 2013, the average pilot’s time spent on actual piloting duty was 1,136 hours. This is among the highest
work levels of piloting groups in the United States for which data are available.

The PEP is a 24-hour-a-day, seven-day-a-week, 365-day-a-year operation. It requires just a one-hour notice for
both inbound and departing vessels—the shortest call requirement of any pilot group in the United States. This
means that all pilots on watch are on call and must be able to reach the port within 35 minutes of being called. Each
pilot is on watch for four weeks straight (no weekends or holidays off) and therefore has 26 weeks of base time on
watch every year. For the first two weeks of the on-watch time, pilots primarily work either the day shift (from
0700 to 1900) or the night shift (from 1900 to 0700); for the latter two weeks, they switch. During the busy cruise-
ship season, and sometimes during the low season as well, a pilot will be called during his twelve hours of “off
time” to pilot an arriving or departing vessel. Because of their unique schedule requirements, it is most often a
cruise ship (they all seek to arrive and depart within the same narrow window of time).

For an additional eight weeks every 17 months, in their off-watch time, a pilot will be one of two “designated
pilots.” The designated pilot is on call to come in if another pilot is injured, sick, or unavailable for another reason,
such as family emergency or attendance to other pilot business matters. This equates to approximately 5.66 weeks
per year of standby time per pilot.

There can also be a need to call in additional pilots during their off-watch time when a foreseeable spike in traffic is
indicated on the schedule. This most often happens on the weekends during the peak of cruise-ship season. This
generally occurs eight to twelve weekends each year and will result in calling in two pilots each, both on Saturday
and Sunday, for a total of 108 additional man hours, which would be 45.5 additional hours per pilot per year (24
days x 2 pilots x 2.25 hours, divided by 17 pilots).

Thus, a pilot at Port Everglades spends a minimum of 2,184 hours on piloting watch duty (26 weeks x 7 days x 12
hours), 475 hours on standby piloting time (5.66 weeks x 7 days x 12 hours), and 45.5 hours on off-watch piloting,
for a yearly total of 2,704 hours.

Time Spent on Other Essential Support Services

Though common in the industry, the PEP does not employ extra personnel to handle dispatching duties. This
essential task is performed by the lead pilot on duty. The extra time and effort that each pilot expends on handling
the dispatching component of the job, rather than hiring additional personnel to do this work, saves a minimum of
four employees working 24 hours a day for 365 days a year, or 515 hours per pilot per year (8,760 hours, divided by
17 pilots).

The managing pilots handle pilot-related administrative and liaison responsibilities. We have two co-managing
pilots, one from each watch, to liaison year-round with consumers, the port, regulatory authorities, and the general
maritime community. This includes attending regular meetings of the PEP, harbor safety committee, and harbor
security committee, as well as meetings with the customers of the port on a regular basis. Some pilot associations
hire full-time business managers, and others remove one of their pilots from piloting duty to perform this essential
service. At Port Everglades, the managing pilots rotate every three years among all the working pilots. The two
managing pilots together fill the role of a full-time pilot representative. This position consumes approximately 31
hours each week, or 1,612 hours each year, or 95 hours per pilot per year.

The pilots have a legal duty to train deputy pilots. See § 310.075, Fla. Stat. (2014); Fla. Admin. Code R. 61G14-
13.001. To comply with this mandate, we have a Deputy Pilot Training Committee, which oversees the deputy pilot
training program. These pilots create, update, and revise the training program approved by the BOPC and supervise
the deputy trainees during their 2.5- to 3-year training programs. They also oversee the progress of the trainees,
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submit volumes of required documentation at each phase of advancement, and submit requests for issuance for
permanent certificates and state licenses to the full group of pilots and the BOPC. The Committee consists of three
pilots. These duties consume five hours per month, for a total of 180 hours annually for the 3-member Committee.

The PEP has a committee of four pilots in charge of continuing education and training. This committee researches
training facilities and programs and determines the training syllabus for all pilots. It meets once in each 28-day cycle
for four hours, for a total of 208 hours (4 pilots x 4 hours x 13 meetings annually).

The following are examples of training in which the Port Everglades pilots participate: Advanced ECDIS for Pilots,
Advanced AZIPOD Training, Bridge Resource Management for Pilots, Emergency Shiphandling, ship-specific
training for new classes of vessels (e.g., Oasis and Allure of the Seas), and manned-model shiphandling courses.
Classes can be as short as one day and as long as one week. Training is conducted during a pilot’s off-watch time.

The Port Everglades pilots are involved in many aspects of the piloting profession. Two pilots are members of the
BOPC. Three pilots are members of the board of directors of the statewide pilot organization—the Florida Harbor
Pilots Association (the “FHPA”). One is the vice president of the FHPA. Meetings for both groups require pilots
to attend in their off time, or require the standby “designated pilot” to be called in to cover for those individuals.

Three of the Port Everglades pilots have taken regular rotations in Kuwait supporting America’s war on terror as
part of the Naval Reserve. This has necessitated other pilots being called in to perform their piloting duties during
the time that pilots were serving overseas.

One pilot is responsible for the administration of the watch rotation for the year, as well as the scheduling of the
designated-pilot roster. This task requires about two hours per month to prepare the monthly schedules, as well as
about four hours per year for major adjustments and review. This amounts to a total of 28 hours per year (2 hours x
12 months + 4 hours).

The daily operations of the business are also handled by pilots rather than outside managers. The pilots have eight
full time, non-pilot employees to assist with this operation year-round. This includes two office staff and six
USCG-licensed boat captains. Management of a corporation of this size would reasonably require at least two full-
time executive employees to handle administrative tasks such as supervision of boat, dock, and building-
maintenance staff, medical and dental insurance program administration, USCG-approved drug testing and reporting
and administering, pension-plan administration, legal and banking oversight, and other human resources tasks (e.g.,
workers’ compensation), new construction boat building program, fuel purchasing and consumption oversight, EPA
compliance, radio gear (both mobile and base), and purchasing and procurement. About half of the tasks the pilots
perform as executive managers occur when pilots are on standby duty; the balance occurs during off-duty cycles.
Since two outside executive employees would work 40 hours per week for a minimum of 48 weeks per year, each of
the seventeen pilots devotes an average of at least 225 hours per year to these tasks.

Additional Relevant Information (Required by Pilot Applicant/Optional by Non-Pilot Applicant):

The Average Number of Jobs per Day

The average Port Everglades pilot performs more jobs per day—approximately 2.5—than the average pilot of any
of the 23 pilot organizations analyzed by Dibner Maritime Associates (“DMA”). The PEP are this productive
because the route they serve is relatively short (despite sharp turns and the increased distances that pilots must travel
to and from the embarkation points for larger vessels and the turn-arounds and navigation to Southport). Their
productivity is also enhanced by the fact that a substantial portion of the trade are tankers, tank tug-barge units, and
dry bulk that are more likely than containerships to arrive at all hours because the terminals at which they call can



20

operated around-the-clock with a small number of personnel. By contrast, containerships tend to prefer early
arrivals so that they can be docked, cleared by customs, and ready to handle cargo with a first shift.

DMA’s latest analysis of the average number of jobs per pilot per day is below. It is based on the number of jobs
performed and the number of days per year that a pilot is on watch and available for duty—typically 182.5 days on
a pure day-on/day-off arrangement, or 168.5 days if the pilot organization provides vacation time and coverage for
illness. Port Everglades and Port Miami are 182.5-day on-watch organizations. Other than Brazos/Freeport, Texas,
none of the other pilot associations analyzed performs more than 2.08 jobs per day. The weighted average is 1.09.

Average Jobs Per Day Per Pilot
Port Jobs/Day
Port Everglades FL 2.53
Brazos/Freeport TX 2.44
Miami FL 2.32
Long Beach CA 2.08
Los Angeles CA 1.99
Savannah GA 1.73
Sabine River / Bar TX 1.57
Mobile AL 1.49
Corpus Christi / Ingleside TX 1.44
Assoc. Branch Mississippi LA 1.42
Jacksonville / St. Johns FL 1.24
Charleston SC 1.23
Pascagoula MS 1.21
Weighted Average 1.09
Lake Charles LA 1.06
Columbia River WA/OR 1.01
Crescent – Mississippi River LA 0.98
Houston TX 0.93
Puget Sound WA 0.89
New Orleans / Baton Rouge / Mississippi River LA 0.64
Columbia River Bar WA/OR 0.38

The number of jobs is largely a function of the distance travelled and the speed at which ships can safely be piloted.
The long trips on the Lower Mississippi River and the Houston Ship Channel, for example, require greater times,
thus limiting pilots to one trip per day, with pilots held in reserve to meet variations in the numbers of ships moving
each day. For this reason, some pilots perform less than one trip per day in the normal course of on-watch duties.

One consequence of the high number of pilot jobs at Port Everglades is that these pilots have more movements
between ship and shore by pilot boat or automobile. This adds more “set up” time per day, even though the trips by
pilot boat and automobile may be somewhat shorter in length. This can bear on the total task time, which consists of
bridge time and other task time (largely transportation, moving aboard ships to and from the bridge, waiting for
boats and automobiles, and margins of time to assure on-time arrival).

Because Port Everglades pilots perform approximately 2.5 jobs per day, they have the challenge of maintaining
their sleep cycles during their week on duty. Rather than move to the bottom of the roll of on-duty pilots in order to
rest, a Port Everglades pilot is better served and better rested by a fairly swift day that entails an average of two or
three jobs in fairly quick succession, and then going home to rest when they are tired and used to sleeping. Given
that the average assignment will take 2.6 hours, their daily task time is between 5.2 and 7.8 hours, net of waiting
time between jobs. Thus, the work-day is intensive, with little time to eat, relax, or recompose.

At ports with longer basic inbound or outbound trips (say, 3 or 4 hours), a pilot might be able to perform that
assignment and a shorter job, such as a movement within the harbor, from anchorage to berth, berth to anchorage,
or berth to berth. This fills in the working day without extending it in a manner that disrupts the sleep cycle.
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Like many ports, Port Everglades experiences periods of peak activity that require more pilots at some times and
fewer at other times of the day. Containerships often prefer to arrive in the pre-dawn hours in order to be moored,
cleared by customs, and prepared for the first shift of longshore and stevedoring gangs to promptly begin work at
lower labor rates. Many cruise ships also prefer to call at ports in the morning to discharge passengers completing a
voyage and embark passengers beginning a voyage. This can create a major morning surge of pilot activity over a
few hours. By contrast, tankers and bulk carriers tend to be able to load and discharge cargoes at any time of day.

Trends in Pilot Compensation Over Time

Background

The PEP provides ship-piloting services in a manner similar to the vast majority of pilots in the United States: they
operate as a distinct association, serve a specific geography, are under the oversight of a statewide or port area
commission or port authority, and are subject to selection and performance review of a commission and, in the event
of a significant incident, investigation by the U.S. Coast Guard and the National Transportation Safety Board. The
pilots are accepted, trained, and appointed by a process that involves examinations to be trained, deputized, and
formally appointed. Pilots are subject to injury and even death (most typically in transfers between ship and pilot
vessels), and these incidents can end careers. By the same token, more than 1,200 state-commissioned pilots in the
United States handle more than 300,000 ship sailings and arrivals each year, with very few incidents caused by
pilots.

Indeed, in more than 83 years of PEP operations, not a single drop of petroleum has been spilled in what is the
largest single petroleum product receiving port on the Atlantic Coast of the United States, and no loss of life or
major incident has occurred in a port that has handled more than 90,000 ship movements during the most recent
decade.

Compensation and Inflation

Compensation must rise at least with inflation in order even marginally to preserve buying power. The Consumer
Price Index (“CPI”) in the United States and related CPI’s for regions of the nation are critical metrics carefully
prepared by the federal government. Between 2000, when PEP’s current tariff process was applied for, and the
present time, the Miami-Fort Lauderdale CPI has increased by 45%. With no rate increase since that tariff
adjustment, the buying power of the pilots’ compensation has been significantly eroded.

The selection of persons to be candidates for pilot training and progression to deputy pilots and then full pilots
is based on examinations, education, maritime work experience, physical condition, and dedication to the demands
of a distinctive profession. No other maritime profession requires ship masters of the cargo vessels that form more
than 99% of the world’s fleet of seagoing ships to perform what pilots perform. Ship masters generally depend upon
pilots and their ship-handling expertise, experience, knowledge, and skill to navigate in channels, turn ships, and
berth and unberth in locations where the risks of collision or allision (striking fixed objects) is high.

To attract well-qualified pilots to the profession and to Port Everglades, and to keep them at Port Everglades,
competitive net income is essential. If sufficient net income is not provided, the upper echelons of candidates and
younger pilots with mobility will apply for positions at other ports, remain in the shipping industry as ascending
officers, take shore management jobs in the maritime industry, or rely on their education outside the industry.

According to data made available by Clarksons Shipping’s research division, in early 2014 there were 463 cruise
ships in the world and 88,359 seagoing ships over 100 gross tons. Cruise ships represent 0.35% of the world fleet—
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about one-third of one percent. Cruise shipping constitutes a significant portion of ship calls in Port Everglades,
Miami, and Port Canaveral, but that is anomalous.

Trends in State Pilot Compensation in the United States

Between 2000 and 2014, the average net income of pilots at Port Everglades increased in current dollars as ship
traffic and the 2002 rate increase took effect. The volatility in net income is due largely to variations in the number
of day cruise vessel operations, which appeared, peaked, ceased, and was recently replaced in part by a smaller high
speed ferry/vehicle service to Freeport. The peak income during 2004 can be largely attributed to a lag between a
rapid increase in passenger vessel business and the length of time necessary to appoint and train deputy pilots to
meet the demonstrated business need. It is compounded by the failure to complete the training of one deputy pilot.
In the period from 2004 to 2008, the number of pilots increased from 16 to 20.

Exhibit 1

In real terms, PEP pilot net revenue actually declined, as shown by the red line below, which tracks the impact of
inflation on the buying power available to pilots. PEP purchasing power of about $280,000 in 2000 declined to
about $240,000 in 2014.

Exhibit 2



23

To keep pace with the inflation, PEP income would have had to increase as shown in Exhibit 3 below. Beginning
in 2001, rates would have had to rise gradually to just above $ 400,000 for 2014—simply to maintain purchasing
power in the Miami-Fort Lauderdale area.

Exhibit 3

Beginning in the late 1990’s, the State of Louisiana Pilot Fee Commission (which set the rates and compensation of
four pilot organizations with more than 300 full pilot positions in force or applied for) developed the Automatic
Tariff Rate Adjustment Mechanism (“ATRAM”). ATRAM is a mechanism to annually adjust fair and reasonable
operating costs (other than net income) on a lagging basis based upon prior-year audited financials.

The ATRAM process also established a minimum level of compensation based upon the average rate of CPI
increases for the prior five years. Only when average pilot compensation in an organization fell below this net
income figure would the Commission consider adjusting tariffs to bring average pilot net income up to the minimum
compensation level. In more than ten years since full implementation of ATRAM, adjustments have not been
necessary because traffic, revenues, and adjustments to the number of pilots have been adequate.

Exhibit 4 shows that the required net income for PEP closely tracks Louisiana’s ATRAM minimum. Had the PEP’s
purchasing power been adjusted in line with the CPI, it would have been close to this mechanism and the net income
of more than 300 pilots in Louisiana.
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Exhibit 4

Exhibit 5 shows that the trend of an increasing set of pilot organizations from Charleston, South Carolina, to the
Puget Sound in Washington State closely followed the ATRAM net-income floor: by 2014, the average net income
was approximately $407,000.

Exhibit 5

During this same time frame, DMA’s analysis of pilot organization net income, pilot staffing, and related metrics
has broadened and deepened from the few pilot incomes roughly disclosed around 2002 and the PEP rate case at
that time. DMA has more than 12 years of experience, which now encompasses 23 pilot organizations from
Savannah, Georgia, to Hawaii and Puget Sound. These organizations comprise more than 760 pilots.

The slight decline in pilot net income that has occurred since 2010 reflects several forces that are not shipping- or
compensation-controlled. These include the following:

 The substantial increase in U.S. and Canadian crude oil has reduced imports of crude oil into the Gulf,
reducing inbound crude oil tankers and imports. This reduction has only partially been offset by increased
volumes of the exported petroleum products and domestic U.S.-flag tankers and large tug-barge units.
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 The Great Recession and its impacts have moderated demand for a wide range of raw, semi-finished, and
finished goods.

 Fewer large ships in some types of trade (notably the container trade) have reduced the numbers of calls.
 The appearance of wider ships has reduced the numbers and drafts of some dry bulk carriers, tankers, and

containerships.
 The peaking of U.S. petroleum product consumption has moderated tanker shipments and deliveries.

As the growth of U.S. crude production moderates and U.S. exports of liquefied natural gas, petroleum gas (ethane,
ethylene, and propane/butane) begin, pilots in some ports will experience growth once again. Pilot organizations
will continue to adjust the numbers of pilots to meet workloads, while assuring that they have the capacity to meet
demand fluctuations.

The underlying shipping charts convey a critical message:

 Pilot compensation in ports other than Port Everglades has generally increased in line with the CPI.
 The PEP have earned less than their peer average and have experienced declining buying power.
 The cruise industry, with one-third of one percent of the world’s merchant fleet, has been afforded

disproportionate power to disrupt the compensation of professionals in a manner that is at odds with the
treatment of pilots outside of Florida, and which jeopardizes public safety and the interests of the State.
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APPLICATION FOR CHANGE OF RATES OF PILOTAGE
PAGE SEVEN

c) Prevailing Rate of Compensation of Individuals in Other Maritime Services of Comparable Professional Skills (If deemed relevant by the
Applicant)

Classification of Maritime Services Rates of Compensation (per/year)

The professional skills and role of the licensed state pilot within the regulatory structure of the State of Florida are
unique, and pilots cannot reasonably be compared to any other single maritime professional. Pilots function as
components of an independent small-business enterprise, bearing responsibility to provide the infrastructure and
support services that make the practice of their profession possible. The most accurate way to determine a rate of
compensation in other maritime services of comparable professional skills is to compare the income of pilots in
ports around the United States that compete for the same talent from the same small pool of qualified candidates.

At the Biscayne Bay hearing in July 2014, Captain George Quick testified that average pilot compensation in the
United States is between $400,000 and $430,000. This number does not include all of the pilots’ benefits. Income
in this range is supported by the Louisiana Public Service Commission and independent consultant, DMA.

Every Port Everglades pilot is a graduate of one of the State or Federal Maritime Academies. Several have advanced
educational degrees, such as MBAs, JDs, and an MA in International Relations. All of them had other opportunities
both ashore and afloat but elected to pursue careers as pilots. Piloting is considered to be the pinnacle of the
maritime profession. It is the final stage to which a deck officer can advance after spending years going to sea. For
that reason, and to motivate a captain to abandon his seagoing career, or a senior deck officer to make the sacrifices
and effort to become a pilot, pilot compensation has historically been significantly higher than that of a sea-going
master. This high level of compensation meets the legislative objective to “attract to the profession of piloting, and
to hold the best and most qualified individuals as pilots.” § 310.151(5)(b)6., Fla. Stat. (2014). While at past
hearings we have offered alternative career paths of maritime graduates as comparable maritime professions, the
most direct and accurate comparison is to pilots in other U.S. ports.

Every pilot and deputy pilot in Port Everglades had a USCG Unlimited Tonnage Master’s license prior to entry into
the Deputy Pilot Training Program. At Port Everglades, this is the entry level credential. Section 310.151(5)(b)6.,
Florida Statutes, sets the wage rate for comparable professions as the floor compensation level. See also ACL
Bahamas Ltd., Case No. 10-2335 ¶ 57. Currently, the wage rate for a master working 182 ½ days per year is
$304,066. (Source: Master’s, Mates & Pilots.) This is 49.8% higher than in 1996 (Investigative Report – PEV
2001, C-9) and closely matches the CPI over the same period.

Unlike the pay of Masters, the pay of PEP has not kept pace with inflation. In 1990, pilot income was $358,000. In
1998, the BOPC targeted income at $368,000, following extensive litigation all the way to the Florida Supreme
Court. Adjusted for inflation, this target for 2013 would be $533,600. Pilot income remains well below the
inflation-adjusted target set as a reasonable level by the BOPC and affirmed by the Court. Compensation at this
level would put Port Everglades exactly where it used to be 16 years ago in relation to other ports around the
country; above the national average but far from the highest paid. That compensation level proved sufficient to
attract enough qualified candidates, including minorities, unlike the current situation in Port Everglades. The
income shown for 2013 in Section 7 of this application remains below the level achieved 23 years earlier in both
nominal and real terms.

Over many rate hearings, the FCCA has suggested a number of professions for comparison, including firemen,
construction workers, air-traffic controllers, and foreign cruise ship officers. None of these positions has the
necessary experience, skills, or credentials to be sought as pilots, and therefore none meets the statutory criteria. The
FCCA rate reduction would reduce individual pilot compensation below the legally mandated “floor” for pilot
compensation. ACL Bahamas Ltd., Case No. 10-2335 ¶ 56. On this basis alone, its rate request must be rejected.
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APPLICATION FOR CHANGE OF RATES OF PILOTAGE
PAGE EIGHT

Pilotage Charge
Item

Present Charge
as of:

06/13/2003

Actual
Revenue for 12

Months
Preceding

Application

Requested Charge

Revenue Based
on Requested

Charge, as
Applied to

Actual Activity
of Preceding 12

Months

Increased
Revenue, Based

on Requested
Charge Applied
to Preceding 12

Months

Percentage of
Increased

Revenue on
Preceding 12

Months Activity

DRAFT
CHARGES:
Per Foot . . . .
Minimum to feet

$13.30
14’ $2,344,826

0 to 20’: $18.00

21’ to 30’: $22.00

31’ to 40’: $29.00

41’ to 50’: $45.00

$3,998,996 $1,645,670 +70.2%

TONNAGE
CHARGES:
Per Gross
Registered Ton
Minimum GRT
Maximum GRT

$0.0356

$0.0343

$0.0330

2,500 gt min

$8,424,894

$0.0356 (NC)*

$0.0320

$0.0267

$0.0178

$7,825,378 ($599,516) -7.1%

DOCKING/
UNDOCKING:
All Vessels . . .

None
Charged

$0
None

Requested
$0 $0 0.0%

SHIFTING:
All Vessels . . .
Vessels without
steering/motive
power . . . .
Minimum . . . .
In Zones:
(grouped together)

$300 $162,040 $330 $178,244 $17,244 +10.0%

OTHER
CHARGES:

Deputy Trainee

Anchor

Cancel/Detention

Running Lines

Pilot Boat

USCG Deviation

None Charged

$300

$100

$100

$200

None Charged

$0

$1500

$800

$0

$800

$0

$20 per move

$400

$150

$300

None Requested

2 x Pilotage

$150,000

$2,000

$1,200

$0

$0

$0

$150,000

$500

$400

$0

$0

$0

New Charge

+30.3%

+50.0%

+ 0.0%

+0.0%

+0.0%

Overall: $10,934,860 $12,155,818 +11.2%
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APPLICATION FOR CHANGE OF RATES OF PILOTAGE
PAGE NINE

10. Detailed explanation of special characteristics, dangers and risks of the port for which the rate change is being requested:

Lengths of Various “Pilotage Waters” Channels: (Include “Average Length” of Pilotage Trip and estimated time to complete pilotage “dock to
dock”.)

Lengths: Pilot Boarding Area to Sea Buoy 2+ Miles
Sea Buoy to Turning Basin 2 Miles
ICW to Southport Berth 33 1.5 Miles
Dania Cut-Off Canal 1.5 Miles
(Average estimated time to complete pilotage: 1.5 Hours)

Widths of Various “Pilotage Waters” Channels:

Widths: Main Outer Channel = 500’ (narrows to 450’ near jetties and into Turning Basin)

ICW Southward to Dania Cut-Off Canal = 400’

Dania Cut-Off Canal to: (a) Port Dania = 60’ (b) West Basin = 50’

Depths of Various “Pilotage Waters” Channels:

Project Depths: Main Ship Channel to: (a) Jetties = 45’ (b) Inner-Bar Cut = 42’

Main Turning Basin = 42’

North Extension of Basin = 31’

South Extension of Basin = 36’

ICW to Dania Cut-Off Canal = 42’

Turning Notch = 42’

Dania Cut-Off Canal to West Basin = 12’

List of Unusual Hazards to Navigation:

Strong, unpredictable cross currents interacting with tidal currents in the outer channel. Strong tidal currents
prevail in the inner channel, ICW, and the turning basin, especially when excess water is released through the
canals of the South Florida Water Control District. The rocky sides and bottom of the channel and turning basin
will cause extensive damage and possible pollution if touched by ships or barges. There are three converging
waterways with a sharp 105-degree turn of a narrow, rock lined channel. We are by-passing extremely large
passenger ships with very large, deep-draft containerships in a channel that is only 60% of the width that the
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (“ACOE”) would design today for the same vessels. We are docking deeply
loaded tankers in occupied slips that are less than 60% the width of that which the port’s Master Plan engineers
have designed for the very same vessels. Very high level of recreational boat traffic, many with unskilled
operators. There are protected, pristine corals in the approaches to and lining the sides of the ship channel.
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List “Weather-related” Hazards to Navigation:

Northeasters increase the strength and unpredictability of cross currents in the outer channel. Southeasters will
greatly increase the difficulty of handling deep-draft vessels, especially during flood tides. Inland heavy rains
increase the strength of ebb tides, both through run off and Flood Control, particularly increasing the degree of
difficulty in Port Dania, Southport, and the Turning Notch, and when handling loaded tankers in the slips.
Heavy swell conditions may restrict or prohibit transit of deeply laden vessels crossing the outer bar. Strong
wind-driven flood current has a tendency to work on the stern of deeply loaded vessels to turn them crossways in
the main ship channel.

List any limitations imposed by Association as to drafts, lengths, tonnages, beams, types, etc., of vessels handled within port’s pilotage waters
and provide reasons for same:

See Appendix D for Harbor Safety Agreement, Berth Draft Restrictions, Letters of Guidance, Limitation, and
Restriction.

Other Relevant Information

See Appendix E for Final Report of the U.S. Coast Guard’s Ports and Waterways Safety Assessment
(“PAWSA”). The report, which is discussed more fully below, confirms that Port Everglades is one of the most
challenging and dangerous ports in the nation.
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APPLICATION FOR CHANGE OF RATES OF PILOTAGE
PAGE TEN

11. Detailed statement explaining how the requested rate change will result in fair, just and reasonable rates, taking into consideration the public interest in
promoting and maintaining efficient, reliable, and safe piloting services and further taking into consideration the factors set forth in Section 310.151(5)(b),
Florida Statutes.

1. The public interest in having qualified pilots available to respond promptly to vessels needing their service.

Eleven years without a change in rates has resulted in a serious erosion in PEP compensation and buying power.
During the same period, operating expenses have increased. Pilot boats are essential for prompt service to ships,
but they are costly and continually in need of repair and upgrades. Continued stagnation in pilot buying power—not
to mention a punitive, irrational reduction in rates sought by the FCCA—would lead to difficult choices to delay
pilot boat repairs or forego new purchases. Equipment failure will surely follow, and pilots will not be available to
respond as promptly. And, as discussed in Section 11(7) of this application, there is an equally disturbing shortage
of new, well-qualified pilots able to replace the pilots who will retire soon.

The public interest in securing qualified pilots available to respond promptly to vessels cannot be stronger. A single
error by a port pilot can have disastrous consequences. Indeed, pilots cannot make mistakes; one mistake would be
too many. A single error can jeopardize thousands of lives, billions of dollars of property, an irreplaceable
environment, the State’s tourism and economy, and the supply of basic necessities to large metropolitan areas. With
its large population centers, heavy reliance on tourism, and unique environment, perhaps no State depends so much
on the skill and expertise of pilots as Florida.

In South Florida, a single grounding that blocks Port Everglades would spell disaster. Port Everglades supplies
95% of all petroleum products to twelve counties in South Florida, including gas to gas stations and aviation fuel to
three airports. South Florida has an estimated 72-hour supply of these products. After 72 hours, the tank farms
would begin to run dry, and South Florida would come to a standstill.

Similarly, South Florida is home to the Great Florida Reef—the only living coral barrier reef in the continental
United States. An oil spill caused by the port’s narrow channels, or its unforgiving limestone bottom, would
devastate South Florida’s pristine ecosystem, as well as its tourism industry. In 2013, 13 million tourists spent $10
billion in Broward County. A spill would tarnish the white sandy beaches and bring tourism to a complete standstill.

There is no room for error, and the policy of the State is to ensure, through competent rewards, that these interests
are entrusted to the best and brightest. Even an error rate of 1% would translate to approximately 70 incidents at
Port Everglades every year. Such incidents have not occurred—not because pilotage is easy and the profession
unnecessary, but because Florida has taken the necessary steps to attract capable and skillful pilots. The risk of an
incident is never remote, and the successful performance of Florida’s port pilots should not suggest that the hazards
are minimal, that skilled pilot candidates are plentiful, or that deep rate reductions will not decrease the availability
of top-notch pilots and thus increase the risk of error. The State cannot risk mediocrity in its piloting services.

It is only because Florida’s pilots perform an arduous service so flawlessly, and overcome the shifting challenges
of pilotage so masterfully, that the FCCA can even pretend that there must be no need for pilot services. The
Legislature knows better. It recognized that “the waters, harbors, and ports of the state are important resources” and
found it “necessary in the interest of public health, safety, and welfare to provide laws regulating the piloting of
vessels utilizing the navigable waters of the state in order that such resources, the environment, life, and property
may be protected to the fullest extent possible.” § 310.001, Fla. Stat. (2014). In fact, the Legislature deemed
piloting “an essential service of such paramount importance that its continued existence must be secured by the
state” rather than “left open to market forces.” Id. § 310.0015(1). Because port pilots provide services “essential to
the economy and the public welfare,” the State enacted a system of regulations to ensure a supply of eminently
qualified pilots. Id. § 310.0015(2); see also In Re: Application of Port Everglades Pilots Ass’n for Rate Increase in
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Port Everglades, 1998 WL 866445, at *6 (“Thus the Board views its primary duty as being to set rates that
will guarantee the continuation of services provided by pilots at the high degree of professionalism and quality.”).

2. A determination of the average net income of pilots in the port, including the value of all benefits derived from service as a pilot.

Detailed information regarding average pilot net income is provide with our audited financial statements in
Appendix A and summarized in Section 7 of this application.

3. Reasonable operating expenses of pilots.

Detailed information regarding the operating expenses of PEP are provided with our audited financial statements in
Appendix A. Summary information is provided in Section 7 of this application.

4. Pilotage rates in other ports.

The prevailing rates of pilotage in other ports are shown in Section 8(a). The rate as proposed will redistribute some
of the revenue from the tonnage charge to the draft charge and extend lower tonnage rates to larger vessels and
frequent callers. The rate resulting from our request will continue to be among the lowest at any major port in the
United States, and port users will continue to pay less for quality pilotage than at other major ports. In fact, the
resulting rate will be half of the national average. The addition of surcharges spreads the costs of certain items
evenly across all vessels, while special tonnage rates made available after a vessel’s second call at Port Everglades,
together with a reasonable increase in draft rates, will recalibrate rates in a manner that is fair and equitable.

Even if one were to disregard all of the evidence showing the hazardous nature of Port Everglades, and assume that
less distance is the only factor to be considered, with the new rate, users of pilot services would still pay less than in
most of the ports in the nation. The cruise ship companies will pay less for what they deem to be less and the pilots
will still make less than the national average of pilot income. To pursue anything lower, as the FCCA does, is a
clear sign of a targeted attack against the piloting profession in general and the Port Everglades Pilots in particular.

5. The amount of time each pilot spends on actual piloting duty and the amount of time spent on other essential support services.

The amount of time each pilot spends on actual piloting duty and on other essential support services is discussed
in Section 8(b) of this application. The Port Everglades Pilots’ time spent on pilotage duty is above the national
average and the number of jobs per day is the highest of any major port in the United States.

6. The prevailing compensation available to individuals in other maritime services of comparable professional skill and standing as that sought in
pilots.

The prevailing compensation of other maritime services that may be considered comparable to those provided by
pilots is summarized in Section 8(c). Notably, some of our pilots, in addition to being licensed Master Mariners,
hold advanced degrees, including MBAs, JDs, and MAs. Port Everglades competes directly with other ports around
the United States for the same talent. Every pilot currently at Port Everglades was recruited from somewhere
outside the State of Florida. Furthermore, all pilots were Masters prior to entering the training program. They
relocated to take their positions and chose to be pilots at Port Everglades over many other opportunities. Since
2001, compensation relative to other ports has fallen, and so has interest in a career as a Port Everglades Pilot. As
discussed in Section 11(7), we have had increasing difficulty attracting the highest scoring deputy pilot candidates
in some previous examinations when those candidates have had the opportunity to choose between Port Everglades
and other ports. To attract the best and brightest, it is crucial that we stem the declining level of income.

While the FCCA points to the salaries of cruise vessel captains as evidence of an appropriate compensation for port
pilots, this is not a suitable comparable for numerous reasons. First, foreign crew of foreign-flagged vessels do not
pay U.S. income taxes. Most European nations have tax codes that allow mariners to pay minimal or zero income
tax if they spend more than six months a year outside of their home countries, greatly increasing their disposable
income. Captains and crew take strategic “vacations” to make sure they do not exceed that six-month period in
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their home countries. As a matter of fact, many have alternative residences in the United States, and South Florida
in particular. Second, foreign-flagged captains are not the pool from which the State of Florida is attempting to
attract pilots. They are ineligible. While a U.S. citizen can become a foreign-flagged captain, it is rare because of
the significantly lower level of compensation compared to working in the U.S. merchant fleet.

The final reason a comparison cannot be made is that a pilot must have a wider range of technical skills to handle
the different vessels that call on the port, with their different sizes and operational and handling characteristics. See
In Re: Application of Port Everglades Pilots Ass’n for Rate Increase in Port Everglades, 1998 WL 866445, at *13
n.21 (concluding that pilots possess a “qualitatively different level of skills” from a ship master “as a result of the
local pilots’ specialized knowledge and standards for licensure”). A pilot must board and disembark vessels in good
weather and bad, at day and at night, and thus assumes greater physical risks than a captain who navigates a vessel
on the open seas. A pilot operates under constant stress, as the handling of a vessel in and around a port, where
groundings and collisions are most likely to occur, is the riskiest part of the vessel’s journey. See ACL Bahamas
Ltd., Case No. 10-2335 ¶ 6 (“[T]he most dangerous part of any sea voyage for the ship and for the public at large is
when the ship is moving into or out of port.”). And, while a ship captain is a salaried employee, a pilot is a private
businessperson who assumes the risks and rewards of a fluctuating market, including more extensive risks of civil
and criminal liability, and makes large capital investments (a single pilot boat at a major port might cost $1.2 to $2
million, see id. ¶ 45). See In Re: Application of Port Everglades Pilots Ass’n for Rate Increase in Port Everglades,
1998 WL 866445, at *10 (noting that pilots are “independent business people” subject to “a capital risk that
employees are not subject to”). Thus, a pilot can be held liable for negligence in the operation of a vessel, see
Bethlehem Steel Corp. v. Yates, 438 F.2d 798 (5th Cir. 1971); Tampa Port Auth. v. M/V Duchess, 65 F. Supp. 2d
1279, 1291 (M.D. Fla. 1997), and is directly responsible to the State, which can take action against his or her
license, see Lerro v. Dep’t of Prof’l Regulation, 388 So. 2d 47 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980). The FCCA claims that it failed
to uncover any recent instance of a pilot being held liable; this fact testifies to the skill with which pilots have
handled vessels, and does not suggest that pilots cannot be subject to crushing liability upon the occurrence of a
single negligent act. If this suggests anything, it is that the system is working. Judgment is being rendered and
decisions are being made on the side of safety, rather than allowing undue influence by economic pressures.

7. The impact rate change may have in individual pilot compensation and whether such change will lead to a shortage of licensed state pilots,
certificated deputy pilots, or qualified pilot applicants.

The State must continue to provide sufficient incentives to entice the best and brightest mariners—mariners with
years of experience—to the piloting profession. The barriers to the profession are steep. Candidates are expected to
abandon their existing employment; to study hundreds of hours for an examination that merely qualifies the chosen
candidate to become a deputy pilot; to enter a 3-year training program that requires at least 3,250 transits; to take a
rigorous final examination if the deputy completes the training program; and then, if successful, to enter into
business as an independent contractor, with its array of risks, liabilities, and capital investments, and not only
expose his or her own life and well-being to the physical dangers of pilotage, but to assume daily responsibility for
the lives, property, and welfare of Florida’s visitors and residents. Against these obstacles, and to attract the best
and brightest mariners, the State must provide—as it has done for years—incentives that are real and compelling.

It is not easy to motivate the most desirable mariners to abandon their employments in order to attempt to become
port pilots. A qualified mariner might have ten or twelve years of experience as a master or chief mate and might, in
his or her current employment, have earned valuable pension benefits. On the other hand, not only is a new career
uncertain—the candidate might never complete the training course or pass the final examination years later—but a
pilot encounters various risks unique to the profession. First, a pilot is subject to constant physical dangers in
embarking and disembarking from vessels in all weather conditions, at any time of day or night. See In Re:
Application of Port Everglades Pilots Ass’n for Rate Increase in Port Everglades, 1998 WL 866445, at *5. In
2013, Captain Frank Knowles, a pilot in Panama City, fell from a ladder at night; the darkness prevented his rescue.
And, as a contractor and self-employed business person, rather than a salaried employee, a pilot must make
substantial capital investments and is uniquely exposed to civil liability. See ACL Bahamas Ltd., Case No. 10-2335
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¶ 61. Additionally, there is ever increasing criminal liability as our prosecutorial system has become relentless in its
determination to administer punishment to anyone involved in a shipping transportation-related incident.

The State, moreover, must attract pilots with a unique combination of skills. Of course, a pilot must maneuver large
vessels. But a pilot must also learn every facet of the port, including the changing variables affecting safe transit,
such as weather patterns, tidal movements, and the speed and direction of currents. Id. ¶¶ 7, 10, 29. A pilot must
adapt to a variety of ships and become familiar with each ship’s equipment, mechanical condition, and performance
characteristics. Id. ¶ 58 (“While background as a master or mate is useful, a pilot must possess superior close-
quarter ship handling skills and the ability to handle a wide variety of vessels.”). On foreign vessels, a pilot must
coordinate with foreign crews that might speak little English. It is simple common sense that the best qualified
mariners will expect to be well compensated for the trials and challenges that a career in piloting imposes.

At the same time, the pool of qualified mariners is small—a little over 2,000. Id. ¶ 62. Ports in Florida and across
the country compete for the best talent. Id. The pool is small and shrinking, in part because of the decreasing size
of the U.S. Merchant Marine over the past decade and a corresponding lack of seagoing positions available to gain
the required experience as a result of the shift of U.S. vessels, such as the cruise lines, to flags of convenience to
escape domestic taxes and regulations. Historically, an opening at a large port might have attracted 30 or more
applicants. Id. ¶ 63. In recent years, the number has been much smaller. Twelve tested for two openings in Port
Everglades. Eight candidates tested for three openings in Miami, and eleven sat for two openings at Jacksonville.
Id. In 2014, only one candidate tested for an opening at in Panama City, and failed. Positions in Fernandina Beach
and St. Andrews Bay have gone unfilled with no successful candidates out of the deputy examination. One pilot
quit St. Andrews Bay to take a position at a higher paying port. These ports are among the lowest paid ports in the
State and reveal an obvious relationship: to attract the best and brightest pilots, the compensation structure must be
competitive.

The diminished supply of qualified candidates coincides with a need for additional pilots. Between now and 2020,
eight pilots at Port Everglades will be eligible for retirement and will need to be replaced by deputy pilots. All of
these pilots were taken on during the expansion of traffic between 1990 and 1996, when the PEP increased from
eight to sixteen pilots. This replacement will occur when interest in the piloting profession in Florida is
plummeting. The Port Everglades Pilots’ attempts to attract minorities, who receive particular consideration in the
appointment process by the Secretary of the Department of Business and Professional Regulation, has revealed that
minority candidates have recently received superior opportunities and offers elsewhere. None has even gone so far
as to take the deputy examination in Florida.

At the time of its last rate hearing, PEP noted to the BOPC that it was having difficulty attracting the highest scoring
candidates to Port Everglades, and that one appointed deputy had quit the program in 1995. When prospective
pilots had passed more than one examination, the candidates had chosen the other port over Port Everglades. In its
final order in 2001, the BOPC indicated that it would continue to monitor these factors. (PEP Final Order – p.7.)

In 1996, 62 candidates were approved to take the examination to fill one opening at Port Everglades. PEP income
was then at its peak. Fifteen candidates passed the examination, and the open positions were filled. That was the
last time PEP had a successful female candidate enter its deputy training. Since then, twelve deputies have entered
training at Port Everglades (one failed to complete the program). In 2012, the time of testing for our current active
deputies, eighteen candidates were approved to sit for the examination—a 71% decline in interest. Only
two candidates for two positions passed the examination and were qualified as deputy pilots. Their test scores (95.4
and 92.7) were lower than those of any successful candidate at Port Everglades during the past sixteen years:
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Test Date
Announced
Openings

Positions
Filled

Approved
Candidates

Number
Testing

Passing
Candidates

Mar-96 1 2 62 62 15

Mar-01 1 1 30 28 17

Mar-02 1 1 23 23 13

Mar-03 2 2 26 24 13

Mar-04 2 2 40 31 14

Mar-05 2 2 33 25 13

Mar-12 2 2 18 12 2

Mar-14 1 1 24 20 9

In 2014, an additional test was conducted to fill an open deputy position. While the number taking the examination
increased, the interest and success rate were still well below historical standards. The candidate, a licensed Master,
will begin training early next year.

These decreases have corresponded with a changed perception regarding compensation. Port Everglades once had
a reputation for good compensation and, as a result, was one of the most desired pilotages in the United States. It
attracted the best and brightest because it was perceived that its pilots were highly compensated in comparison with
competing ports. Unlike many other ports, all pilots at Port Everglades hold the license of master mariner (captain
of unlimited tonnage), and some hold master’s degrees and law degrees. But recently, the perception has changed.
Port Everglades is reputed to be among the lower-paying pilotages, despite handling some of the largest vessels in
the world. This perception has affected the port’s ability to attract the best candidates, and a 25% reduction in rates
will further reduce the pool of qualified pilot candidates.

Nothing demonstrates this point more clearly than the ability to attract female pilot candidates. This is an area that
the legislature has specifically written legislation designed to target these qualified individuals. In 1996, when
compensation was high relative to ports around the United States, Captain Phipps entered the deputy training
program in Port Everglades. At that time, she was one of nine female pilots in the country, and one of two in the
State of Florida. Since then, pilot compensation nationwide has risen with inflation, and Florida compensation has
lagged. Port Everglades has engaged in a robust mentoring program designed to attract women and minorities.
Currently, there are more than 30 female pilots in the United States and still only two in Florida. Despite the appeal
of living in South Florida, qualified female mariners chose ports outside of Florida where compensation has risen
and the political environment, economic situation, and other conditions have been more stable.

The PEP has an active minority mentoring program. Over the past ten years, the PEP has provided scholarships,
awards, and internships to twenty minority and female candidates pursuant to Sections 310.0015(3)(d), Florida
Statutes. Much to our frustration and sincere disappointment, these robust efforts have failed to attract any minority
candidates. In fact, none of those mentoring candidates has chosen to take the examination in Florida, though some
have become pilots in other States. Furthermore, captains who have regularly called Port Everglades in the recent
past have pursued careers as pilots, but have done so outside of the State of Florida. Of the captains we have spoken
to that chose other ports, they all agreed that compensation level was a key consideration in their decision.

A report of the Florida Legislature’s Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability confirms
the perception that rates at Port Everglades are among the lowest in Florida. See Appx. F. The report found that
Port Everglades’ draft charge ($13.30) was well below the statewide average ($19.65), and was trailed only by Fort
Pierce ($12.50) and Port Canaveral ($12.50). The tonnage rate at Port Everglades was the median rate, but below
the mean ($0.0389). Tonnage rates at major ports—Jacksonville ($0.0464), Miami ($0.0364), and Tampa ($0.07)—
all exceeded that of Port Everglades. And Port Everglades has a graduated rate that declines as tonnage increases.
Thus, the rate that the report attributed to Port Everglades overstates the rates actually charged at Port Everglades.
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According to the United States Maritime Administration (“MARAD”), in 2011 there were approximately 2,300
licensed Master Mariners in the United States. As in Section 8(c) of this application, the Master wage is $304,066
with funded retirement plans, full health benefits, and union-negotiated COLA increases. Compensation must be
sufficient to pull these mariners from their positions. In 2012, only two of these Masters were sufficiently attracted
to the opening in Port Everglades to study and pass the examination.

The FCCA overlooks these facts when it finds not a “shred of evidence” that a rate reduction would diminish the
high quality of pilotage in Florida. Given the diminished interest in pilotage, this is not the time to peel away the
incentives that have attracted the best mariners to Florida, and to thin an already thinning talent pool by slashing
pilotage rates by an arbitrary 25%. The FCCA, for its part, presents not a “shred of evidence” that the State will be
able to attract the best and brightest mariners even with an arbitrary 25% decrease in rates. In fact, the requested rate
decrease is not only arbitrary, but it would return pilotage to the rates paid in 1982—thirty-two years ago. The
FCCA asks the Committee to accept without evidence its assertion that such an arbitrary slashing of pilotage rates
will have no effect whatsoever on the willingness of highly skilled mariners to abandon their chosen employments
and instead embark on careers as port pilots. The Committee should reject that unproven and illogical hypothesis.

A significant percentage of pilot business at Port Everglades (11.5%) consists of U.S. vessels operating in the
coastwise trade. If the master’s license contains a USCG endorsement, the master could pilot the vessel into Port
Everglades without a port pilot. Despite the option not to employ a Port Everglades Pilot, and due to the exemplary
safety record and value of pilotage, the owners choose to pay for this service. These vessels are without exception
charged the rates that this Committee sets. Federal law prevents pilots from charging more than the applicable state
rate. A reduction in rates would therefore affect this commerce as well. Similarly, U.S. naval vessels regularly
make liberty calls at Port Everglades and utilize the services of Port Everglades pilots even though federal law
exempts them from the requirement.

Though the FCCA attacks the current rates at Port Everglades as arbitrary, it is the FCCA’s requested 25%, across-
the-board decrease for passenger vessels that is arbitrary. A rate is “arbitrary” if it is “not planned or chosen for a
particular reason,” or is “not based on reason or evidence.” See http://www.m-w.com. The FCCA never explains
how it arrived at its number—25%. The fact that the FCCA requested the same percentage decrease in Miami
establishes the arbitrariness of the rate and demonstrates that the requested decrease is not tailored to the facts and
circumstances of the port. The arbitrariness of the FCCA’s request is underscored by the stated objective of its
application to reduce rates at Port Miami (December 2013): to bring the rates at Port Miami in line with the rates
at Port Everglades. And, while the FCCA claims that the present rates target their vessels by their gross tonnage,
the FCCA seeks a 25% discount for their draft as well. Clearly, 25% was an arbitrary, randomly chosen number.

8. Projected changes in vessel traffic.

Through conversations with port staff, customers, and consultants, as well as an evaluation of currently scheduled
traffic patterns, we project a 5.2% increase in revenue for calendar year 2014. Recently, a number of lines have
either eliminated service or announced that they will discontinue service. Using the published cruise ship schedule
and available cargo line information, we project a 6.8% decline in revenue for calendar year 2015. Based on the
available information, we expect a further decline in revenue in excess of 2.0% for calendar year 2016.

The ACOE dredge project originally scheduled for 2007 has been postponed beyond 2021. Port berth expansion
projects are not due to be completed until after 2018. At this time, there is no catalyst for revenue expansion in the
foreseeable future.

Tanker traffic has declined for ten consecutive years, and this trend is expected to continue. Our bulk and freight
ship traffic is tied directly to the construction industry and shows little sign of improvement. Scheduled passenger
ship traffic is down approximately 2%. Multi-day cruise ships operating in the summer—the only time with berth
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availability—will reduce from five ships to two. Active passenger terminals have reduced from 11 in 2003 to 8.
The Allure of the Seas will not operate out of Port Everglades year round this year, reducing its calls by 44%. In
2016, the Oasis of the Seas will be replaced with a vessel that is 25% smaller. Members of the FCCA have
indicated that the Caribbean market is weak and that vessels are being repositioned to China, causing erosion in
revenue beyond our forecast. The Bimini SuperFast began operations three days a week in the middle of October
and abruptly suspended service after just three weeks. This was the only newly announced service, and the
opportunity for growth in the near term was effectively eliminated.

Container traffic—the one sector with an increase over the last decade—shows signs of weakness. Three companies
(Sea Star, Dole and Chiquita) have indicated that their operations in Port Everglades will cease due to the
new low-sulfur fuel regulations to be implemented on January 1, 2015. The Hapag-Lloyd Tuesday service has
relocated to Kingston, Jamaica. Other companies have indicated that they are changing their services to other
ports due to capacity constraints, berth limits, and crane limitations in the Southport container terminal. Currently,
there is no room to expand container operations, and this will continue at least through 2018. The Caribbean
economy remains weak, affecting operators in this region. With no new services projected by the Port, the most
realistic expectation is that traffic at Port Everglades will decline further.

9. Cost of retirement and medical plans.

Specific cost information is provided with the audited financial statements in Appendix A. In general, medical
costs remain a major component of the PEP’s expenses. We purchase our medical plan from the Masters, Mates,
and Pilots, which provides a plan similar to the plan of seagoing officers. This group plan, which covers our
employees as well, is the only plan we were able to find that provided medical coverage while a pilot or boat
captain is on duty. Since the last rate application, medical costs have risen 72.1%, well above the CPI, but at
a slower rate than many medical plans. Over the period, deductibles have increased and the range of coverage has
declined in an effort to control costs.

The pilots and their employees participate in a 401(k) plan funded from the earnings of the corporation. While
employee salaries have increased over the years, officer salaries have remained constant since at least 1995.
Funding is based on individual salaries, with contribution levels being reduced by 32%. In addition, the pilots have
the previously discussed retirement agreement established in 1960. This plan was established prior to the
availability of current tax-advantaged retirement plans and provides caps on overall retirement costs. These caps are
currently in effect. The cost of this plan is up 12.4% since 2004, less than the CPI, and the number of covered
retirees increased from seven to thirteen. Recently, two of these retirees passed away. From this point forward,
retirement expense is projected to remain constant relative to gross pilotage, but individual retirement compensation
will drop precipitously. By 2020, it is anticipated that there will be 19 or 20 living retirees. The retirement costs
will be split among these retirees, resulting in dramatically lower retirement compensation.

The Florida Legislature intended to require consideration of the cost of retirement and medical plans as a factor in
setting pilotage rates. It specifically referenced such costs in the statutory guidelines. § 310.315(5)(b)9., Fla. Stat.
(2014). The FCCA’s argument that the statutory reference to the cost of retirement and medical plans includes
only “IRS-approved” plans ignores the statute’s clear meaning. The Legislature might have limited the Committee’s
consideration to IRS-approved plans, but it did not.

10. Physical risks inherent in piloting.

Piloting is inherently risky. Pilots must board ships day and night, 365 days a year, in all weather conditions. Even
on a flat, calm day, transferring from a small pilot boat to a rope ladder and climbing up the side of a ship or into
a side port is a risky endeavor. The FCCA argues against this well-established fact. It compares the dangers of
the pilot profession to numerous other professions, none of which is comparable to piloting. It includes data for
other professions, but none for piloting (though it could easily have been obtained from any number of sources).
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In fact, the FCCA scoffs at the notion that a substantial income is necessary to compensate pilots for the dangers of
their work. It notes that police officers and firefighters encounter physical risks but receive less compensation, and
that, in 2012, more florists died in their employments than pilots. But the risks of pilotage are well recognized:

Pilots are transferred from their pilot boat out at sea onto and off of large moving vessels. Once the
pilot boat maneuvers alongside the vessel, the pilot typically boards the ship by stepping from the
pilot boat onto a ladder hanging from the ship’s side. Unfortunately, pilots are frequently injured
and sometimes killed in the course of this dangerous transfer, particularly in bad weather. One
expert in the piloting profession testified that over the course of a 30-year career, a pilot has a one-
in-20 chance of being killed in a boarding accident.

ACL Bahamas Ltd., Case No. 10-2335 ¶ 9.

In 2013, a port pilot in Panama City was killed during such a transfer to a ship. And between January 2006 and
February 2007, five of the nation’s 1,100 port pilots were killed in the course of their duties—four of them in
transfer accidents. See CRUISE SHIP LAW BLOG, Shaken by Deaths in Their Ranks, Pilots Scrutinize Their Practices
and Equipment (July 1, 2007), available at http://blog.lipcon.com/2007/07/shaken-by-deaths-in-their-rank.html.
These transfer accidents have resulted in deaths on both cargo and passenger vessels. As one U.S. Coast Guard
Marine Safety Unit recently warned, the potential for accidents associated with pilot transfers to vessels remains “a
constant threat.” See Appx. G. In addition, while pilots attempt to minimize risks, many pilots experience loss of
hearing, impairment of night vision, skin cancers, or sleep disorders. Broken bones and crushed limbs are not
uncommon during transfers, and slipping on wet and oily decks occurs regularly. Indeed, all pilots have experienced
boarding incidents that have threatened their personal safety and long-term livelihood.

Ports such as Port Everglades with relatively short pilotages carry the highest risk. The FCCA agrees the most
dangerous part of piloting is transferring from the pilot boat to the ship. A Port Everglades pilot can pilot six ships
during his 12-hour watch on a single, busy day. If you consider that a pilot in Port Everglades could pilot 14,000
ships in a career (3,250 as a deputy and the remainder during 20 or 30 years as a full pilot), then it is clear the risks
are far greater than at longer ports. In ports with longer transits, the number of ship boardings over a career might
not even exceed the number of ships that a Port Everglades deputy is required to handle before becoming a pilot.

The FCCA’s comparison of the number of fatalities among pilots, police officers, and firefighters is also misleading
because the number of pilots is relatively small. While approximately 35,000 people are employed as law
enforcement officers in Florida, only 97 people are active port pilots in this State, and 1,100 nationwide.

Finally, the income of a pilot does not merely compensate for risks to the pilots’ own well-being: it purchases the
specialized skill necessary to protect interests of vast public importance. Seldom do the lives of thousands of
people, the care of property worth billions of dollars, the guardianship of the natural environment, and the welfare
and economy of urban centers depend on the abilities of a florist. While firefighters risk life and limb, the error of a
single firefighter will rarely cover Florida’s coastline with oil, or imperil a $1-billion vessel, or destroy the United
States’ only coral reef. The uncommon abilities of a pilot, and the magnitude of the interests entrusted to them,
have led all maritime States to ensure pilots a competent income. Indeed, the average income of a port pilot in the
United States is $400,000. ACL Bahamas Ltd., Case No. 10-2335 ¶ 31. The FCCA would have the Committee
believe that not only the Florida Legislature, but every State has pursued an irrational public policy.

The risks of piloting remain despite the advanced technologies aboard modern vessels. The FCCA argues that
technology—such as advanced navigational and propulsion mechanisms—has eliminated the hazards of piloting,
but nothing can be further from the truth. No technology can avert the consequences of human error or take the
place of the skill and judgment of the pilot. Indeed, these technologies have caused many of the recent catastrophes
that have befallen cruise ships. In 2007, a software glitch on the Millennium sent an errant signal to the port
propulsion, and the ship went into reverse. The propellers crashed into a rock, and the company lost an estimated
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$28.8 million. In 2008, the malfunction of a propulsion system caused the Queen Victoria to crash stern first into a
pier on the island of Malta. In 2009, the Oasis of the Seas suffered a cascading loss of power to all three azipods
during sea trials. In 2013, azipod and propulsion problems caused the Carnival Legend and Carnival Elation to cut
cruises short, and the Royal Princess suffered a power loss at sea and was without propulsion for 3.5 hours. More
recently, in April 2014, the Carnival Ecstasy suffered a power failure and loss of propulsion as it approached Port
Canaveral.

In Florida, it should be obvious that technology cannot eliminate human error. In 2010, the Legislature gave serious
consideration to proposals to expand off-shore oil drilling. Its advocates extolled the advanced technologies of
modern rigs and insisted that those technologies mooted any fears of a spill. But in April 2010, an explosion on
Deepwater Horizon—an oil rig in the Gulf of Mexico—killed eleven crewmen and ignited a massive fireball. The
rig sank into the Gulf, and oil gushed onto the seafloor for three months in the largest oil spill in American history,
causing billions of dollars in losses and unfathomable damage to the natural environment. Clearly, technology can
be an aid, but it can neither obviate the need for human skill or expertise, nor cover the consequences of human
error.

In addition, the technology to which the FCCA refers is neither new nor unique to cruise ships. The Electronic Chart
Display and Information System (“ECDIS”) is standard equipment on all ships. Depth sounders have been used for
decades, and are required on all ships. And by the time a depth sounder indicates that the bottom is too shallow, it is
too late. A large ship cannot stop in place. A pilot is intimately familiar with the water depth in every part of the
harbor, however. Watching the depth sounder is no substitute for that knowledge or a safe means of navigation.

The piloting of large vessels, therefore, remains inherently dangerous. These dangers were underscored when the
Costa Concordia capsized as a result of the master’s error in January 2012. The state-of-the-art, 114,000-GT vessel,
launched only six years earlier, capsized in waters that should have been reserved for a port pilot with intimate
knowledge of the surroundings. The bridge team failed to alert the master to the danger and failed to understand
basic ship-handling principles. The ship sailed too close to the coastline in a poorly lit area, at night and at a high
speed. If the Costa Concordia had been piloted by a port pilot with an awareness of the rocks, 32 people would not
have died.

At Port Everglades, the pilotage fee for the Costa Concordia would have been $4,366—nothing in comparison
with the construction cost of the vessel ($570 million), its salvage cost ($1.2 billion), the estimated loss of revenue
($175 million), and untold costs associated with lawsuits, increased insurance premiums, and lost booking revenues
for all cruise lines. All in all, the anticipated financial loss of the Costa Concordia disaster will clearly exceed $2
billion. Of course, no dollar figure can come close to estimating the cost of a single human life, let alone 32 lives.

Nor, sadly, is the Costa Concordia the only example that illustrates that the dangers associated with large vessels.
With the expansion of cruise lines has come an increase in the number of young and inexperienced officers with
inadequate shiphandling skills. In June 1995, the Royal Majesty grounded off Cape Cod, causing a loss of $7
million. In August 1999, the Norwegian Dream collided with a containership, crushing the bow of the vessel. In
April 2005, the Grandeur of the Seas was involved in an allision with a dock in Mexico, sustaining a 40-foot gash.
In February 2006, the Crown Princess turned sharply at a high rate of speed, causing the vessel to heel severely. In
August 2006, the Carnival Celebration grounded while docking in Nassau, causing hydraulic fluid to spill into
pristine waters. In October 2006, the Enchantment of the Seas collided with a barge at Grand Cayman Island after
dragging its anchor 300 meters. In June 2008, the Costa Classica collided with the MSC Poesia near Dubrovnik. In
May 2009, the Zenith grounded outside Copenhagen, and its master was charged with negligence. In September
2009, the Carnival Legend, attempting to get underway during a squall, was involved in an allision with the
Enchantment of the Seas at Cozumel, Mexico. In January 2010, the MSC Poesia grounded at Port Lucaya, Grand
Bahama Island, due to bridge-team failure and navigational errors, destroying a portion of the environmentally
sensitive coral reef. In February 2010, the Costa Europa was involved in an allision with a pier in Egypt, and three
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crewmembers drowned. On October 31, 2014 the Bahamas Celebration, operating under a pilot exemption and with
only one working engine, got underway in a rain squall and ran aground and sank in nearby Freeport, Bahamas. The
vessel is a total loss and only the shallow depth of water prevented a much greater tragedy.

The State of Florida cannot afford such errors in its ports. As the investigation committee noted in 1999, it is in the
State’s interest to attract the ablest pilots in the country, and nothing attracts them better than good compensation.

The FCCA seeks to minimize these dangers by noting that pilots need not ignore “justifiable concerns relating to
safety.” See § 310.0015(3)(a), Fla. Stat. (2014). But it is not true that pilots can refuse to work except under sunny
skies. Rather, the State imposes on pilots an important responsibility to make the sound, independent, and prompt
judgments necessary to protect the safety of passengers and the security of the port. The pilots must possess the self-
command to withstand the contrary desires of the crew, which is often under pressure from the owner or operator to
proceed without delay. See ACL Bahamas Ltd., Case No. 10-2335 ¶ 7. The State empowers pilots—not masters
beholden to ship owners—to exercise their judgment, and its policy seeks to attract pilots able to exercise that trust.

11. Special characteristics, dangers, an risks of the particular port.

While Port Everglades is home to the two largest cruise ships in the world (the Allure and Oasis of the Seas), its
450-foot channels are among the narrowest of the major ports of the United States. The port features an extremely
high volume of recreational vessels that share the water with piloted vessels, as well as fishing activity. See Appx.
H at 30. The sides and bottom of the channels are rocky, consisting of sheer and unforgiving limestone. Id. at 21,
30. Large vessels encounter strong crosswinds and currents, short stopping distances, and swirling currents in the
inner channel and basin. Id. at 30. Cross currents in the entrance channel are strong and unpredictable, id., and tend
to run at right angles to the direction of the channel, see Appx. I. ¶ 351. These currents can approach five knots. Id.
In the harbor, swirls cause random counter currents. During thunderstorms, winds are severe and shifting and often
of gale strength. Appx. H at 30; Appx. I ¶ 347. The approach to the port passes over reefs and endangered corals.
Appx. H at 27. Amid the heavy recreational traffic density, the rock walls and bottom, the narrow channels, and
cruise ships of unmatched size, the port receives exceptionally large volumes of petroleum cargoes. Id. at 7, 24.

Notably, the PAWSA final report, published in 2001, ranked Port Everglades among the most hazardous ports in the
United States. See Appx. E. Port Everglades had the highest risk level of any port with respect to three metrics:
(i) the volume of fishing and pleasure craft using the port; (ii) traffic density, or the congestion and interaction
between different vessel types; and (iii) the bottom type, or the extent to which the bottom, if a vessel runs aground,
is forgiving. Id. at 22, 23, 30. Port Everglades received the second-highest risk level with respect to the strength of
its currents, behind only Berwick Bay in Louisiana. Id. at 26. And since 2001, the risk has only increased, as the
average ship size has increased substantially. In 2001, nobody would have imagined that the largest ships in the
world—ships over four football fields in length—would call Port Everglades, with some of the most constricted
channels in the country, their home port. To steer these massive ships between tight rock walls requires precision
piloting, placing a greater premium than ever upon the skill of the pilots who daily perform this task uneventfully.

The dangers and special characteristics of the Port are further described in:

 Section 10 of this application;
 The PAWSA Final Report, see Appx. E;
 The PAWSA Workshop Report for Port Everglades, see Appx. H;
 Coast Pilot 4: Atlantic Coast: Cape Henry to Key West (46th ed. 2014), published by the National Ocean

Service, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, an excerpt of which is attached as Appendix
I, and which is available in full at http://www.nauticalcharts.noaa.gov/nsd/coastpilot_w.php?book=4; and

 The PAWSA Draft Risk Mitigation Strategy Plan for Port Everglades, see Appx. J.
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12. Any other factors the committee deems relevant in determining a just and reasonable rate.

Consumer Price Index

The Committee may take into consideration, together with other factors, “the consumer price index or any other
comparable economic indicator when fixing rates of pilotage.” § 310.151(5)(c), Fla. Stat. (2014). The following
data are relevant to the Committee’s consideration of the CPI:

CPI (all urban consumers) from the time of filing last application (December 2000): ................. +36.70%
CPI from the time of implementation of last stage of rate change (June 2003): ............................+29.48%
Miami metropolitan area CPI from December 2000: .....................................................................+43.43%
Miami metropolitan area CPI from June 2003: ..............................................................................+35.52%
Port Everglades tariff rates, cargo, from 2003 to 2013:..................................................................+33.76%
Port Everglades tariff rates, passenger, from 2000 to 2013: ...........................................................+37.70%
Port Everglades passenger revenue from 2004 to 2013:.................................................................+49.23%
Port Everglades revenue per passenger from 2004 to 2013:.........................................................+129.89%
Port Everglades tugboat rates from 2007 to 2014:........................................................................+170.00%
Port Everglades Pilots’ rates from June 2003 to December 2014: ............................................. Unchanged
Port Everglades Pilots’ total revenue from 2004 to 2013: ..............................................................(–8.91%)
Port Everglades Pilots’ passenger ship revenue from 2004 to 2013:............................................(–19.89%)
Port Everglades Pilots revenue per passenger from 2004 to 2013:.................................................(–9.32%)

See Appx. K (CPI tables); Appx. L (excerpt from 2013 Annual Report for Port Everglades).

These facts speak for themselves. There has been no “organic increase” in revenue since the last rate change in
2003, as the FCCA asserts. Total revenue, passenger revenue, and revenue per passenger have all decreased
significantly. Pilot rates in Port Everglades have not kept pace with inflation, nationally or locally. The revenue
and tariff rates for the port overall and passenger ships are up significantly. Local tugboat rates are up as well. With
its rate-decrease application, the FCCA is attempting to pass its port costs on to the pilots and other port users.

Conclusion

The Legislature’s direction to this Committee is to “give primary consideration to the public interest in promoting
and maintaining effective, reliable, and safe piloting services”—not to defer to the uncorroborated statements of
the cruise industry. The FCCA has not established that pilotage rates can safely be reduced without any
consequences to the “effective, reliable, and safe piloting services” that the public expects.

The FCCA has not even established that pilotage rates are a financial burden to the cruise lines. In a letter dated
September 26, 2014, counsel to the PEP requested that the FCCA provide documentation reflecting the financial
condition and operating expenses of its members, including financial statements, profit-and-loss statements, balance
sheets, statements of operating expenses, and annual financial reports. See Appx. M. The PEP requested data
reflecting the pricing methodology of each member cruise line, and how pilotage fees are factored into passenger
pricing. The FCCA, which made a parade of Port Miami’s refusal to disclose financial information, never
responded. The Committee would be well served by disclosure of information that reveals the burden that pilotage
fees impose on cruise lines. The FCCA can hardly claim that rates are excessive and unreasonable unless it can
establish the amounts paid in relation to its members’ revenues and the effect, if any, upon passenger prices.

The requested rate will help us maintain the unsurpassed level of efficiency and safety in pilotage service that Port
Everglades has traditionally provided. It meets the statutory requirement to promote a safe and efficient piloting
service while providing fair, just, and reasonable rates of pilotage for all port users, and it treats all vessels fairly and
does not give special preference to one class of vessels or one industry group. We will be better able to attract and
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retain experienced, licensed state pilots and certificated deputy pilots. We will continue to provide a work schedule
that permits adequately rested and highly trained pilots to report to vessels promptly, year round, 24 hours per day.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Stockholders and Partners 
 P.E.P., Inc. and Port Everglades Pilots’ Association 
  Fort Lauderdale, Florida 
 
 We have audited the accompanying combined financial statements of P.E.P., Inc. (a Florida 
Chapter S corporation) and Port Everglades Pilots’ Association (a Florida partnership), (together the 
“Company”) which comprise the combined balance sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the 
related combined statements of income, changes in stockholders’ and partners’ equity, and cash flows 
for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 
 

Management’s Responsibility for the Combined Financial Statements 

 Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the combined financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of combined financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
 Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these combined financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the combined financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the combined financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the combined financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the combined financial statements. 
 
 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
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P.E.P., Inc. and Port Everglades Pilots’ Association  
 
 
Opinion 
 
 In our opinion, the combined financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of 
its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Report on Combining Information 
 
 Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the combined financial 
statements as a whole. The combining financial statements on pages 12 through 15 are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis of the combined financial statements rather than to present the financial 
position, and results of operations of the individual companies, and they are not a required part of the 
combined financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived 
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the combined 
financial statements. The combining information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of the combined financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the combined financial statements or to the combined financial statements themselves, 
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. In our opinion, the combining information is fairly stated in all material respects in 
relation to the combined financial statements as a whole. 
 
 
 
 

KEEFE McCULLOUGH 
 
 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 
November 7, 2014 
 
 



 

The accompanying notes to combined financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
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2013 2012
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 74,743      $ 51,246      
Accounts receivable 1,509,028 1,531,656 
Prepaid expenses 15,250      13,216      
Current portion of loans receivable -            2,154       

Total current assets 1,599,021 1,598,272 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 225,822    302,474    

Total assets $ 1,824,843 $ 1,900,746 

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 398,293    $ 385,678    
Accrued expenses 25,553      31,459      
Current portion of debt 34,400      32,404      

Total current liabilities 458,246    449,541    

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Debt, less current portion 152,730    187,323    
Deposits 725           725          

Total long-term liabilities 153,455    188,048    

Total liabilities 611,701    637,589    

STOCKHOLDERS' AND PARTNERS' EQUITY:
Capital stock, 5,500 shares of $ 1 par value common stock
 authorized, 3,150 shares issued and outstanding 3,150       3,150       
Additional paid-in capital 183,504    183,504    
Treasury stock (283,439)   (283,439)   
Retained earnings and partners' capital 1,309,927 1,359,942 

Total stockholders' and partners' equity 1,213,142 1,263,157 

Total liabilities and stockholders' and 
 partners' equity $ 1,824,843 $ 1,900,746 

A N D  P A R T N E R S' E Q U I T Y

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS' ASSOCIATION 
COMBINED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2013 and 2012

A S S E T S

L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  S T O C K H O L D E R S'  

  
 
 



 

The accompanying notes to combined financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
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2013 2012
OPERATING REVENUE:

Service revenue $ 10,935,160 $ 10,953,151

Total operating revenue 10,935,160 10,953,151

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Payments to retired pilots 2,173,804 2,107,540 
Salaries 1,490,972 1,393,449 
Insurance expense 897,807    826,911    
Repairs and maintenance 196,389    93,479      
Fuel 180,960    155,433    
Pension plan expense 174,377    231,910    
Professional fees 147,522    132,267    
Florida state association dues 164,021    169,981    
Licenses and taxes 147,644    141,864    
State Board of Pilots - dues 79,570      76,672      
Provision for depreciation 77,706      79,096      
Office expense 26,425      24,500      
Telephone 24,849      23,258      
Business development 19,067      35,813      
Continuing Education 16,800      34,279      
Boat supplies 15,422      9,865       
Contributions 15,300      5,430       
Utilities 14,458      12,758      
Dues and subscriptions 12,301      10,500      
Interest expense 12,101      26,589      
Travel 4,731       12,113      
Political contributions 2,800       12,000      
Drug testing 1,975       3,083       
Vehicle expense 584           758          

Total operating expenses 5,897,585 5,619,548 

Net operating income 5,037,575 5,333,603 

OTHER INCOME:
Rent income 8,490       8,490       
Interest income 1,514       2,352       
Other income -            695          

Total other income 10,004      11,537      

Net income $ 5,047,579 $ 5,345,140 

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS' ASSOCIATION 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

 
 



 

The accompanying notes to combined financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
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Retained
Additional Earnings

Capital Paid-in Treasury and Partners'
Stock Capital Stock Capital Total

STOCKHOLDERS' AND 
 PARTNERS EQUITY
 January 1, 2012 $ 3,150 $ 183,504 $ (283,439) $ 1,207,131 $ 1,110,346

Net income -            -           -           5,345,140 5,345,140

Distributions to partners
 and stockholders -            -           -           (5,192,329) (5,192,329)

STOCKHOLDERS' AND 
 PARTNERS EQUITY
 December 31, 2012 3,150 183,504 (283,439) 1,359,942 1,263,157

Net income -            -           -           5,047,579 5,047,579

Distributions to partners
 and stockholders -            -           -           (5,097,594) (5,097,594)

STOCKHOLDERS' AND 
 PARTNERS EQUITY
 December 31, 2013 $ 3,150 $ 183,504 $ (283,439) $ 1,309,927 $ 1,213,142

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS' ASSOCIATION 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' AND PARTNERS' EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012



 

The accompanying notes to combined financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
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2013 2012

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 5,047,579 $ 5,345,140
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
 by operating activities:
 Provision for depreciation 77,706 79,096
 Changes in assets and liabilities:
  (Increase) decrease in accounts receivables 22,628 (110,396)
  (Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (2,034) 550
  (Increase) decrease in loans receivable 2,154 119,841
  Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 12,615 19,887
  Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses (5,906) 6,432

Net cash provided by operating activities 5,154,742 5,460,550

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Payments for purchase of property and equipment (1,054)      (1,162)      

Net cash used in investing activities (1,054)      (1,162)      

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Principal payments on debt (32,597)    (285,347)   
Distributions to partners and stockholders (5,097,594) (5,192,329)

Net cash used in financing activities (5,130,191) (5,477,676)

Net increase (decrease) in cash
 and cash equivalents 23,497      (18,288)    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, January 1 51,246      69,534      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, December 31 $ 74,743      $ 51,246      

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS' ASSOCIATION
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012



 

7 

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS’ ASSOCIATION  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2013 and 2012 
 

 
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS 
 

 P.E.P., Inc. (the “Corporation”) and Port Everglades Pilots’ Association (the 
“Partnership”) (together the “Company”) pilots ships and vessels into and out of Port Everglades, 
Florida (the “Port”).  The Company is regulated by the Florida Department of Professional 
Regulation (“DPR”). The DPR’s Pilotage Rate Review Board regulates the fee setting policy used 
by the Company. 

 
 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

 The summary of significant accounting policies of the Company is presented to assist in 
understanding the Company’s combined financial statements.  These accounting policies conform 
to generally accepted accounting principles and have been consistently applied in the preparation of 
the combined financial statements. 

 
 Principles of combination: 
 

 The accompanying combined financial statements have been prepared in conformity with 
accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the Department of Professional Regulation of the 
State of Florida (the “Department”) pursuant to Florida Statutes Section 310, Pilots, Piloting and 
Pilotage in effect at December 31, 2013.  The combined financial statements include the accounts 
of the Partnership and the Corporation. The Pilots of the Partnership own shares in the 
Corporation. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in 
combination. 

 
Recognition of income: 

 
 Revenue from services is recognized when the service is provided to the customer. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents: 
 
 For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid 
investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash 
equivalents.  The Company maintains cash balances at one financial institution which occasionally 
exceeds Federally insured amounts. 
 
Direct write-off method used to record bad debts: 
 
 The Company has elected to record bad debts using the direct write-off method.  Generally 
accepted accounting principles require that the allowance method be used to recognize bad debts; 
however, the effect of using the direct write-off method is not materially different from the results 
that would have been obtained under the allowance method. 

 
 Provision for depreciation: 
 

 Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of property and equipment is 
provided using straight-line methods over the following estimated useful lives: 

 
 Boats and docks 5 years 
 Radio equipment 5 years 
 Building and improvements 7-25 years 
 Office furniture and equipment 5-7 years 
 Software 5 years 
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P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS’ ASSOCIATION  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2013 and 2012 
 

 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT POLICIES (continued) 
 

 Expenditures for major renewals and betterments that extend the useful lives of the asset 
are capitalized. The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to operating expense as incurred. 
 
Provision for income taxes: 
 
 The Partnership does not pay or incur income taxes. The individual partners report their 
proportionate share of Partnership earnings and losses on their individual tax returns. 
 
 The Corporation has elected, with the consent of its stockholders, to be taxed as an S 
Corporation. The election provides that in lieu of corporate income taxes, the stockholders are 
levied income taxes on their proportionate share of the corporation’s taxable income. 
 
 Accordingly, these combined financial statements do not reflect a provision or a liability 
for Federal or state income taxes. 
 
Use of estimates: 
 
 The preparation of combined financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the combined financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Amortization: 
 
 Amortization of loan costs is computed using the straight-line method over the shorter of 
the remaining term of the loan or one year. 
 
Date of management’s review:  

 
 Subsequent events have been evaluated through November 7, 2014, which is the date the 
financial statements were issued.  

 
 
NOTE 3 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

 At December 31, 2013 there was no loans receivable.  In 2012, loans receivable consisted 
of $ 2,154, due from certain stockholders of the Corporation.  The Corporation holds a security 
interest in each of their shares of common stock. The loans bared an interest rate of 5.25% and 
required aggregate monthly payments of principal and interest of $ 10,695. The loans were 
receivable through January 2013. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the 
Corporation received interest income on these loans totaling $ 1,411 and $ 2,253, respectively.  
 
 The Corporation has a note payable to a stockholder of the Corporation (Note 5). Interest 
expense incurred by the Corporation related to this note was $ 12,101 and $ 22,102 for the years 
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.    
 
 The Partnership derives substantially all of its revenues from services rendered by the 
partners who are pilots licensed by the Florida DPR. 
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P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS’ ASSOCIATION  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2013 and 2012 
 

 
NOTE 3 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

 
 The Partnership engaged the Corporation to provide equipment and services necessary to 
carry out the business activity.  All the service revenue derived by the Corporation is from the 
Partnership under a thirty year contract that expires in 2026.  The contract sets forth the fees 
charged by the Corporation and the related annual increases based on a percentage of the increase 
in the Consumer Price Index. 
 

 
NOTE 4 - CONCENTRATIONS 
 

 The Company provides services to customers who are users of pilotage services at the Port. 
The Company grants credit to these customers, substantially all of which are business 
establishments, based on established credit terms and policies.  At December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
the Company had extended credit to these customers for approximately $ 1,677,000 and 
$ 1,700,000, respectively. These amounts are reflected as accounts receivable in the combined 
balance sheets and at December 31, 2013 and 2012 five customers represented approximately 62% 
and 60% of total accounts receivable, respectively. 

 
 
NOTE 5 – DEBT 
 

 Debt is summarized as follows: 
 

 
 Future debt principal payments in the aggregate are approximately as follows: 

   

Year Ending
December 31,

2014 $ 34,000      
2015 $ 37,000      
2016 $ 39,000      
2017 $ 41,000      
2018 $ 36,000      

Thereafter NONE

  2013   2012
     
 Note payable to a former shareholder in monthly 

installments of $ 3,275, including interest at 
6.0% until October 2018 (Note 3).    187,130   219,727

  187,130   219,727
 Less current portion 34,400   32,404
     
  $ 152,730  $ 187,323
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P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS’ ASSOCIATION  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2013 and 2012 
 
 
NOTE 6 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  
 

 Property and equipment consist of the following: 

  

2013 2012

Boats and docks $ 1,559,975 $ 1,559,975
Radio equipment 96,548 96,548
Building and improvements 71,558 71,558
Office furniture and equipment 39,467 38,413
Software 9,590 9,590

1,777,138 1,776,084

Less accumulated depreciation 1,594,040 1,516,334

183,098 259,750

Land 42,724 42,724

$ 225,822 $ 302,474
 

 
NOTE 7 - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 
 

 The Corporation has a pension plan covering all employees.  The Corporation's funding 
policy is to make annual contributions to the plan equal to a percentage of the participants’ annual 
compensation. The contributions for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were $ 174,377 
and $ 231,910, respectively. 

 
 
NOTE 8 - PAYMENTS TO RETIRED PILOTS 
 

 There is no provision for a funded pension for inactive pilots. However, a formal 
arrangement exists providing for compensation to pilots when they retire from active service.  The 
amount of compensation is determined by a formula involving a percentage of gross service 
revenue collected. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 payments to retired pilots 
were $ 2,173,804 and $ 2,107,540, respectively.  

 
 
NOTE 9 - STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS - COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS OF ACTIVE 
   PILOTS 
 

 Florida Statute (Section 310.151(5)(b)(2)) requires a determination of the average net 
income of pilots in the Port.  The Partnership makes distributions to it partners, the pilots, for 
pilotage services. The Corporation and the Partnership do not employ any full-time professional 
administrative or technical employees.  These responsibilities are assigned to the individual pilots 
and represent work requirements over and above normal piloting function.  The Corporation pays 
each pilot a salary for performing these assigned additional duties, and in addition pays the related 
benefits (health insurance and retirement plan contributions). 
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P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS’ ASSOCIATION  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2013 and 2012 
 

 
NOTE 9 - STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS - COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS OF ACTIVE 
   PILOTS (continued) 

 
 The following table summarizes the average total compensation per active pilot for the 
fiscal years ended December 31: 

  

2013 2012
Administrative and technical salaries
 paid to pilots $ 850,318 $ 852,445
Net operating income 5,037,575 5,333,603

Total compensation to pilots $ 5,887,893 $ 6,186,048

 Number of licensed active pilots 17 18

Average total salaries, fees and 
 distributions per active pilot $ 346,347 $ 343,669

 
 
NOTE 10 - SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 

 Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: 
 

  

2013 2012
Cash received during the year for -
 Interest income $ 1,413 $ 2,352

Cash paid during the year for - 
 Interest expense $ 12,101 $ 26,589
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Port
Everglades

Pilots'
P.E.P., Inc. Association Eliminations Total

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,857      $ 63,886      $ -             $ 74,743      
Accounts receivable 74            1,676,871 (167,917)     1,509,028 
Prepaid expenses 13,173      2,077        -             15,250      

Total current assets 24,104      1,742,834 (167,917)     1,599,021 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 225,822    -           -             225,822    

Total assets $ 249,926    $ 1,742,834 $ (167,917)     $ 1,824,843 

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 200,948    $ 365,262    $ (167,917)     $ 398,293    
Accrued expenses 25,553      -           -             25,553      
Current portion of debt 34,400      -           -             34,400      

Total current liabilities 260,901    365,262    (167,917)     458,246    

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Debt, less current portion 152,730    -           -             152,730    
Deposits 725          -           -             725          

Total long-term liabilities 153,455    -           -             153,455    

Total liabilities 414,356    365,262    (167,917)     611,701    

STOCKHOLDERS' AND PARTNERS'
 EQUITY (DEFICIT):

Capital stock, 5,500 shares of $ 1
 par value common stock authorized,
 3,150 shares issued and outstanding 3,150        -           -             3,150        
Additional paid-in capital 183,504    -           -             183,504    
Treasury stock (283,439)   -           -             (283,439)   
Retained earnings and partners' capital (67,645)     1,377,572 -             1,309,927 

Total stockholders' and
 partners' equity (deficit) (164,430)   1,377,572 -             1,213,142 

Total liabilities and
 stockholders'  and 
 partners' equity $ 249,926    $ 1,742,834 $ (167,917)     $ 1,824,843 

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS' ASSOCIATION
COMBINING BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2013
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Port
Everglades

Pilots'
P.E.P., Inc. Association Eliminations Total

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 35,651      $ 15,595      $ -             $ 51,246      
Accounts receivable 91            1,699,482 (167,917)     1,531,656 
Prepaid expenses 11,144      2,072        -             13,216      
Current portion of loans receivable 2,154        -           -             2,154        

Total current assets 49,040      1,717,149 (167,917)     1,598,272 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 302,474    -           -             302,474    

Total assets $ 351,514    $ 1,717,149 $ (167,917)     $ 1,900,746 

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 190,030    $ 363,565    $ (167,917)     $ 385,678    
Accrued expenses 31,459      -           -             31,459      
Current portion of debt 32,404      -           -             32,404      

Total current liabilities 253,893    363,565    (167,917)     449,541    

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Debt, less current portion 187,323    -           -             187,323    
Deposits 725          -           -             725          

Total long-term liabilities 188,048    -           -             188,048    

Total liabilities 441,941    363,565    (167,917)     637,589    

STOCKHOLDERS' AND PARTNERS'
 EQUITY (DEFICIT):

Capital stock, 5,500 shares of $ 1
 par value common stock authorized,
 3,150 shares issued and outstanding 3,150        -           -             3,150        
Additional paid-in capital 183,504    -           -             183,504    
Treasury stock (283,439)   -           -             (283,439)   
Retained earnings and partners' capital 6,358        1,353,584 -             1,359,942 

Total stockholders' and
 partners' equity (deficit) (90,427)     1,353,584 -             1,263,157 

Total liabilities and
 stockholders'  and 
 partners' equity $ 351,514    $ 1,717,149 $ (167,917)     $ 1,900,746 

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS' ASSOCIATION 
COMBINING BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2012
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Port
Everglades

Pilots'
P.E.P., Inc. Association Eliminations Total

OPERATING REVENUE:
Service revenue $ 2,979,144 $ 10,935,160 $ (2,979,144)  $ 10,935,160

Total operating revenue 2,979,144 10,935,160 (2,979,144)  10,935,160

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Payments to retired pilots -           2,173,804 -             2,173,804 
Salaries 1,352,840 138,132    -             1,490,972 
Insurance expense 809,354    88,453      -             897,807    
Repairs and maintenance 196,389    -           -             196,389    
Fuel 180,960    -           -             180,960    
Pension plan expense 174,377    -           -             174,377    
Professional fees 32,539      114,983    -             147,522    
Florida state association dues -           164,021    -             164,021    
Licenses and taxes 135,089    12,555      -             147,644    
State Board of Pilots - dues -           79,570      -             79,570      
Provision for depreciation 77,706      -           -             77,706      
Office expense 25,663      762          -             26,425      
Telephone 24,849      -           -             24,849      
Business development 434          18,633      -             19,067      
Continuing Education -           16,800      -             16,800      
Boat supplies 15,422      -           -             15,422      
Contributions -           15,300      -             15,300      
Utilities 14,458      -           -             14,458      
Dues and subscriptions 10,042      2,259        -             12,301      
Interest expense 12,101      -           -             12,101      
Travel 139          4,592        -             4,731        
Political contributions -           2,800        -             2,800        
Drug testing -           1,975        -             1,975        
Vehicle expense 584          -           -             584          
Service contract expense -           2,979,144 (2,979,144)  -           

Total operating expenses 3,062,946 5,813,783 (2,979,144)  5,897,585 

Net operating income (loss) (83,802)     5,121,377 -             5,037,575 

OTHER INCOME:
Rent income 8,490        -           -             8,490        
Interest income 1,413        101          -             1,514        

Total other income 9,903          101            -             10,004        

Net income (loss) $ (73,899)       $ 5,121,478   $ -             $ 5,047,579   

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS' ASSOCIATION
COMBINING STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013
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Port
Everglades

Pilots'
P.E.P., Inc. Association Eliminations Total

OPERATING REVENUE:
Service revenue $ 2,896,839 $ 10,953,151 $ (2,896,839)  $ 10,953,151

Total operating revenue 2,896,839 10,953,151 (2,896,839)  10,953,151

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Payments to retired pilots -           2,107,540 -             2,107,540 
Salaries 1,366,690 26,759      -             1,393,449 
Insurance expense 780,092    46,819      -             826,911    
Pension plan expense 231,910    -           -             231,910    
Florida state association dues -           169,981    -             169,981    
Professional fees 33,471      98,796      -             132,267    
Fuel 155,433    -           -             155,433    
Licenses and taxes 138,269    3,595        -             141,864    
Repairs and maintenance 93,479      -           -             93,479      
Provision for depreciation 79,096      -           -             79,096      
State Board of Pilots - dues -           76,672      -             76,672      
Business development 34            35,779      -             35,813      
Continuing Education -           34,279      -             34,279      
Interest expense 26,589      -           -             26,589      
Office expense 23,218      1,282        -             24,500      
Telephone 23,258      -           -             23,258      
Utilities 12,758      -           -             12,758      
Travel -           12,113      -             12,113      
Political contributions -           12,000      -             12,000      
Dues and subscriptions 9,600        900          -             10,500      
Boat supplies 9,865        -           -             9,865        
Contributions -           5,430        -             5,430        
Drug testing -           3,083        -             3,083        
Vehicle expense 758          -           -             758          
Service contract expense -           2,896,839 (2,896,839)  -           

Total operating expenses 2,984,520 5,531,867 (2,896,839)  5,619,548 

Net operating income (loss) (87,681)     5,421,284 -             5,333,603 

Rent income 8,490        -           -             8,490        
Interest income 2,253        99            -             2,352        
Other income 695          -           -             695          

Total other income 11,438        99              -             11,537        

Net income (loss) $ (76,243)       $ 5,421,383   $ -             $ 5,345,140   

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS' ASSOCIATION
COMBINING STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012
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ACCOUNTANT’S COMPILATION REPORT 
 
 
To the Stockholders and Partners 
 P.E.P, Inc. and Port Everglades Forecast Pilots’ Association 
  Fort Lauderdale, Florida 
 
 
  We have compiled the accompanying forecasted combined balance sheets, statements of income, 
changes  in  stockholders’  and  partners’  equity,  and  cash  flows  of  P.E.P,  Inc.  and  Port  Everglades 
Forecast  Pilots’  Association  as  of December  31,  2014  and  2015,  and  for  the  years  then  ending,  in 
accordance  with  attestation  standards  established  by  the  American  Institute  of  Certified  Public 
Accountants. 
 
  A  compilation  is  limited  to  presenting  in  the  form  of  a  forecast  information  that  is  the 
representation of management and does not  include evaluation of  the  support  for  the assumptions 
underlying  the  forecast. We  have  not  examined  the  forecast  and,  accordingly,  do  not  express  an 
opinion  or  any  other  form  of  assurance  on  the  accompanying  statements  or  assumptions.  
Furthermore,  there will  usually  be  differences  between  the  forecasted  and  actual  results,  because 
events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be material.  
We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date 
of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 

KEEFE McCULLOUGH 
 
 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 
November 18, 2014 
 
 



 

See summary of significant accounting policies and assumptions and accountant’s report. 
 
2 

A S S E T S 

2014 2015

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 66,748         $ 70,136        
Accounts receivable 1,436,567   1,412,149  
Prepaid expenses  20,015         21,416        

Total current assets 1,523,330   1,503,701  

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 148,193       79,023        

Total assets $ 1,671,523   $ 1,582,724  

L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  S T O C K H O L D E R S'  A N D  P A R T N E R S'  E Q U I T Y

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 407,968       $ 408,984      
Accrued expenses 19,343         19,826        
Current portion of debt 36,524         38,777        

Total current liabilities 463,835       467,587      

LONG‐TERM LIABILITIES:
Debt, less current portion 116,260       77,483        
Deposits 725               725             

Total long‐term liabilities 116,985       78,208        

Total liabilities 580,820       545,795      

STOCKHOLDERS' AND PARTNERS' EQUITY:
Capital stock, 5,500 shares of $ 1 par value common stock
 authorized, 3,150 shares issued and outstanding 3,150            3,150          
Additional paid‐in capital 183,504       183,504      
Treasury stock (283,439)     (283,439)    
Retained earnings and partners' capital 1,187,488   1,133,714  

Total stockholders' and partners' equity 1,090,703   1,036,929  

Total liabilities and stockholders' 
 and partners' equity $ 1,671,523   $ 1,582,724  

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS' ASSOCIATION
FORECASTED COMBINING BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2014 and 2015
(COMPILED)

 
 



 

See summary of significant accounting policies and assumptions and accountant’s report. 
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2014 2015

OPERATING REVENUE:
Service revenue $ 11,492,537 $ 11,297,190

Total operating revenue 11,492,537 11,297,190

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Payments to retired pilots 2,298,507   2,260,919  
Salaries 1,365,403   1,399,498  
Insurance expense 960,700       1,027,949  
Professional fees 296,000       348,800      
Pension plan expense 232,119       237,915      
Florida state association dues 229,851       226,092      
Fuel 189,000       193,725      
Deputy salaries 184,093       140,400      
Licenses and taxes 151,335       155,118      
Repairs and maintenance 137,000       140,425      
State Board of Pilots ‐ dues 80,448         79,132        
Provision for depreciation 77,629         69,170        
Continuing education 40,600         48,600        
Office expense 26,000         26,650        
Telephone 24,000         24,600        
Business development 19,000         19,475        
Boat supplies 13,000         13,325        
Utilities 12,500         12,813        
Interest expense 10,295         8,174          
Dues and subscriptions 9,800           10,045        
Contributions 8,500           8,713          
Travel 7,800           7,995          
Vehicle expense 750               769             
Drug testing 650               666             

Total operating expenses 6,374,980   6,460,968  

Net operating income 5,117,557   4,836,222  

OTHER INCOME:
Rent income 8,490           8,490          
Interest income 1,514           1,514          

Total other income 10,004         10,004        

Net income  $ 5,127,561   $ 4,846,226  

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS' ASSOCIATION
FORECASTED COMBINED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the Years Ending December 31, 2014 and 2015

 



 

See summary of significant accounting policies and assumptions and accountant’s report. 
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Retained
Additional Earnings

Capital Paid‐in Treasury and Partners'
Stock Capital Stock Capital Total

STOCKHOLDERS' AND 
 PARTNERS' EQUITY
 January 1, 2014 $ 3,150 $ 183,504 $ (283,439) $ 1,309,927 $ 1,213,142

Net income ‐                 ‐                ‐                5,127,561 5,127,561

Distributions to partners
 and stockholders ‐                 ‐                ‐                (5,250,000) (5,250,000)

STOCKHOLDERS' AND 
 PARTNERS' EQUITY
 December 31, 2014 3,150 183,504 (283,439) 1,187,488 1,090,703

Net income ‐                 ‐                ‐                4,846,226 4,846,226

Distributions to partners
 and stockholders ‐                 ‐                ‐                (4,900,000) (4,900,000)

STOCKHOLDERS' AND 
 PARTNERS' EQUITY
 December 31, 2015 $ 3,150 $ 183,504 $ (283,439) $ 1,133,714 $ 1,036,929

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS' ASSOCIATION 
FORECASTED COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' AND PARTNERS' EQUITY

For the Years Ending December 31, 2014 and 2015
(COMPILED)



 

See summary of significant accounting policies and assumptions and accountant’s report. 
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2014 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 5,127,561 $ 4,846,226
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
 by operating activities:
 Provision for depreciation 77,629 69,170
 Changes in assets and liabilities:
  (Increase) decrease in accounts receivables 72,461 24,418
  (Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (4,765) (1,401)
  Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 9,675 1,016
  Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses (6,210) 483

Net cash provided by operating activities 5,276,351 4,939,912

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Principal payments on debt (34,346)       (36,524)      
Distributions to partners and stockholders (5,250,000)  (4,900,000) 

Net cash used in financing activities (5,284,346)  (4,936,524) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash 
 and cash equivalents (7,995)          3,388          

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, January 1 74,743         66,748        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, December 31 $ 66,748         $ 70,136        

P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS' ASSOCIATION
FORECASTED COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ending December 31, 2014 and 2015
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P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS’ ASSOCIATION  
NOTES TO FORECASTED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(COMPILED) 
December 31, 2014 and 2015 

 
 
NOTE 1 ‐ ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS 
 

  P.E.P.,  Inc.  (the  “Corporation”) and Port Everglades Pilots’ Association  (the  “Partnership”) 
(together  the  “Company”)  pilots  ships  and  vessels  into  and  out  of  Port  Everglades,  Florida  (the 
“Port”).   The Company  is regulated by the Florida Department of Professional Regulation (“DPR”). 
The DPR’s Pilotage Rate Review Board regulates the fee setting policy used by the Company. 

 
 
NOTE 2 ‐ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 

  The  summary  of  significant  accounting  policies  and  assumptions  of  the  Company  is 
presented  to  assist  in  understanding  the  Company’s  forecasted  combined  financial  statements.  
These  accounting  policies  conform  to  generally  accepted  accounting  principles  and  have  been 
consistently applied in the preparation of the forecasted combined financial statements. 

 
  Principles of combination: 
 

  The  accompanying  forecasted  combined  financial  statements  have  been  prepared  in 
conformity with accounting practices prescribed or permitted by  the Department of Professional 
Regulation  of  the  State  of  Florida  (the  “Department”)  pursuant  to  Florida  Statutes  Section  310, 
Pilots,  Piloting  and  Pilotage  currently  in  effect.    The  forecasted  combined  financial  statements 
include  the accounts of  the Partnership  and  the Corporation. The Pilots of  the Partnership own 
shares  in  the  Corporation.  All  significant  intercompany  accounts  and  transactions  have  been 
eliminated in combination. 

 
Recognition of income: 

 
  Revenue from services is recognized when the service is provided to the customer. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents: 
 
  For  purposes  of  the  statements  of  cash  flows,  the  Company  considers  all  highly  liquid 
investments  with  an  original  maturity  of  three  months  or  less  when  purchased  to  be  cash 
equivalents.   The Company maintains cash balances at one financial  institution which occasionally 
exceeds Federally insured amounts. 
 
Accounts receivable 
 
  Accounts receivable consists of estimated amounts due  for service revenues estimated  to 
be outstanding at  the end of each year based on  forty‐five  (45) days of  total estimated  services 
performed for the year.    
 
Direct write‐off method used to record bad debts: 
 
  The Company has elected to record bad debts using the direct write‐off method.  Generally 
accepted accounting principles require that the allowance method be used to recognize bad debts; 
however, the effect of using the direct write‐off method is not materially different from the results 
that would have been obtained under the allowance method. 
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P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS’ ASSOCIATION  
NOTES TO FORECASTED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(COMPILED) 
December 31, 2014 and 2015 

 
 
NOTE 2 ‐ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT POLICIES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued) 
 
  Prepaid expenses: 
 

  Prepaid expenses consist of estimated amounts paid  for  insurance expenses estimated  to 
be  purchased  for  the  following  year  based  on  fifteen  (15)  days  of  total  estimated  insurance 
expense for the year.     

 
  Provision for depreciation: 
 

  Property  and  equipment  are  stated  at  cost.  Depreciation  of  property  and  equipment  is 
provided using straight‐line methods over the following estimated useful lives: 

 
  Boats and docks  5 years 
  Radio equipment  5 years 
  Building and improvements  7‐25 years 
  Office furniture and equipment  5‐7 years 
  Software  5 years 
 

  Expenditures for major renewals and betterments that extend the useful  lives of the asset 
are capitalized. The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to operating expense as incurred. 
 
Accounts payable: 
 
  Accounts payable consist of the following amounts: 
 

 Payments  to  retired  pilots, which  is  calculated  as  1.70%  of  the  estimated 
accounts receivable at year end for 12 pilots; 
 

 Florida State Association dues calculated as 1.50% of the estimated accounts 
receivable at year end; 

 
 State Board of Pilots dues    calculated  as  0.70% of  the  estimated  accounts 

receivable at year end; and  
 

 Other services based on thirty (30) days of total estimated services  incurred 
for the year. 

 
Accrued expenses: 
 
  Accrued expenses represent pension plan benefit contributions outstanding based on thirty 
(30) days of estimated benefits incurred during the year. 
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P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS’ ASSOCIATION  
NOTES TO FORECASTED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(COMPILED) 
          December 31, 2014 and 2015 
 
 

NOTE 2 ‐ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT POLICIES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued) 
 
Revenues: 
 
  Revenues  for  current  operations  are  based  on  expected  traffic  patterns  for  each  of  the 
Company’s segments.  The forecasted revenue for each segment is summarized in the table below: 
 

2014 2015

Passenger $ 5,953,019 $ 5,540,931
Container 4,017,848 4,056,264
Tanker/tug barge 1,266,421 1,414,846
Bulk 166,739 190,082
Yacht 36,182 41,034
Freighter 31,360 35,750
Navy 11,031 12,575
Research 9,937 5,708

$ 11,492,537 $ 11,297,190

 
Expenses: 
 
  Most  operating  expenses  are  based  on management’s  past  experience  of  the  expected 
costs necessary to conduct business, as well as considering actual expenses incurred to date in year 
2014 and forecasted expected costs for the remainder of the year.  These expenses are adjusted to 
account  for  cost  of  living  adjustments  in  year  2015.    Payments  to  retired  pilots,  Florida  State 
Association  dues  and  State  Board  of  Pilots  –  dues  are  calculated  as  20%,,  2%  and  .7%  of  the 
forecasted annual service revenue, respectively.  Pension plan expense is calculated at 17% of the 
forecasted  salary  expense.  Health  insurance  expense  (included  within  insurance  expense)  is 
calculated based on the average health insurance increase over the last five years.   
 
Provision for income taxes: 
 
  The Partnership does not pay or  incur  income  taxes. The  individual partners  report  their 
proportionate share of Partnership earnings and losses on their individual tax returns. 
 
  The  Corporation  has  elected, with  the  consent  of  its  stockholders,  to  be  taxed  as  an  S 
Corporation.  The  election  provides  that  in  lieu  of  corporate  income  taxes,  the  stockholders  are 
levied income taxes on their proportionate share of the corporation’s taxable income. 
 
  Accordingly, these forecasted combined financial statements do not reflect a provision or a 
liability for Federal or state income taxes. 
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P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS’ ASSOCIATION  
NOTES TO FORECASTED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(COMPILED) 
December 31, 2014 and 2015 

 
 
NOTE 2 ‐ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT POLICIES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued) 
 

Use of estimates: 
 
  The preparation of  forecasted combined  financial statements  in conformity with generally 
accepted  accounting  principles  requires management  to make  estimates  and  assumptions  that 
affect  the  reported  amounts  of  assets  and  liabilities  and  disclosure  of  contingent  assets  and 
liabilities at the date of the combined financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
 

NOTE 3 ‐ RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

  The Corporation has a note payable  to a  former stockholder of  the Corporation  (Note 5). 
Interest expense incurred by the Corporation related to this note was $ 10,295 and $ 8,174 for the 
years ending December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively.    
 
  The  Partnership  derives  substantially  all  of  its  revenues  from  services  rendered  by  the 
partners who are pilots licensed by the Florida DPR. 
 
  The Partnership engaged the Corporation to provide equipment and services necessary to 
carry  out  the  business  activity.   All  the  service  revenue  derived  by  the Corporation  is  from  the 
Partnership  under  a  thirty  year  contract  that  expires  in  2026.    The  contract  sets  forth  the  fees 
charged by the Corporation and the related annual increases based on a percentage of the increase 
in the Consumer Price Index. 

 
 
NOTE 4 ‐ PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  
 

  Property and equipment consist of the following: 

   

2014 2015

Boats and docks $ 1,559,975 $ 1,559,975
Radio equipment 96,548 96,548
Building and improvements 71,558 71,558
Office furniture and equipment 39,467 39,467
Software 9,590 9,590

1,777,138 1,777,138
Less accumulated depreciation 1,671,669 1,740,839

105,469 36,299
Land 42,724 42,724

$ 148,193 $ 79,023
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P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS’ ASSOCIATION  
NOTES TO FORECASTED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(COMPILED) 
December 31, 2014 and 2015 

 
NOTE 5 – DEBT 
 

  Debt is summarized as follows: 
 

 
  Estimated future debt principal payments in the aggregate are approximately as follows: 

 

Year Ending
December 31,

2015 $ 36,500         
2016 $ 38,800         
2017 $ 41,200         
2018 $ 36,200         

Thereafter $ NONE

 
 

NOTE 6 ‐ EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 
 

  The  Corporation  has  a  pension  plan  covering  all  employees.    The  Corporation’s  funding 
policy is to make annual contributions to the plan equal to a percentage of the participants’ annual 
compensation. The contributions for the years ending December 31, 2014 and 2015 are forecasted 
to be $ 232,119 and $ 237,915, respectively. 

 
 

NOTE 7 ‐ PAYMENTS TO RETIRED PILOTS 
 

  There  is  no  provision  for  a  funded  pension  for  inactive  pilots.  However,  a  formal 
arrangement exists providing for compensation to pilots when they retire from active service.  The 
amount  of  compensation  is  determined  by  a  formula  involving  a  percentage  of  gross  service 
revenue collected. For  the years ending December 31, 2014 and 2015 payments  to retired pilots 
are forecasted to be $ 2,298,507 and $ 2,260,919, respectively.  

 
 
NOTE 8 ‐ STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS ‐ COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS OF ACTIVE PILOTS 
 

  Florida  Statute  (Section  310.151(5)(b)(2))  requires  a  determination  of  the  average  net 
income  of  pilots  in  the  Port.    The  Partnership makes  distributions  to  it  partners,  the  pilots,  for 
pilotage  services. The Corporation and  the Partnership do not employ any  full‐time professional 
administrative or technical employees.   These responsibilities are assigned to the  individual pilots 
and represent work requirements over and above normal piloting function.  The Corporation pays 
each pilot a salary for performing these assigned additional duties, and in addition pays the related 
benefits (health insurance and retirement plan contributions). 

    2014      2015
         
  Note payable to a former shareholder in monthly 

installments of $ 3,275, including interest at 6.0% 
until October 2018 (Note 3). $ 152,784    $  116,260

    152,784      116,260
  Less current portion  36,524      38,777
         
    $ 116,260    $  77,483
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P.E.P., INC. AND PORT EVERGLADES PILOTS’ ASSOCIATION  

NOTES TO FORECASTED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(COMPILED) 

December 31, 2014 and 2015 
 
 

NOTE 8 ‐ STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS ‐ COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS OF ACTIVE PILOTS (continued) 
 
  The following table summarizes the average forecasted total compensation per active pilot 
for the years ending December 31: 

   

2014 2015
Administrative and technical salaries
 paid to pilots $ 850,318 $ 871,536
Net operating income 5,117,557 4,836,222

Total compensation to pilots $ 5,967,875 $ 5,707,758

 Number of licensed active pilots 17 18.5

Average total salaries, fees and 
 distributions per active pilot $ 351,051 $ 308,527
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Appendix E



PORTS AND WATERWAYS SAFETY ASSESSMENTS 
(PAWSA) 

FINAL REPORT 
 

Executive 
Summary 

Ports and Waterways Safety Assessment (PAWSA) workshops were 
completed in 28 ports around the United States between August 1999 
and June 2001.  Those PAWSA workshops were conducted to support 
the Office of Vessel Traffic Management (G-MWV) and the Vessel 
Traffic Services Project Manager (G-AVT) in their efforts to evaluate 
the need for and plan future vessel traffic management (VTM) projects, 
including installation and upgrades to Vessel Traffic Services (VTS).  
The PAWSA process also was designed to provide the Captain of the 
Port and local maritime community with a risk level baseline and a 
formal risk assessment process which can be used on a recurring basis 
to measure the effectiveness of VTM mitigations within their port. 

This report is the end product of a risk-based decision-making process 
established to ensure the safety of vessel traffic in U.S. ports and 
waterways in ways that meet waterway user and stakeholder needs.  In 
addition to an overview of the PAWSA process, this report provides a 
comparative analysis of the quantitative and qualitative data collected 
from each port and general recommendations for national level VTM 
improvements based on that analysis.  An appendix to this report for 
each port in which a PAWSA workshop was completed, organized by 
Coast Guard District, provides more detail about port safety risks and 
recommended risk mitigation strategies at the local and regional levels. 

The PAWSA process uses a Port Risk Model that was conceived by a 
National Dialogue Group on National Needs for Vessel Traffic 
Services (NDG) which convened in May 1998 under the auspices of the 
Marine Board of the National Research Council.  That Port Risk Model 
includes twenty risk factors that affect port and waterway safety and 
which the NDG thought should be considered before establishing a 
VTS.  Using those twenty risk factors, Dr. Jack Harrald of George 
Washington University and Dr. Jason Merrick of Virginia 
Commonwealth University created the PAWSA assessment 
methodology, which was based on the Analytical Hierarchy Process 
(AHP).  AHP was developed by Dr. T. L. Saaty at the Wharton School 
of the University of Pennsylvania and is widely used in business and 
government situations where diverse groups of individuals need to 
reach consensus and/or make decisions on complex issues. 

After analyzing all of the information obtained during the 28 PAWSA 
workshops, key recommendations emerged with respect to AIS carriage 
requirements, precision navigation equipment, and VTS / VTIS. 

 



PAWSA Final Report 

 

Executive 
Summary 
(continued) 

AIS Carriage.  The Coast Guard should propose regulations which 
apply domestic carriage requirements for Automatic Identification 
Systems (AIS) to all commercial vessels, regardless of length or 
tonnage.  In addition, domestic and Canadian AIS carriage 
requirements need to be harmonized.  There are a number of risk 
factors which AIS helps to mitigate.  Virtually all of those risk factors 
are common to every port in the United States.  Risk levels for those 
factors are particularly high in: 

Berwick Bay, LA 
Honolulu, HI 
Lake Charles, LA 
Los Angeles / Long Beach, CA 
Pascagoula, MS 
Port Arthur, TX 
Port Everglades, FL 
San Juan, PR 

Precision Navigation Equipment.  United States and International 
Maritime Organization (IMO) standards for Electronic Chart Display 
Information Systems (ECDIS) need to be aligned.  In addition, the 
Coast Guard should provide incentives for all commercial vessels, 
regardless of length or tonnage, to install and use precision navigation 
equipment (e.g., Differential Global Positioning System (DGPS), 
ECDIS).  As with AIS carriage, there are a number of risk factors 
which precision navigation equipment helps to mitigate.  Virtually all 
of those risk factors also are common to every port in the United States.  
Risk levels for those factors are particularly high in: 

Berwick Bay, LA 
Miami, FL 
Port Everglades, FL 

Vessel Traffic Service (VTS) / Vessel Traffic Information Service 
(VTIS).  Establish / improve VTS or VTIS.  Note: none of the ports 
listed below has an established VTS or formal VTIS, although the port 
authorities in Port Everglades, San Juan, and Honolulu already exercise 
some control over vessel movements in their respective waterways.  As 
with AIS carriage and precision navigation equipment, there are a 
number of risk factors which a VTS or VTIS helps to mitigate.  
Virtually all of those risk factors also are common to every port in the 
United States.  Risk levels for those factors are particularly high in: 

Honolulu, HI 
Pascagoula, MS 
Port Everglades, FL 
Port Arthur, TX 
San Juan, PR 
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Introduction This report summarizes the results from 28 Ports and Waterways Safety 
Assessment (PAWSA) workshops which were completed in ports 
around the United States between August 1999 and June 2001.  Those 
PAWSA workshops were conducted to support the Coast Guard Office 
of Vessel Traffic Management (G-MWV) and the Coast Guard Vessel 
Traffic Services Project Manager (G-AVT) in their efforts to evaluate 
the need for and plan future vessel traffic management (VTM) projects, 
including installation and upgrades to Vessel Traffic Services (VTS).  
This report is the end product of a risk-based decision-making process 
established to meet the shared government, industry, and public goal of 
ensuring the safety of vessel traffic in U.S. ports and waterways, in 
technologically sound and cost effective ways that meet the needs of 
waterway users and stakeholders. 

In addition to an overview of the PAWSA process, this report provides 
a comparative analysis of the quantitative and qualitative data collected 
from each port and general recommendations for national level VTM 
improvements based on that analysis.  There is an appendix to this 
report for each port in which a PAWSA workshop was completed.  
Those appendices are organized by Coast Guard District and provide 
more detail about the port safety risks and recommended risk 
mitigation strategies that workshop participants identified as 
appropriate for their port. 

Background Over the past few years, the Coast Guard acquisition program has seen 
tremendous change with respect to the decision making approach for 
acquisition of Vessel Traffic Services.  In September 1996, Congress 
terminated VTS 2000 contracts and, through the 1997 Appropriations 
Bill, directed the Coast Guard to identify minimum user requirements 
for new VTS systems in consultation with local officials, waterways 
users and port authorities and also to review private/public partnership 
opportunities in VTS operations.  As a result of this Congressional 
direction, the Coast Guard established the Ports and Waterways Safety 
System (PAWSS) program to address waterway user needs and place a 
greater emphasis on partnerships with industry to reduce risk in the 
marine environment. 

Before proceeding with a VTS acquisition under the PAWSS project, 
the Coast Guard sought to identify those ports and waterways where a 
shore based VTS or other VTM improvements were both necessary and 
appropriate for federal funding.  As an early step in that process, a 
National Dialogue Group on National Needs for Vessel Traffic 
Services was convened in May 1998 under the auspices of the Marine 
Board of the National Research Council.  Among many other findings, 
the National Dialogue Group identified twenty factors that affect port 
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Background 
(continued) 

and waterway safety and which should be considered before 
establishing a VTS. 

Those twenty risk factors were molded into a generic Port Risk Model 
by Dr. Jack Harrald of George Washington University and Dr. Jason 
Merrick of Virginia Commonwealth University.  The PAWSA 
assessment methodology developed by Drs. Harrald and Merrick was 
based on the Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP).  AHP was developed 
by Dr. T. L. Saaty at the Wharton School of the University of 
Pennsylvania and is widely used in business and government situations 
where diverse groups of individuals need to reach consensus and/or 
make decisions on complex issues. AHP algorithms convert individual 
preferences for alternatives into weights that can be used to compare 
and rank those alternatives.  Using the AHP algorithms and the Port 
Risk Model, a Microsoft Access® computer application was assembled 
by the Volpe Transportation Systems Center in Cambridge, MA for use 
during the quantitative assessment portions of the PAWSA workshops.  

Port Risk Model In the Port Risk Model, risk is defined as a function of the probability 
of a casualty and its consequences. Consequently, the model includes 
variables associated with both the causes and the effects of vessel 
casualties.  The twenty port safety risk factors are grouped into one of 
six categories, as follows: 
 

Fleet 
Composition 

Traffic 
Conditions 

Navigational 
Conditions 

Waterway 
Configuration

Immediate 
Consequences 

Subsequent 
Consequences 

Percentage of 
High Risk 

 Deep Draft 

Volume of  
Deep Draft 

Vessels 

Wind 
Conditions 

Visibility 
Obstructions 

Number of 
People on 
Waterway 

Economic 
Impacts 

Percentage of 
High Risk 

Shallow Draft 

Volume of 
Shallow Draft

Vessels 

Visibility 
Conditions 

Channel 
Width 

Volume of 
Petroleum 
Cargoes 

Environmental 
Impacts 

  
Volume of 
Fishing & 

Pleasure Craft 

Tide & River 
Currents 

Bottom 
Type 

Volume of 
Hazardous 
Chemical 
Cargoes 

Health & Safety 
Impacts 

 Traffic 
Density 

Ice 
Conditions 

Waterway 
Complexity   
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Goals, Purpose 
and Objectives 

Based on National Dialogue Group recommendations, a series of in-
depth, user focused PAWSA workshops were conducted around the 
country, using the Port Risk Model to frame participant discussions and 
computer algorithms to translate expert opinions into quantified data.  
Those assessments were conducted to identify, from the perspective of 
those most affected, the major risk drivers in each port visited and the 
VTM measures that could be appropriate to reduce that risk.  The long-
term goals of the PAWSA process were: 

• Provide input to G-MWV and G-AVT to assist in planning for 
future VTM projects, including VTS. 

• Further the Marine Transportation System (MTS) goals of 
improved coordination and cooperation between government and 
the private sector, and of involving stakeholders in decisions 
affecting them.  

• Foster development / strengthen role of Harbor Safety Committees 
(HSC) with each port. 

• Support and reinforce the role of Coast Guard Captains of the Port 
(COTP) in waterway and vessel traffic management within their 
assigned geographic areas of responsibility. 

• Develop a risk assessment methodology usable by COTPs without 
professional facilitator support. 

 
The short-term goals of the PAWSA process were: 

• Educate port communities about available VTM tools, including the 
concept of public/private partnerships and the status of Automatic 
Identification System (AIS) implementation. 

• Familiarize Marine Safety Office (MSO) staffs with vessel traffic 
management concepts and the expanding role of the COTP in 
VTM. 

• Educate the diverse members of port communities about structured 
risk-based assessment methodologies. 

• Develop port-specific snapshots of perceived risks and desired 
mitigations which can be used by: 

– COTPs for pursuing HSC and waterway user involvement in 
planning port and waterway improvements. 

– G-MWV for near-term program planning. 

• G-MWV and G-AVT in the selection of candidate ports for future 
PAWSS installations. 
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Goals, Purpose 
and Objectives 
(continued) 

The purpose of the PAWSA workshop incorporates three main 
objectives:  

• Get input from port experts and stakeholders to help calibrate the 
national Port Risk Model. 

• Identify and rank risks in each port. 

• Determine the most appropriate Vessel Traffic Management risk 
mitigation measures from the perspective of port stakeholders. 

 
The ultimate objective of the PAWSA process is make ports safer for 
all users and stakeholders, thereby contributing to the overall vitality of 
the United States marine transportation system. 

Ports Selection 
Criteria 

In developing the initial list of ports in which to conduct PAWSA 
workshops, G-MWV identified all U.S. “ports” which handle more 
than 1 million tons of cargo per year according to the 1995 U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers (USACE) Waterborne Commerce of the United 
States publication.  Based on that criteria, 145 “ports” were identified.  
However, examining that list disclosed that many of these “ports” were 
really just discrete locations for which the USACE captures data within 
a larger geographic locality that is more traditionally considered to be 
the port for that area.  When those discrete localities were grouped 
together by traditional port boundaries, 61 geographically defined port 
areas resulted.  Most of those port areas were encompassed within a 
single COTP zone.  After those 61 port areas were identified, data was 
collected from numerous sources about each one.  That data included 
accident/incident history, the numbers and types of vessels using the 
port, weather conditions, waterway characteristics (e.g., configuration 
and complexity), and cargo types and volume.  Each of those data 
elements was thought to bear some relationship to one or more of the 
risk factors included in the Port Risk Model.  A comparative analysis of 
that data resulted in a preliminary ranking of the 61 ports.  In ultimately 
deciding which ports to visit, variations from the prioritized list of 61 
occurred for three reasons: 
 
• The COTP requested that a secondary port (either not high on the 

list of 61 or not on the list at all) be assessed in conjunction with the 
assessment of a primary port which was high on the list.  This was 
why Pascagoula, Port Lavaca, Port Fourchon, Port Everglades, 
Ponce, and Coos Bay were assessed. 

• The COTP, having heard from peers about the value of the PAWSA 
workshops, requested that a workshop be conducted for the major 
port in his/her zone, but which was not high on the list of 61.  This 
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Ports Selection 
Criteria 
(continued) 

is why Portland, ME, Honolulu, San Juan, Sault Ste. Marie, Cook 
Inlet, and Lake Charles were assessed.  

• Due to either the plethora of recent studies completed in a port, a 
request from the COTP, or other factors, G-MWV decided to skip 
doing a PAWSA in a port that was high on the list of 61.  This was 
why the Lower Mississippi River, New York, Puget Sound, the 
Tennessee River, Lake Erie, Lake Michigan, Tampa, Jacksonville, 
and Prince William Sound were NOT assessed. 

Ports Visited Ports visited, arranged by the geographic regions in which they are 
located, were as follows: 
 
East Coast 
Baltimore, Maryland 21 - 22 February 2001 
Boston, Massachusetts 19 - 20 June 2000 
Charleston, South Carolina 13 - 14 October 1999 
Hampton Roads, Virginia 27 - 28 June 2001 
Miami, Florida 24 - 25 July 2000 
Port Everglades, Florida 26 - 27 July 2000 
Portland, Maine   1 -   2 May 2001 

 
Great Lakes 
Sault Ste. Marie, Michigan 23 - 24 May 2000 

 
Gulf Coast 
Corpus Christi, Texas 30 - 31 August 1999 
Mobile, Alabama   9 - 10 August 1999 
Pascagoula, Mississippi 11 - 12 August 1999 
Port Fourchon, Louisiana   5 -   6 April 2000 
Port Lavaca, Texas   1 -   2 September 1999 
Texas City, Texas         21 August 2000 

 
Island Ports 
Honolulu, Hawaii 13 - 14 December 1999 
Ponce, Puerto Rico   9 - 10 February 2000 
San Juan, Puerto Rico   7 -   8 February 2000 

 
River Ports 
Berwick Bay, Louisiana   3 -   4 April 2000 
Cincinnati, Ohio        18 January 2001 
Houston / Galveston, Texas 25 - 26 January 2000 
Lake Charles, Louisiana 25 - 26 April 2000 
Lower Columbia River 11 - 12 September 2000 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania * 11 - 12 December 2000 
Port Arthur, Texas 22 - 23 September 1999  
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Ports Visited 
(continued) 

West Coast 
Cook Inlet, Alaska 10 - 11 October 2000 
Coos Bay, Oregon           7 September 2000 
Los Angeles – Long Beach, California         21 March 2001 
San Francisco, California 16 - 17 November 1999 

 
* Though visited, the Philadelphia PAWSA was NOT completed due to 
the unwillingness of the workshop attendees to identify risks in their 
port out of fear that doing so would put them at a competitive 
disadvantage with respect to other ports in that region. 

Geographic 
Distribution of 
Ports Visited  

The following table shows the geographic distribution of the 61 ports 
on the initial list compared to the distribution of the 28 ports visited.  
As can be seen, the Gulf Coast is over-represented and the Great Lakes 
are under-represented in the ports visited. 
 
 Ports Initial List Visited 
 Category Count Percentage Count Percentage 
 East Coast 15   24% 7   25% 
 Gulf Coast   6   10% 6   21% 
 Great Lakes   5     8% 1     4% 
 River Ports 20   33% 8   25% 
 Island Ports   6   10% 3   11% 
 West Coast   9   15% 4   14% 
Totals 61 100% 28 100%  

Overview of the 
PAWSA Process 

The PAWSA process for each port began with G-MWV notification to 
the COTP that one of the ports in his/her zone had been scheduled for a 
workshop several months hence.  A guidebook was sent to the COTP 
explaining the PAWSA process and laying out the logistical steps 
needed to organize the workshop.  A consulting firm specializing in 
workshop facilitation services arranged for use of appropriate meeting 
facilities in each port, usually at a hotel or conference center.  

Workshop participants usually met for a 4 hour session on the 
afternoon of the first day followed by an 8 hour session on the second 
day.  This session length was chosen in recognition that the participants 
were busy people in responsible positions and that asking for more time 
might well preclude attendance.  While feedback on the workshop 
critiques indicated that the session length was about right (comments 
were balanced that the workshop was too long or too short), four ports 
only had one day available to conduct the PAWSA.  In those four ports, 
an abbreviated PAWSA was completed in one 8 hour session. 
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Overview of the 
PAWSA Process 
(continued) 

Every workshop included opening presentations about PAWSA 
concepts, a briefing on the Port Risk Model which was used to frame 
discussions, discussion and evaluation of risk levels in the port, 
discussion of risk mitigation strategies (existing and needed), 
evaluation of the effectiveness of various VTM tools in reducing 
unmitigated risk, and a critique.  Most workshops also included a 
participant expertise self-assessment segment and provided input for a 
national weighting scheme for the Port Risk Model.  Numerical inputs 
were captured in a series of quantitative assessment questionnaires, 
collectively known as Books 1 through 5. 

Participant 
Selection 

The COTP, with his/her in depth knowledge, understanding, and 
familiarity with key members of the local port community, was tasked 
with advertising the forthcoming PAWSA, then identifying and 
inviting workshop participants.  Often this was accomplished through 
the COTP’s contacts with the port’s Harbor Safety Committee or 
equivalent organization. 

The PAWSA process was conceived as a forum for waterway user 
experts (i.e., ship captains, pilots, and boat operators) to discuss port 
and vessel safety issues.  From the outset, however, COTPs included 
other waterway stakeholders (e.g., shore facility operators, port 
captains, port authorities, environmentalists) in the workshop 
participant mix.  This broader port community representation turned 
out well, as stakeholder participants often had expertise in marine 
casualty consequences that ship and boat operators did not possess. 

A typical PAWSA panel included waterway user and stakeholder 
experts representing: 
 
• Commercial fishing or fishing charter operators 
• Dinner cruise and other small passenger vessel operators 
• Environmental interest organizations 
• Ferry operators 
• Marine police and firefighters  
• Local / state officials with waterways management responsibilities 
• Pilots and deep draft vessel officers 
• Port authorities 
• Recreational boat operators, often represented by USCG Auxiliary 
• Terminal operators  
• Tug and towboat operators  
• USACE and NOAA project planners 
• USCG buoy tender or patrol boat commanding officers 
• USCG marine inspectors and marine casualty investigators 
• USCG small boat station personnel 
• U.S. Navy afloat community representatives 
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Participant 
Selection 
(continued) 

To ensure effective facilitation of the PAWSA, the number of panel 
participants was limited to 30; typical workshop size was between 20 – 
26, resulting in 10-13 two person teams.  Observers were sometimes 
present, although their direct participation in the deliberations was very 
limited.  Coast Guard participants normally were limited to two or three 
teams.  The COTP sometimes was an active team member, though 
more typically he assumed an observer role. 

The participants were assigned to homogeneous teams, e.g., two tug 
captains might be paired together or two representatives from 
environmental organizations might become a team.  The intent was that 
all members of a particular team share a similar perspective on issues 
within the port.  Ideal team size was two people; occasionally one 
person or three people would form a “team” if demographics of the 
workshop participants necessitated those arrangements. 

The make-up of most panels was representative of Harbor Safety 
Committees within ports throughout the country.  Consequently, deep 
draft commercial vessel interests were VERY strongly represented on 
all panels and most panels had only limited commercial fishing and 
recreational boating representation.  Every panel had at least one team 
with a strong environmentalist perspective. 

Session 
Introduction 

Each PAWSA began with a background presentation on why the 
workshop was being held, followed by a detailed briefing on the Port 
Risk Model and the methodology to be employed.  Those presentations 
were made by professional meeting facilitators and G-MWV staff.  
These briefings introduced the port community to the formal risk 
assessment process and educated them on the latest VTM tools and 
technologies available.  This was important because of the considerable 
differences in experience and knowledge between participants. 

Book 1 –  
Generic Risk 
Category Weights 
 
and 
 
Book 2 –  
Generic Risk 
Factor Weights 

In most of the workshops, the participant teams then used the AHP 
methodology to evaluate how much each Port Risk Model category and 
risk factor contributed to overall risk in a generic port.  Those inputs 
were intended to provide a national weighting scheme for the factors in 
the model.  The assessment tools used to gather this data took the form 
of questionnaire books in which the participant teams circled a number 
corresponding to their choice. For the risk category weighting input, the 
assessment questionnaire was known as Book 1.  For the risk factor 
weighting input, the questionnaire was known as Book 2. 

Because of time constraints, Books 1 and 2 were NOT done for: 

Cincinnati  Los Angeles – Long Beach  
Coos Bay Texas City 
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Book 3 –  
Generic Risk 
Factor Scales 

Next the participants calibrated a risk measurement scale for each risk 
factor by assigning numbers to four qualitative descriptions of risk 
levels.  This input was via a questionnaire known as Book 3.  The Book 
3 scales are a series of four numeric values between 1 and 9, inclusive.  
The greater the difference between the values assigned to two levels, 
the greater the difference in their effects on port safety.  

As an example, for the risk factor of Waterway Complexity, the four 
qualitative descriptors of risk, arranged in increasing risk level order, 
were as follows: 
 

A. Straight with NO crossing traffic 
B. Multiple turns over 15 degrees with NO crossing traffic  
C. Converging waterways with NO crossing traffic  
D. Converging waterways WITH crossing traffic 
 

Results from a particular port might have been: 
 
 A. 1.0 
 B. 2.8 
 C. 4.9 
 D. 9.0 

 
These values can be interpreted to mean that there is only a moderate 
increase in risk (1.8 point difference) between a straight waterway and 
a waterway with many turns, so long as there is no crossing traffic.  
Risk continues to increase at about the same rate (2.1 point difference) 
when converging waterways are added to the mix.  But, when crossing 
traffic enters the picture, risk increases dramatically, as shown by the 
jump from 4.9 to 9.0 (4.1 point difference). 

Two points distinguish Book 3 from Books 1 and 2.  First, Book 3 did 
not employ the AHP, which both ranks (or orders) and scales a group 
of alternatives.  Since Book 3 was designed so that the order of the 
levels being compared was already established (i.e., each level was 
increasingly more risky than the previous level), the AHP does not 
apply.  Second, Book 3 only included risk factors that are best 
characterized by discrete qualitative descriptors of possible conditions 
as they progress from less risky to more risky, as opposed to a 
continuous scale.  Thus, Book 3 only established risk measurement 
scales for the factors under the Navigational Conditions, Waterway 
Configuration, Immediate Consequences, and Subsequent 
Consequences categories in the Port Risk Model.  Risk factors under 
Fleet Composition and Traffic Conditions were measured using a 
different procedure, described below. 
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Book 4 – 
Estimating Risk 
In This Port 

The most important segment of the workshop followed these 
preliminary activities, wherein the participants were asked to discuss 
specific problems in the port relating to each Port Risk Model factor.  A 
note taker recorded the gist of those discussions, key elements of which 
are in each port’s appendix to this report.  After two to three hours of 
discussion, the participants used the risk measuring scales, previously 
created from Book 3 inputs, to numerically evaluate the risk levels in 
their port.  The risk level range for each factor was from 1 [Port Heaven 
– risk level doesn’t get any lower (better) than this] to 9 [Port Hell – 
risk level doesn’t get any higher (worse) than this]. For each of the risk 
factors in the two categories not covered by Book 3, participants simply 
circled the value on a 1 to 9 scale that corresponded to their perception 
of the risk level for that factor. The two risk level questionnaires used 
for this segment were known as Books 4A and 4B. 

Ultimately, the risk measuring scales (Book 3 inputs) from all 28 ports 
were used to produce a set of national scales.  Those national scales 
then were used to determine the final port risk levels (Book 4 results) 
presented in this report.  

Book 5 –  
VTM Tools 
Evaluation 

A discussion of existing risk mitigation strategies and appropriate ways 
to further reduce risk occurred next. Generally, workshops only 
discussed mitigations for those risk factors which had been evaluated as 
being above mid-range (5.0 on the 1 to 9 scale).  The gist of those 
discussions also were recorded by a note taker. Following that 
discussion session, the participants evaluated the efficacy and 
appropriateness of a selection of VTM measures for addressing 
unmitigated risk, i.e., risk that was not well-balanced by mitigation 
strategies already in place.  In this evaluation (Book 5), the participants 
had three choices: 

(1) risk level for this factor IS well-balanced by existing 
mitigations; 

(2) risk level is NOT well-balanced by existing mitigations and a 
specific VTM measure should be implemented to reduce risk; or 

(3) risk level is NOT well-balanced by existing mitigations and 
something else (non-VTM solution) should be implemented to 
reduce risk. 

 
As each numerical assessment (Book) was completed, the responses 
were entered into the PAWSA computer software.  Aggregated results 
were presented to the panel for validation before moving on to the next 
workshop segment. 
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Process Evolution The final step in each PAWSA workshop was for the participants to fill 
out a critique.  The critique asked a series of questions eliciting ways in 
which the workshop methodology, the presentations, the various 
assessment tools (Books), and the meeting facilities could be improved.  
Those critiques were formally evaluated after each session and 
appropriate changes made as directed by G-MWV.  Consequently, the 
overall approach and countless details were incrementally changed (and 
hopefully improved) after EVERY workshop, up to and including 
Hampton Roads.  Significant changes were: 

• After the first five ports the facilitation team and G-MWV became 
convinced that the VTM measures assessment tool (Books 5A thru 
5E) was cumbersome to administer and the results were sometimes 
inconclusive. An alternate approach was developed using Microsoft 
Excel® spreadsheets.  That alternate approach was used along with 
the original method in the next two ports (Charleston and San 
Francisco).  Based on critique input received at that point, the 
original methodology was dropped entirely and the Excel® 
spreadsheet approach was used for all subsequent ports. 

• The names used for two of the risk categories and several of the risk 
factors in the Port Risk Model developed by Drs. Harrald and 
Merrick proved to be somewhat confusing to workshop 
participants.  This manifested itself as questions asked / confusion 
expressed during the evaluation segments and as comments on the 
critiques.  Over time, those names were changed. 

– Short-term Consequences → Immediate Consequences 
– Long-term Consequences → Subsequent Consequences 
– % High Risk Deep Draft Cargo & Passenger Vessels → 

Percentage of High Risk Deep Draft 
– % High Risk Shallow Draft Cargo & Passenger Vessels → 

Percentage of High Risk Shallow Draft 
– Currents, Tides and Rivers → Tide & River Currents 
– Passing Arrangements → Channel Width 
– Channel and Bottom → Bottom Type 

• Recurring participant comments during the first eleven ports 
indicated that there should be some method for adjusting inputs 
based on the varying levels of expertise within each workshop 
panel.  Beginning with Berwick Bay, participant teams were asked 
to assess their expertise with respect to each category in the Port 
Risk Model.  Those expertise scores subsequently were used to 
mathematically weight each team’s input to the risk level (Book 4) 
and VTM tool selection (Book 5) evaluations. 
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Workshop Report 
and Strategy Plan 

Within several hours after each workshop ended, the facilitation team 
generated a Workshop Report which briefly described the PAWSA 
process, recorded the results from the quantitative assessments (Books 
1 to 5), and captured the gist of the participant discussions with respect 
to risks and appropriate risk mitigation strategies.  A draft of the 
Workshop Report was delivered to the COTP at a briefing the 
following morning.  After review and comment by the COTP, the 
Workshop Report was finalized and then formed the basis for a 
Strategy Plan, also drafted by the facilitation team.  Whereas the 
Workshop Report was intended as the minutes of the meeting for use 
by panel participants and the local Coast Guard staff, the Strategy Plan 
was intended as a medium to long-range planning document for seniors 
in the Coast Guard chain of command and other interests who were not 
present at the workshop.  The Strategy Plan also included 
recommendations based on facilitation team experiences with similar 
problems in other ports. 

Results and 
Analysis  

The following sections summarize findings from the workshops.  Those 
results are presented for each Book, with Book 4 broken down into a 
port to port comparison of the risk levels for each factor in the Port 
Risk Model.  

The ports visited were grouped by geographical region / location: East 
Coast, Gulf Coast, West Coast, river ports, and island ports.  An 
analysis of the Book 4 results showed that there were no statistically 
significant regional differences between risk levels for any factors in 
the Port Risk Model. 

Results and 
Analysis: Books 1 
and 2 

Books 1 and 2 were designed to gather data needed to establish a 
national weighting scheme for the Port Risk Model.  The initial 
expectation was that reasonably consistent data would be obtained from 
the first half-dozen or so ports visited, such that no subsequent inputs 
would be needed.  Analysis of weighting scheme inputs at that point 
indicated that a significant amount of variation was occurring within 
each panel (from team to team) and from panel to panel.  Consequently, 
data was collected from 24 of the 28 ports in which PAWSA 
workshops were conducted.  (Workshop time constraints precluded 
obtaining Book 1 and 2 inputs from the other four ports.)  Even with 
the larger data set, large port-to-port differences in weights assigned to 
each risk factor precluded development of a reliable national weighting 
scheme. 

To illustrate: one port said that Economic Impacts should be given a 
weight of 1.2 (out of a possible 100 total points for all factors) while 
another port said that factor should have a weight of 21.3.  The average 
weight across all 24 ports for Economic Impacts was 5.1, but the  
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Results and 
Analysis: Books 1 
and 2 
(continued) 

standard deviation (a measure of how much variation there was in the 
inputs) was 4.2.  Those statistics mean that there is a 90% chance that 
the “true” average is somewhere between 13.5 and – 3.3.  As the latter 
value is off the scale (less than zero) no “true” average exists.  Even in 
the best case example, for Volume of Shallow Draft, the range of inputs 
was from 0.9 to 5.8, the average was 2.7 and the standard deviation was 
1.2.  Therefore, there is a 90% chance that the “true” average lies 
somewhere between 0.2 and 5.1, which is not very useful information. 

Results and 
Analysis: Book 3 

Risk measuring scales for four of the six risk categories in the Port Risk 
Model were calibrated in all 28 ports visited.  Those risk measuring 
scales were used in the next step (Book 4A) of the local PAWSA 
process.  [Risk levels for the Fleet Composition and Traffic Conditions 
categories were measured directly in Book 4B on a loosely anchored 1 
(low risk) to 9 (high risk) point scale.]  The measured risk levels 
reported in the Workshop Report and Strategy Plan for each port were 
based on those locally developed scales.  Because each port used 
different scales to assess risk levels, those previously reported results 
can NOT be compared between ports. 

To correct for this difficulty, a national risk measuring scale was 
developed for each of the 14 risk factors addressed by Book 3.  This 
was done by averaging together the results from all 28 ports for each 
factor.  Contrary to the large variations from panel to panel that were 
seen in Book 1 and 2, there was very little variation from panel to panel 
for the Book 3 results.  The average standard deviation was only .30, 
which means that results reported below are accurate, with 90% 
confidence, to ± 3%. 

For the other 6 risk factors (under the Fleet Composition and Traffic 
Conditions categories), no correction was needed because they were 
measured directly on the same numerical scale. 

In preparing this report, the national scales were reapplied to the Book 
4 inputs, generating risk level results which CAN be compared from 
port to port. 

The national risk measuring scales use the following values.  The first 
qualitative risk level description, the “A” or Port Heaven descriptor in 
Book 4, is always assigned a value of 1.00.  Likewise, the last 
qualitative risk level description, the “D” or Port Hell descriptor, is 
always assigned a value of 9.00.  The first and second intermediate 
descriptors, the “B” and “C” values, use the intermediate values shown. 
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Results and 
Analysis: Book 3 
(continued) 

 

Risk Factor “A” 
Value 

“B” 
Value 

“C” 
Value 

“D” 
Value 

Wind Conditions 1.00 2.53 4.87 9.00 
Visibility Conditions 1.00 2.43 4.89 9.00 
Tide & River Currents 1.00 2.25 5.05 9.00 
Ice Conditions 1.00 2.04 5.25 9.00 
Visibility Obstructions 1.00 2.00 4.70 9.00 
Channel Width 1.00 2.21 5.94 9.00 
Bottom Type 1.00 1.84 4.85 9.00 
Waterway Complexity 1.00 2.57 4.86 9.00 
Number of People on Waterway 1.00 3.22 5.85 9.00 
Volume of Petroleum 1.00 2.40 5.10 9.00 
Volume of Chemicals 1.00 2.38 5.32 9.00 
Economic Impacts 1.00 3.25 5.46 9.00 
Environmental Impacts 1.00 3.03 5.91 9.00 
Health & Safety Impacts 1.00 2.56 5.56 9.00  

Expertise 
Assessment 
Results 

In Berwick Bay and all subsequent ports (total of 17), each participant 
team was asked to self-assess their level of expertise with respect to the 
six risk categories in the Port Risk Model.  Those self-assessments 
were done after the detailed briefing on the concepts underlying all of 
the factors in the model.  The expertise assessment used a loosely 
anchored 1 (no knowledge) to 9 (world-class expert) scale. 

Overall expertise results: 
 

Risk Category Average 
Fleet Composition 5.9 
Traffic Volume 6.6 
Navigational Conditions 6.9 
Waterway Configuration 6.7 
Immediate 6.7 
Subsequent Consequences 6.2 

 

Every port’s teams thought that they were well above average in their 
knowledge of the causes and effects of marine casualties.  The 
“weakest” area, and at 5.9 that was well above the mid-point on the 
scale, was in knowledge of Fleet Composition.  These results shouldn’t 
be too surprising, given that most participants were selected for a panel 
based on their acknowledged expertise with respect to vessel 
navigation, port operations, and environmental response activities. 
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Expertise 
Assessment 
Results 
(continued) 

The expertise self-assessments were not used to weight inputs during a 
PAWSA workshop, so the risk level results reported in the Workshop 
Report and Strategy Plan for each port do NOT reflect that information.  
However, the Book 4 results reported in this report HAVE been 
adjusted for those expertise self-assessments, for those ports where they 
were done.  This adjustment was done by weighting the Book 4 inputs 
from each team by that team’s expertise relative to every other team’s 
expertise. 

Results and 
Analysis: Book 4 

The next twenty sections of this report will examine the Book 4 risk 
level results for each factor in the Port Risk Model.  For each factor, all 
ports whose risk level was above the scale midpoint (5.0) are listed, 
arranged in decreasing order of perceived risk. 

The measured risk level for each factor has been recomputed using the 
national risk measurement scales, as discussed previously, EXCEPT for 
Port Lavaca and Houston / Galveston.  The PAWSA database became 
corrupted after those two ports were completed, resulting in loss of the 
raw electronic data for those workshops.  Paper copies of the books 
were discarded before the database corruption was discovered.  
Consequently, the risk level results reported herein are exactly the same 
as were reported in the Workshop Reports and Strategy Plans for those 
two ports. 

Risk levels for Berwick Bay and all subsequent ports visited have been 
recomputed taking into account participant team expertise. 

No results are reported for Philadelphia because the PAWSA workshop 
was terminated before any Book 4 inputs were obtained from that port. 

Risk mitigation strategies requiring national implementation are given 
for each factor.  These national strategies were developed by analyzing 
the VTM tools evaluation (Book 5) and the risk mitigation discussion 
results for all 28 ports (less Philadelphia).  Risk mitigation strategies 
requiring regional or local implementation are in each port’s appendix 
to this report. 
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Percentage High 
Risk Deep Draft 

Concept:  The extent to which high risk deep draft shipping calling at 
the port affects safety.  High risk ships are those which are more likely 
to have a marine casualty due to poor overall maintenance and/or low 
crew competency.  Deep draft ships are defined as large, ocean-going 
vessels such as freight ships, tankers, and cruise ships, typically being 
used in international trade.  Oil rigs also were considered under this 
factor. 
 
Results: 

Port Risk Level 
San Juan 7.31 
Ponce 6.61 

Los Angeles / Long Beach 6.4 
Port Everglades 6.0 

 
 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Continue efforts at IMO to strengthen ISM Code and STCW 

requirements. 

• Validate that the Port State Control Targeting Matrix is properly 
identifying high risk foreign flag ships calling at U.S. ports. 

• Continue vigorously enforcing, via port state control boardings, 
ISM Code / STCW requirements for ships calling at U.S. ports. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
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Percentage High 
Risk Shallow 
Draft 

Concept:  The extent to which high risk shallow draft vessels using the 
port affect safety.  High risk vessels are those which are more likely to 
have a marine casualty due to poor maintenance and/or low operator 
competency.  Shallow draft vessels are defined as everything other than 
deep draft ships.  Examples included: some coastal freighters, most 
offshore oil rig supply vessels, all tugs and towboats, most commercial 
fishing vessels, all dinner cruise vessels, and all recreational craft. 
 
Results: 

Port Risk Level 
Miami 7.0 
Berwick Bay 6.5 
Port Lavaca 6.51 
Port Everglades 6.2 
Port Arthur 6.21 

Pascagoula 6.21 
Hampton Roads 6.0 
Honolulu 5.41 
Houston / Galveston 5.41 
Portland, ME 5.4 
San Francisco 5.41 
Los Angeles / Long Beach 5.3 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Validate that the Port State Control Targeting Matrix is properly 

identifying high risk foreign flag ships calling at U.S. ports. 
• Continue vigorously enforcing, via port state control boardings, 

ISM Code / STCW requirements for ships calling at U.S. ports. 
• Provide incentives for tug and towboat owners to enroll in the 

American Waterway Operators’ Responsible Carrier Program or 
adopt similar maintenance and operating standards. 

• Examine crewing requirements on tugs and towboats, especially as 
they relate to chronic crew fatigue human factors issues. 

• Establish mandatory inspection for commercial fishing vessels. 
• Encourage States to adopt recreational boat operator licensing or 

mandatory education programs. 
• Expand / actively market Coast Guard Auxiliary education outreach 

efforts to commercial fishing vessel / recreational vessel operators, 
focusing on Rules of the Road awareness, especially Rule 9. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
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Volume of Deep 
Draft Vessels 

Concept:  The extent to which the volume of deep draft vessels using 
the port affects safety.  Deep draft vessels are defined the same as for 
the Percentage of High Risk Deep Draft factor.  Traffic volume related 
safety issues typically manifest themselves as an inability of the port 
infrastructure to handle ships alongside as they arrive, necessitating 
loitering or anchoring while awaiting a berth.  As volume increases 
situational awareness also is degraded: identifying and making passing 
arrangements with other vessels becomes more difficult for ship 
masters and pilots. 
 
Results: 

Port Risk Level 
Los Angeles / Long Beach 7.0 
San Juan 6.91 
Port Arthur 6.51 
Port Everglades 6.3 
Houston / Galveston 6.11 
Honolulu 6.11 
Texas City 6.0 
Charleston 5.81 
Ponce 5.51 
Lake Charles 5.3 
Portland, ME 5.3 
San Francisco 5.31 
Mobile 5.21 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Establish / improve Vessel Traffic Services or Vessel Traffic 

Information Services. 

• Establish domestic carriage requirements for Automatic 
Identification Systems. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
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Volume of 
Shallow Draft 
Vessels 

Concept:  The extent to which the volume of shallow draft vessels 
using the port affects safety.  Shallow draft vessels are defined as non-
recreational craft that are not deep draft.  As in the Percentage High 
Risk Shallow Draft factor, these include: some coastal freighters, most 
offshore oil rig supply vessels, all tugs and towboats, most commercial 
fishing vessels, and all dinner cruise vessels.  Traffic volume related 
safety issues typically manifest themselves as either an inability of the 
port infrastructure to handle ships alongside in a timely manner or as 
radio traffic congestion.  As volume increases situational awareness 
also is degraded: identifying and making passing arrangements with 
other vessels becomes more difficult for vessel operators. 
 
Results:   

Port Risk Level 
Port Arthur 7.41 
Berwick Bay 7.2 
Texas City 6.9 
Houston / Galveston 6.81 
Honolulu 6.81 
Pascagoula 6.71 
Port Lavaca 6.41 
Los Angeles / Long Beach 6.4 
Cincinnati 6.2 
Port Everglades 6.1 
Lake Charles 5.7 
Hampton Roads 5.7 
Miami 5.6 
Boston 5.3 
San Juan 5.21 
Portland, ME 5.2 
San Francisco 5.21 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Establish / improve Vessel Traffic Services or Vessel Traffic 

Information Services. 

• Apply domestic carriage requirements for Automatic Identification 
Systems to all commercial vessels, regardless of length or tonnage. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
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Volume of 
Fishing & 
Pleasure Craft 

Concept:  The extent to which the volume of fishing and pleasure craft 
using the port affects safety.  Fishing vessels included in this factor 
generally are used for recreational vice commercial purposes.  In 
addition to runabouts and cabin cruisers, recreational craft include 
personal watercraft (i.e., jet skis) and non-powered craft (e.g., kayaks).   
Traffic volume related safety issues typically manifest themselves as 
radio traffic congestion and increased numbers of collisions. 
 
Results: 

Port Risk Level 
Port Everglades 7.3 
Cincinnati 7.3 
Hampton Roads 7.3 
Los Angeles / Long Beach 7.3 
Boston 7.1 
Charleston 7.01 
Port Lavaca 6.91 
Lower Columbia River 6.8 
Pascagoula 6.61 
Lake Charles 6.4 
Berwick Bay 6.4 
Baltimore 6.3 
Corpus Christi 5.81 
Honolulu 5.61 
Portland, ME 5.6 
San Francisco 5.61 
Houston / Galveston 5.61 
Mobile 5.11 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Encourage states to adopt recreational boat operator licensing or 

mandatory education programs. 

• Actively market Coast Guard Auxiliary education outreach efforts 
to recreational vessel operators, focusing on Rules of the Road 
awareness, especially Rule 9. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
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Traffic Density Concept:  The extent to which congestion and the interaction between 
different vessel types using the port affect safety.  Congestion can 
occur in specific locations, at specific times, or both.  Traffic density 
related safety issues typically manifest themselves as apprehension by 
commercial vessel operators about recreational operator actions.  
Recreational craft maneuvers and apparent failure to appreciate 
commercial vessel operating constraints cause confusion, close calls, 
and waterway use conflicts. 
 
Results: 

Port Risk Level 
Port Everglades 8.3 
Pascagoula 7.51 
San Juan 7.51 
Port Fourchon 7.1 
Berwick Bay 7.1 
Lake Charles 7.1 
Cincinnati 6.9 
Los Angeles / Long Beach 6.8 
Honolulu 6.81 
Port Arthur 6.71 
Texas City 6.5 
Miami 6.4 
Boston 6.3 
Port Lavaca 6.11 
Hampton Roads 6.1 
Baltimore 5.9 
Houston / Galveston 5.81 
Lower Columbia River 5.8 
Charleston 5.81 
Portland, ME 5.4 
San Francisco 5.41 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Establish / improve Vessel Traffic Services or Vessel Traffic 

Information Services. 
• Apply domestic carriage requirements for Automatic Identification 

Systems to all commercial vessels, regardless of length or tonnage. 
• Expand / actively market Coast Guard Auxiliary education outreach 

efforts to commercial fishing vessel / recreational vessel operators, 
focusing on Rules of the Road awareness, especially Rule 9. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
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Wind Conditions Concept:  How often severe winds occur in the port and how well they 
are predicted. As frequency of severe winds increases and predictability 
decreases, risk increases.  Most ports indicated that sustained winds 
above 20 to 25 knots substantially increase the risk for both commercial 
and recreational vessels. 
 
Results: 

Port Risk Level 
Pascagoula 5.61 
Mobile 5.21 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Provide support for installation of Physical Oceanographic Real-

Time System (PORTS) wind sensors and integrate output with AIS. 

                                                 
1   Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
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Visibility 
Conditions 

Concept:  How often poor visibility occurs in the port and how well 
those conditions are predicted.  As frequency of poor visibility 
increases and predictability decreases, risk increases.  “Poor” visibility 
generally was defined as less than ½ nautical mile.  The Visibility 
Conditions factor relates to natural causes which limit a mariner’s 
ability to visually detect other vessels or aids to navigation, e.g., fog, 
blowing snow, smoke.  Simple dark of night is not included in this risk 
factor.   
 
Results: 

Port Risk Level 
Berwick Bay 5.8 
Coos Bay 5.8 
Pascagoula 5.61 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Align U.S. and IMO standards for Electronic Chart Display 

Information Systems (ECDIS). 

• Provide incentives for all commercial vessels, regardless of length 
or tonnage, to install and use precision navigation equipment (e.g. 
DGPS, ECDIS). 

• Apply domestic carriage requirements for Automatic Identification 
Systems to all commercial vessels, regardless of length or tonnage. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
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Tide & River 
Currents 

Concept:  The strength of the currents in a port, whether they run 
parallel to or across the channel, and whether vessel transits have to be 
timed with the state of the tide.  Strong currents generally were defined 
as being greater than 5 knots. 
 
Results: 

Port Risk Level 
Berwick Bay 9.01 
Port Everglades 7.8 
Port Lavaca 7.31,2 
Miami 5.6 
Corpus Christi 5.51 
Charleston 5.21 
Ponce 5.11 
Coos Bay 5.0 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 

• Align U.S. and IMO standards for Electronic Chart Display 
Information Systems (ECDIS). 

• Provide incentives for all commercial vessels, regardless of length 
or tonnage, to install and use precision navigation equipment (e.g. 
DGPS, ECDIS). 

• Provide support for installation of Physical Oceanographic Real-
Time System (PORTS) water current sensors and integrate output 
with AIS. 

• Include verification of U.S. Coast Pilot accuracy, particularly 
relating to expected tide and current conditions, as part of the 
Waterways Analysis and Management System (WAMS) process. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
2 Risk level measured using local, NOT national, scale. 

 26 



PAWSA Final Report 

 

Ice Conditions Concept:  How often ice forms in the port and the extent to which 
icebreakers are needed to keep the channel open during ice season. 
 
Results: 

Port Risk Level 
Sault Ste. Marie 6.1 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Collocate the USCG Vessel Traffic Service with the USACE lock 

operations center to better coordinate traffic movements. 

• Harmonize domestic and Canadian carriage requirements for 
Automatic Identification Systems. 

• Align U.S. and IMO standards for Electronic Chart Display 
Information Systems (ECDIS). 

• Provide incentives for all commercial vessels, regardless of length 
or tonnage, to install and use precision navigation equipment (e.g. 
DGPS, ECDIS). 
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Visibility 
Obstructions 

Concept:  Whether there are blind turns or intersections in the port and 
whether radio communications are hampered by geography.  The 
presence of man-made obstructions to visibility, e.g., high-rise 
condominiums, moored oil rigs, and bridges, also were included in this 
factor.  The most commonly cited visibility “obstruction” was 
background lighting that hinders mariners’ ability to detect other 
vessels or aids to navigation, especially range lights. 
 
Results: 

Port Risk Level 
Cincinnati 7.3 
Berwick Bay 5.3 
San Juan 5.21 
Lake Charles 5.1 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Apply domestic carriage requirements for Automatic Identification 

Systems to all commercial vessels, regardless of length or tonnage. 

• Align U.S. and IMO standards for Electronic Chart Display 
Information Systems (ECDIS). 

• Ensure that new port security requirements concerning shore 
facility lighting do not result in further impingement on the ability 
of vessels to safely navigate at night. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
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Channel Width Concept:  How much room there is for vessels to maneuver past each 
other. 
 
Results:   

Port Risk Level 
Pascagoula 7.81 
Berwick Bay 7.7 
Texas City 7.5 
San Juan 7.21 
Miami 7.2 
Charleston 6.91 
Port Arthur 6.81 
Port Everglades 6.7 
Lake Charles 5.8 
Portland, ME 5.6 
San Francisco 5.61 
Honolulu 5.41 
Houston / Galveston 5.31,2 
Port Fourchon 5.2 
Lower Columbia River 5.2 
Port Lavaca 5.11,2 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Establish / improve Vessel Traffic Services or Vessel Traffic 

Information Services. 

• Align U.S. and IMO standards for Electronic Chart Display 
Information Systems (ECDIS). 

• Provide incentives for all commercial vessels, regardless of length 
or tonnage, to install and use precision navigation equipment (e.g. 
DGPS, ECDIS). 

• Support widening / realignment of bridges constricting channels. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
2 Risk level measured using local, NOT national, scale. 
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Bottom Type Concept:  How forgiving the bottom is if a vessel runs aground.  Mud 
and silt can be a very forgiving situation; hard rock / coral comprising 
the channel bottom or close to the channel edges is much less so. 
 
Results: 

Port Risk Level 
Port Everglades 9.0 
Miami 8.3 
Boston 6.7 
Sault Ste Marie 5.8 
Ponce 5.71 
San Juan 5.21 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Align U.S. and IMO standards for Electronic Chart Display 

Information Systems (ECDIS). 

• Provide incentives for all commercial vessels, regardless of length 
or tonnage, to install and use precision navigation equipment (e.g. 
DGPS, ECDIS). 

• Provide support for installation of Physical Oceanographic Real-
Time System (PORTS) water depth sensors and integrate output 
with AIS. 

• Continue implementation of double-bottom / double-side 
requirements for vessels using U.S. waterways. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
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Waterway 
Complexity 

Concept:  How straight the waterways in the port are, whether 
converging waterways are present, and whether crossing traffic occurs 
within the port.  A straight waterway is defined as having no bends 
over 15 degrees.  Almost all ports have converging waterways.  Typical 
crossing traffic situations are those involving ferry boats or where the 
Gulf Intercoastal Waterway crosses main ship channels. 
 

Results: 
Port Risk Level 
Port Lavaca 9.01,2 
Houston / Galveston 9.01,2 

Honolulu 9.01 
Lake Charles 8.8 
Pascagoula 8.71 
Miami 8.7 
Port Everglades 8.6 
Port Arthur 8.41 
Hampton Roads 8.3 
Cincinnati 8.3 
Charleston 8.21 
San Juan 8.11 
Berwick Bay 8.0 
Los Angeles / Long Beach 8.0 
Mobile 8.01 
Coos Bay 7.6 
Corpus Christi 7.51 
Portland, ME 6.8 
San Francisco 6.81 
Boston 6.7 
Baltimore 5.8 
Lower Columbia River 5.7 
Texas City 5.4 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 

• Establish / improve VTS or VTIS. 
• Apply domestic carriage requirements for Automatic Identification 

Systems to all commercial vessels, regardless of length or tonnage. 
• Provide incentives for all commercial vessels, regardless of length 

or tonnage, to install and use precision navigation equipment (e.g., 
DGPS, Electronic Chart Display Information Systems). 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
2 Risk level measured using local, NOT national, scale. 
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Number of People 
on Waterway 

Concept:  How many people would be exposed to death and injury 
and/or would have to be rescued in the worst case if a single vessel 
were involved in a marine accident in the port.  As the number of 
people being carried in any one hull goes up, so does the risk.  Most 
ports have some dinner cruise and other excursion boats, sometimes 
carrying more than 150 passengers per trip.  Higher risk ports also have 
large cruise ships and/or casino boats calling. 
 
Results:   

Port Risk Level 
Boston 8.7 
Portland, ME 7.0 
San Francisco 7.01 
Los Angeles / Long Beach 6.9 
Cincinnati 6.7 
Miami 6.7 
Honolulu 6.41 
Houston / Galveston 6.31,2 
San Juan 5.91 
Port Everglades 5.8 
Lake Charles 5.3 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Continue domestic and IMO efforts to improve primary lifesaving, 

equipment, structural fire and flooding protection designs for large 
passenger carrying vessels. 

• Continue efforts to identify / evaluate the effectiveness of mass 
rescue operation strategies. 

• Review regulations and associated measures of effectiveness that 
target high capacity passenger vessels. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
2 Risk level measured using local, NOT national, scale. 
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Volume of 
Petroleum 
Cargoes 

Concept:  The amount of petroleum cargoes entering the port.  As the 
amount of petroleum being carried in any one hull goes up, so does the 
risk. 
 
Results:   

Port Risk Level 
Lake Charles 9.0 
Port Arthur 9.01 
Texas City 9.0 
Berwick Bay 9.0 
Los Angeles / Long Beach 8.8 
Port Everglades 8.7 
Boston 8.5 
Pascagoula 8.51 
Honolulu 8.41 
Houston / Galveston 8.41,2 
Portland, ME 8.4 
San Francisco 8.41 
San Juan 8.41 
Port Lavaca 8.11,2 
Corpus Christi 7.51 
Cook Inlet 7.1 
Ponce 6.51 
Mobile 5.91 
Cincinnati 5.8 
Hampton Roads 5.6 
Lower Columbia River 5.2 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Continue implementation of double-bottom / double-side 

requirements for vessels using U.S. waterways. 

• Review regulations and associated measures of effectiveness that 
target vessels carrying bulk petroleum products. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
2 Risk level measured using local, NOT national, scale. 
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Volume of 
Hazardous 
Chemical 
Cargoes 

Concept:  The amount of hazardous chemical cargoes entering the 
port.  As the amount of hazardous chemicals being carried in bulk in 
any one hull goes up, so does the risk.  Hazardous chemicals often are 
shipped via containers.  Due to the protection that containerization 
affords, those shipments were not considered in this risk factor. 
 
Results:   

Port Risk Level 
Honolulu 8.71 
Houston / Galveston 8.71,2 
Texas City 8.5 
Port Lavaca 8.01,2 
Berwick Bay 7.7 
Charleston 6.71 
Los Angeles / Long Beach 6.7 
Lake Charles 6.5 
San Juan 5.71 
Pascagoula 5.51 
Cincinnati 5.3 
Port Arthur 5.11 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Continue implementation of double-bottom / double-side 

requirements for vessels using U.S. waterways. 

• Disseminate information concerning the risks associated with bulk 
liquefied natural gas (LNG) shipments (e.g., recent port security 
impact study for the Port of Boston done by Mr. Edward Waryas of 
Lloyd’s Register Americas, Inc.). 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
2 Risk level measured using local, NOT national, scale. 
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Economic 
Impacts 

Concept:  The size of the population that is vulnerable to economic 
consequences should the port be closed for an appreciable amount of 
time.  Also whether local fisheries would be affected.  With just-in-time 
inventory management practices now the norm, most ports would start 
to feel economic impacts within a few days after an unexpected port 
closure.  Those economic impacts may well extend regionally or 
nationally depending on the port. 
 
Results:   

Port Risk Level 
Honolulu 8.71 
Houston / Galveston 8.71,2 
Hampton Roads 8.6 
Portland, ME 8.3 
San Francisco 8.31 
Los Angeles / Long Beach 7.9 
Lake Charles 7.7 
Berwick Bay 7.5 
Baltimore 7.1 
Corpus Christi 7.11 
Boston 7.1 
Lower Columbia River 6.9 
Port Fourchon 6.9 
Mobile 6.71 
Texas City 6.0 
San Juan 5.81 
Cincinnati 5.5 
Coos Bay 5.5 
Miami 5.4 
Charleston 5.41 
Port Lavaca 5.31,2 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• None identified. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
2 Risk level measured using local, NOT national, scale. 
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Environmental 
Impacts 

Concept:  The extent to which environmentally sensitive areas, 
wetlands, endangered species, and local fisheries are present in the port.  
Note: the only two ports which did NOT rate themselves at high risk 
with respect to this factor were Boston and Cincinnati. 
 
Results:   

Port Risk Level 
Hampton Roads 9.0 
Berwick Bay 9.0 
Lower Columbia River 8.8 
Lake Charles 8.7 
Port Fourchon 8.4 
Coos Bay 8.1 
Baltimore 7.9 
Charleston 7.91 
Miami 7.7 
Port Everglades 7.6 
Houston / Galveston 7.51,2 
Honolulu 7.51 
Pascagoula 7.41 
Port Lavaca 7.21,2 
Ponce 6.91 
Cook Inlet 6.9 
Mobile 6.41 
San Juan 6.21 
Texas City 6.2 
Los Angeles / Long Beach 6.2 
Corpus Christi 6.01 
Portland, ME 5.8 
San Francisco 5.81 
Port Arthur 5.11 
Sault Ste Marie 5.0 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Many implemented as a result of the Oil Pollution Act of 1990.  

Same strategies as for Volume of Petroleum recommended. 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
2 Risk level measured using local, NOT national, scale. 
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Health and Safety 
Impacts 

Concept:  The size of the population that surrounds the port.  Also 
whether the local population depends on the waterway for water supply 
or food. 
 
Results: 

Port Risk Level 
Cincinnati 7.7 
Berwick Bay 6.7 
Los Angeles / Long Beach 5.8 
Boston 5.6 
Charleston 5.61 
Honolulu 5.61 
Houston / Galveston 5.51,2 
Hampton Roads 5.3 
Sault Ste Marie 5.3 
Baltimore 5.3 

 
National Risk Mitigation Strategies: 
 
• Encourage inclusion of population evacuation scenarios in national 

/ regional / local hazardous materials release response exercises. 

• Disseminate information concerning the risks associated with bulk 
liquefied natural gas (LNG) shipments (e.g., recent port security 
impact study for the Port of Boston done by Mr. Edward Waryas of 
Lloyd’s Register Americas, Inc.). 

                                                 
1 Risk level NOT adjusted for participant expertise evaluations. 
2 Risk level measured using local, NOT national, scale. 
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National Risk 
Mitigation 
Definitions 

The national risk mitigation strategies used in the foregoing sections 
are repeated here for reference with the next two tables: 
 
 (1)  National Risk Mitigation Strategies by Risk Factor and  

 (2)  National Risk Mitigation Strategies by Port. 
 
Definitions:  (in alphabetical order) 

• AIS Carriage – Apply domestic carriage requirements for 
Automatic Identification Systems to all commercial vessels, 
regardless of length or tonnage. 

– Harmonize domestic and Canadian AIS carriage requirements. 

• AWO RCP – Provide incentives for tug and towboat owners to 
enroll in the American Waterway Operators’ Responsible Carrier 
Program or adopt similar maintenance and operating standards. 

• Boater Licensing – Encourage States to adopt recreational boat 
operator licensing or mandatory education programs. 

• Bridge Widening – Support widening / realignment of bridges 
constricting channels. 

• Coast Pilot Accuracy – Include verification of U.S. Coast Pilot 
accuracy, particularly relating to expected tide and current 
conditions, as part of the Waterways Analysis and Management 
System (WAMS) process. 

• Evacuation Exercises – Encourage inclusion of population 
evacuation scenarios in national / regional / local hazardous 
materials release response exercises. 

• F/V Inspection – Establish mandatory inspection for commercial 
fishing vessels. 

• Large Passenger Ships 
– Review regulations and associated measures of effectiveness 

that target high capacity passenger vessels. 

– Continue domestic and IMO efforts to improve primary 
lifesaving, equipment, structural fire and flooding protection 
designs for large passenger carrying vessels. 

– Continue efforts to identify / evaluate the effectiveness of mass 
rescue operation strategies. 
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National Risk 
Mitigation 
Definitions 
(continued) 

• LNG – Disseminate information concerning the risks associated 
with bulk liquefied natural gas (LNG) shipments. 

• Port Security Lighting – Ensure new port security requirements 
concerning shore facility lighting do not result in further 
impingement on the ability of vessels to safely navigate at night. 

• Port State Control –  
– Continue efforts at IMO to strengthen ISM Code and STCW 

requirements. 
– Validate that the Port State Control Targeting Matrix is properly 

identifying high risk foreign flag ships calling at U.S. ports. 
– Continue vigorously enforcing, via port state control boardings, 

ISM Code / STCW requirements for ships calling at U.S. ports. 
• PORTS – Provide support for installation of Physical 

Oceanographic Real-Time System (PORTS) wind / water current / 
water depth sensors and integrate output with AIS. 

• Precision Navigation – 
– Align U.S. and IMO standards for Electronic Chart Display 

Information Systems (ECDIS). 
– Provide incentives for all commercial vessels, regardless of 

length or tonnage, to install and use precision navigation 
equipment (e.g., DGPS, ECDIS). 

• Rules of the Road Education – Expand / actively market Coast 
Guard Auxiliary education outreach efforts to commercial fishing 
vessel and recreational vessel operators, focusing on Rules of the 
Road awareness, especially Rule 9. 

• Tanker Regulations – 
– Review regulations and associated measures of effectiveness 

that target vessels carrying bulk petroleum products. 

– Continue implementation of double-bottom / double-side 
requirements for vessels using U.S. waterways. 

• Tug / Towboat Crewing – Examine crewing requirements on tugs 
and towboats, especially chronic crew fatigue human factors issues. 

• VTS / VTIS – Establish / improve Vessel Traffic Services or 
Vessel Traffic Information Services. 
– Collocate the USCG Vessel Traffic Service at Sault Ste. Marie 

with the USACE lock operations center to better coordinate 
traffic movements. 
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Mitigation 
Strategies by Risk 
Factor 
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Percentage High Risk 
Deep Draft 

          X       

Percentage High Risk 
Shallow Draft 

 X X    X    X   X  X  

Volume of Deep 
Draft 

X                X 

Volume of Shallow 
Draft 

X                X 

Volume of Fishing & 
Pleasure Craft 

  X           X    

Traffic 
Density 

X             X   X 

Wind 
Conditions 

           X      

Visibility 
Conditions 

X            X     

Tide & River 
Currents 

    X       X X     

Ice 
Conditions 

X            X    X 

Visibility 
Obstructions 

X         X   X     

Channel 
Width 

   X         X    X 

Bottom 
Type 

           X X  X   

Waterway 
Complexity 

X            X    X 

Number of People on 
Waterway 

       X          

Volume of Petroleum 
Cargoes 

              X   

Vol. of Hazardous 
Chemical Cargoes 

        X      X   

Economic 
Impacts 

                 

Environmental 
Impacts 

              X   

Health & Safety 
Impacts 

     X   X         

 

The foregoing table shows which risk factors might be positively 
affected by each of the national risk mitigation strategies.  Note that 
many of the national risk mitigation strategies (e.g., AIS Carriage, 
Precision Navigation, and VTS / VTIS) would affect multiple risks. 
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National Risk 
Mitigation 
Strategies by Port 
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Baltimore X  X   X   X    X X X  X 

Berwick Bay X X X X X X X  X X X X X X X X X 

Boston X  X   X  X X   X X X X X X 

Charleston X  X  X X   X   X X X X  X 

Cincinnati X  X   X  X X X   X X X  X 

Cook Inlet               X   

Coos Bay X    X       X X  X  X 

Corpus Christi X  X  X       X X X X  X 

Hampton Roads X X X   X X  X  X  X X X X X 

Honolulu X X X X  X X X X  X  X X X X X 

Houston / Galveston X X X   X X X X  X  X X X X X 

Lake Charles X  X     X X X   X X X  X 

Los Angeles / LB X X X   X X X X  X  X X X X X 

Lwr Columbia River X  X X         X X X  X 

Miami X X X  X  X X   X X X X X X X 

Mobile X  X         X X X X  X 

Pascagoula X X X    X  X  X X X X X X X 

X    X      X X X  X  X 

Port Arthur X X X    X  X  X  X X X X X 

Port Everglades X X X  X  X X   X X X X X X X 

Port Fourchon X            X X X  X 

Port Lavaca X X X  X  X  X  X X X X X X X 

Portland, ME X X X    X X   X  X X X X X 

San Francisco X X X    X X   X  X X X X X 

San Juan X  X     X X X X X X X X  X 

Sault Ste. Marie X     X   X   X X  X  X 

Texas C ty i X        X    X X X  X  

Explanation of 
Risk Mitigation 
Strategies Tables 

The preceding table shows which of the national risk mitigation 
strategies might be appropriate for the most serious risks in each port, 
compiled from the information on pages 18 – 37.  While useful, this 
table doesn’t indicate which mitigations would have the most 
significant impact on risk levels.  Therefore the following table was 
assembled showing the total risk underlying the X’s in the preceding 
table.  Obviously the more risk areas potentially affected by a particular 

Ponce 
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Explanation of 
Risk Mitigation 
Strategies Tables 
(continued) 

intervention (i.e., national risk mitigation strategy) and the higher the 
risk level for each of those risk areas, the more potential there is to 
achieve significant risk level reductions through that particular 
intervention.  Eight of the sixteen national risk mitigation strategies 
only target a single risk factor.  The maximum targeted risk level for 
any of those eight interventions is 9.0 because of the way the PAWSA 
algorithms were constructed.  In order to fit into the report, the 
following table does not show those eight single-factor interventions. 

National Risk 
Mitigation 
Strategies by Port 
(showing 
potential risk 
reductions) 

 

National Risk Mitigation 
Strategy 
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 C
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Baltimore 28.4 10.3 9.3     23.0 16.2 19.5 26.9 

Berwick Bay 35.8 12.9 14.4 8.2 17.6 40.9 20.0 29.7 32.3 

Boston 29.6 12.0 7.9  12.6 29.8 18.3 22.5 28.2 

Charleston 27.9 11.4 12.3  12.1 29.8 17.1 23.1 30.2 

Cincinnati 34.7 12.3 13.0   32.8 19.1 19.7 29.1 

Cook Inlet         21.5   

Coos Bay 26.5    14.1 31.8  14.9 21.6 

Corpus Christi 27.0 10.4   11.6 26.9 15.4 21.6 25.5 

Hampton Roads 31.0 13.2 8.8 9.4  27.1 19.3 22.0 28.2 

Honolulu 35.6 11.1 14.3 9.3  29.3 17.9 28.2 35.0 

Houston / Galveston 34.4 11.0 14.2 9.3  28.7 16.8 28.1 34.0 

Lake Charles 36.7 10.9 10.6   30.9 18.0 26.9 33.7 

Los Angeles / Long Beach 36.0 12.6 12.5 11.8  25.3 19.4 26.1 32.7 

Lwr Columbia River 29.2 9.6    30.8 15.4 21.2 26.0 

Miami 30.4 14.4  10.3 16.8 35.6 20.8 20.4 32.7 

Mobile 30.7 9.6   11.4 26.4 14.4 19.0 28.1 

Pascagoula 35.9 12.8 7.0 10.2 12.2 32.5 20.3 24.8 35.2 

Ponce 16.6   10.1 14.2 20.5  23.3 16.2 

Port Arthur 36.4 9.0 8.1 10.3  28.1 15.7 21.6 36.7 

Port Everglades 36.1 13.6  12.2 19.8 38.9 21.8 27.8 37.0 

Port Fourchon 26.5     22.6 16.4 20.2 25.4 

Port Lavaca 31.5 13.4 11.4 11.3 15.5 31.9 19.5 27.8 31.7 
Portland, ME 31.1 11.0  10.3  29.5 16.4 20.0 30.6 
San Francisco 31.1 11.0  10.3  29.5 16.4 20.0 30.6 
San Juan 36.5 8.3 10.3 12.2 11.9 32.0 15.8 25.5 35.9 
Sault Ste. Marie 26.7  6.9  11.8 30.7  15.2 23.7 
Texas City 31.8   11.4     26.6 14.4 28.0 33.4  
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Table Color-
Coding 
Explanation 

In the preceding table, ports which already have a VTS or VTIS 
established are color-coded gold; all cells where the total risk level is 
greater than 35.0 are color-coded green; those where the risk level is 
greater than 30.0 are color-coded yellow.  The green colored cells 
correspond to the fifteen port / mitigation strategy combinations with 
the greatest potential for risk reduction due to a particular intervention.  
The yellow colored cells correspond to the second set of fifteen.  Note 
that all of the green and yellow cells are in just three intervention areas: 
AIS Carriage, Precision Navigation, and VTS / VTIS. 

Recommended 
National Actions 

Specific recommendations for national level actions appropriate to each 
risk factor in the Port Risk Model are identified on pages 18 – 37, 
along with ports which have particularly high risk levels for those 
factors.  A summary of recommended national level mitigation 
strategies is on pages 38 – 39.  Eight of the 16 national level risk 
mitigation strategies set forth on those pages potentially affect more 
than one risk factor.  Consequently, potential benefits are enhanced by 
addressing those particular interventions on a priority basis.  In 
particular, establishing requirements for commercial vessel AIS 
carriage, harmonizing standards and encouraging use of precision 
navigation equipment, and establishing a VTS or VTIS in certain ports 
can be particularly effective risk mitigations.  Specifics for those 
particular interventions are set forth in the following three sections. 

As the PAWSA process becomes more accepted and widely used by 
the maritime community, adaptation of the Port Risk Model to other 
arenas might further enhance the marine transportation system (MTS) 
initiative.  Specifically, G-MWV should demonstrate to G-MP the 
benefits and ease with which the PAWSA process could be modified to 
address port security (vulnerability assessments) and mobility risks. 

In the spirit of partnering, G-MWV should review the feasibility and 
cost/benefit of partially or fully funding AIS shore side infrastructure 
for those ports where there are high risks that could be effectively 
mitigated by either AIS or Physical Oceanographic Real Time System 
(PORTS) interventions.  Priority for such interventions can be gleaned 
from the preceding table.  Along those same lines, the Coast Guard 
should continue to support National Oceanographic and Atmospheric 
Administrations (NOAA) efforts towards obtaining funding for capital 
and annual operating costs required for installation of PORTS 
nationwide. 
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Recommended 
National Actions 
(continued) 

A recurring theme expressed by session participants during every 
PAWSA workshop was a strong concern over perceived recreational 
boater incompetence, particularly with respect to interactions with 
commercial vessel traffic.  There was overwhelming support for 
requiring that all recreational boaters be licensed and/or required to 
take boat operation and rules of the road training.  Lack of knowledge 
about Rule 9 was a particularly sore point.  Both the quantitative and 
qualitative data from every session supports the need for changes to 
current policy and enhancements in public outreach and education.  
These PAWSA results should be forwarded to the Office of Boating 
Safety (G-OPB) and the Coast Guard Auxiliary for appropriate action.  
The Coast Guard, at all organizational levels, should strongly support 
State efforts along these lines. 

District Commanders (m and o) should review PAWSA results for 
ports within their geographic area of responsibility.  Some of the 
recommendations that were generated by each PAWSA require action 
at the District level if they are to be successfully implemented.  
Specifically, several PAWSA workshops identified short range aids to 
navigation inadequacies, usually focused on background lighting 
obscuring range lights.  PAWSA results may be important supporting 
documentation for future planning and resource proposals within the 
District.  Recommended priorities beyond District resources should be 
forwarded to the Commandant for further review.  PAWSA also 
provides the Districts with a tool with which to compare safety risk 
among ports, useful when prioritizing resource allocation. 

With renewed emphasis on using risk based decision support tools, 
District Commanders should support the continued use of the PAWSA 
process for periodic re-evaluations of port and waterway risk levels.  
Re-evaluations will enable the COTP and Districts to measure the 
effectiveness of risk mitigation measures implemented within their 
respective areas of responsibility.  Based on future findings, financial 
or other resource adjustments might be made to further address 
unmitigated risk. 
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AIS Carriage 
Intervention 
Recommendation 

Recommendation:  Apply domestic carriage requirements for 
Automatic Identification Systems to all commercial vessels, regardless 
of length or tonnage.  In addition, harmonize domestic and Canadian 
AIS carriage requirements. 

Risk Reduction Benefits: Implementation of AIS carriage 
requirements has the potential to reduce risk levels for multiple factors: 

• Volume of Deep Draft 
• Volume of Shallow Draft 
• Traffic Density 
• Visibility Conditions 
• Ice Conditions 
• Visibility Obstructions 
• Waterway Complexity 

Ports Most Benefited: Ports which have a particularly high level of 
risk for these risk factors are: 

Port Total Risk 

Lake Charles 36.7 

San Juan 36.5 

Port Arthur 36.4 

Port Everglades 36.1 

Los Angeles / Long Beach 36.0 

Pascagoula 35.9 

Berwick Bay 35.8 

Honolulu 35.6 
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Precision 
Navigation 
Intervention 
Recommendation 

Recommendation:  Align U.S. and IMO standards for Electronic Chart 
Display Information Systems (ECDIS).  In addition, provide incentives 
for all commercial vessels, regardless of length or tonnage, to install 
and use precision navigation equipment (e.g., DGPS, ECDIS). 

Risk Reduction Benefits: Installation of standardized precision 
navigation equipment has the potential to reduce risk levels for multiple 
factors: 

• Visibility Conditions 
• Tide & River Currents 
• Ice Conditions 
• Visibility Obstructions 
• Channel Width 
• Bottom Type 
• Waterway Complexity 

Ports Most Benefited: Ports which have a particularly high level of 
risk for these risk factors are: 

Port Total Risk 

Berwick Bay 40.9 

Port Everglades 38.9 

Miami 35.6 
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VTS / VTIS 
Intervention 
Recommendation 

Recommendation:  Establish / improve Vessel Traffic Services or 
Vessel Traffic Information Services.   
Note: none of the ports listed below has an established VTS or formal 
VTIS, although the port authorities in Port Everglades, San Juan, and 
Honolulu already exercise some control over vessel movements in their 
respective waterways. 

Risk Reduction Benefits:  Establishing a VTS or VTIS has the 
potential to reduce risk levels for multiple factors: 

• Volume of Deep Draft 
• Volume of Shallow Draft 
• Traffic Density 
• Ice Conditions 
• Channel Width 
• Waterway Complexity 

Ports Most Benefited: Ports which have a particularly high level of 
risk for these risk factors are: 

Port Total Risk 

Port Everglades 37.0 

Port Arthur 36.7 

San Juan 35.9 

Pascagoula 35.2 

Honolulu 35.0 
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Conclusion  The primary value of the PAWSA process is as a framework for the 
disciplined and systematic examination of risks.  The PAWSA 
framework serves as foundation for considered thought and stimulus 
for further action.  The time available for each of the initial PAWSA 
assessments permitted little more than exposure to the methodology, 
cataloging and rough evaluation of risks, and initial listing of possible 
mitigation strategies.  As originally intended, the PAWSA workshops 
completed thus far are each a beginning rather than something 
complete in and of itself.  A substantial amount of additional time will 
be required for each port community to isolate and agree upon specific 
risk factor causes, identify and prioritize the risks to be addressed, and 
reach consensus about what is necessary to ameliorate those risks. 
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Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability 
an office of the Florida Legislature 

February 2010 Report No. 10-21 

Options to Modify Harbor Pilot Oversight 
Could Improve Regulation and Rate Setting
at a glance 
The Florida Department of Business 
and Professional Regulation houses 
two boards that oversee harbor pilots.  
The Board of Pilot Commissioners 
licenses and regulates harbor pilots 
who operate as independent 
contractors within their local 
associations.  The Pilotage Rate 
Review Board oversees requests for 
rate increases to ensure that rates are 
fair, just, and reasonable. 

The Legislature could consider several 
options for modifying Florida’s current 
harbor pilot regulatory and rate-setting 
systems, including  

 maintaining the current system, but 
making changes to address 
concerns about foreign ships that 
frequent Florida ports and 
regulatory and rate-setting 
consistency, and 

 implementing an alternative 
regulatory or rate-setting process 
similar to that used by other states 
or by the federal government.  

 

Scope __________________  
As directed by the Legislature, this report examines 
state regulation of harbor pilots and answers four 
questions. 

1. How are harbor pilots regulated in Florida? 
2. How are harbor pilot rates established? 
3. What alternative regulatory and rate-setting 

systems for harbor piloting are used by other 
states and governments? 

4. What options could the Legislature consider for 
modifying harbor pilot regulation? 

Background _____________  
The maritime industry is important to Florida’s 
economy.  A study conducted for the Florida Ports 
Council found that the cargo shipping industry had 
an estimated statewide economic impact of 
approximately $66 billion in 2008.  The U.S. cruise 
industry also has a large physical and economic 
presence in Florida; in 2008, passengers, crew, and 
cruise lines spent $6.3 billion in the state. 

The U.S. Coast Guard is charged with ensuring the 
safety of the nation’s navigable waters to support 
maritime industries and prevent damage to vessels, 
bridges, other structures, and the environment.  
The Coast Guard issues federal pilot’s 
endorsements that are required for individuals that 
pilot U.S.-flagged ships sailing between U.S. 
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2 

ports.1, 2

Florida regulates foreign-flagged ships and 
U.S.-flagged ships coming from foreign 
ports, which reportedly make up the bulk of 
ships entering or leaving Florida ports.  To 
help protect against economic and 
environmental damages from accidents on 
Florida waterways, the state requires ships 
to use state-licensed harbor pilots who have 
detailed knowledge of local conditions such 
as water depth, currents, tides, and 
navigational hazards and how these factors 
affect ship movements in port channels.  
Pilots serve as advisors to shipmasters 
(captains) when taking ships into or out of 
port, but the shipmasters are ultimately 
responsible for the safe navigation of their 
vessels.  Harbor pilots serve 11 of Florida’s 
14 deep-water ports (see Appendix A).

  The Coast Guard also regulates 
U.S. harbor pilots operating on the Great 
Lakes, as these lakes include international 
waters and Canadian ports. 

3

Prior to 1975, the Legislature set the number 
of harbor pilots authorized in each Florida 
port, and local boards regulated pilot 
services.  The 1975 Legislature established 
the Board of Pilot Commissioners to oversee 
statewide licensing and regulation of harbor 
pilots; the board is administratively housed 
within the Department of Business and 
Professional Regulation.

  
Pilots belong to local pilot associations that 
coordinate piloting services, with members 
sharing expenses and compensation. 

4

                                                           
1 Ships fly the flag of the country where they are registered.  

Some countries like the United States require registered 
ships to comply with labor, safety, and other regulations.  
Ships often register with other countries that have minimal 
regulatory requirements. 

  In 1994, the 
Legislature established a second board, the 

2 Federal law prohibits foreign-flagged ships from traveling 
directly between U.S. ports without making an interim stop 
at a foreign port. 

3 Three deep-water ports in Florida are inactive and not 
currently served by state harbor pilots - Boca Grande, Fort 
Myers, and Port St. Joe. 

4 Chapter 310, F.S. 

Pilotage Rate Review Board, to oversee rate 
setting for pilot services. 

Licensing fees and an annual assessment on 
gross state pilotage revenues support state 
regulatory costs.5  The department reported 
that its costs for regulating 94 state-licensed 
harbor pilots and 4 certified deputy pilots in 
Fiscal Year 2008-09 were $378,088.  The 
department also reported a deficit of $18,705 
at the end of the fiscal year, as its regulatory 
costs exceeded revenues.6

Technology and port improvements have 
enhanced ships’ ability to safely enter 
Florida waters since the state began 
licensing harbor pilots in 1975.  For example, 
most ships now use Global Positioning 
System receivers to more precisely 
determine their location and electronic 
charts that can be updated to reflect current 
conditions.  In addition, some large vessels 
such as cruise ships have steerable 
propulsion pods and thrusters to improve 
their maneuverability.

 

7

                                                           
5 Section 310.131, F.S., requires the department to assess the 

state-licensed pilots a percentage (not to exceed 2%) of 
their gross pilotage earnings each year, which is used to 
pay for regulatory costs. 

  Moreover, many 
ports have deepened and widened their 
shipping channels.  As a result of these 
improvements, shipping concerns have 
raised questions regarding whether the state 
should change its requirements that most 
ships use licensed state pilots when entering 
and leaving Florida ports.  Harbor pilots, 
however, assert that the larger ships 
prevalent today are more difficult to 
maneuver and represent a greater risk to the 
port, the environment, and other ships. 

6 In Fiscal Year 2007-08, the department reported regulatory 
costs of $303,729 and a surplus of $33,097. 

7 Marine propulsion units consist of electrically driven 
propellers mounted on a steerable device that allows the 
ship to make horizontal movements.  
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Questions and Answers _  

How are harbor pilots regulated in 
Florida? 
Florida law specifies licensing requirements 
and other regulations governing harbor 
pilots.  The licensure process typically takes 
several years to complete.  State law also 
prescribes the responsibilities of the Board 
of Pilot Commissioners and the Pilotage 
Rate Review Board.  Both boards have 
extended vacancies and members are 
serving with expired terms, which may 
affect the boards’ effectiveness.  The state 
has little evidence to assess the overall 
effectiveness of its regulatory processes. 

The licensure process takes several years 
and requires on-the-job training, state 
examination, and licensing.  The process for 
becoming a licensed state harbor pilot 
requires several steps and typically takes 
several years to complete.  Individuals may 
not apply for pilot licensure until the board 
declares an opening at a port upon the 
request of the local pilot association.  
Applicants must possess certain minimum 
maritime credentials, including a Coast 
Guard license as an unlimited second mate 
and at least two years of maritime service.  
The board approves the applicant to sit for 
an exam administered by the department 
that is specific to the port(s) at which the 
applicant wishes to serve.  This examination 
includes drawing a detailed chart of the 
harbor and its channels, including factors 
such as water depth and navigational 
hazards. 

Once these steps are completed, the 
department certifies as qualified all 
candidates that pass the exam.  The 
secretary selects the person to fill the 
vacancy, most often the individual with the 
highest exam score.  The candidate must 
then complete a minimum two-year 
training program as a certified deputy 

harbor pilot before being eligible for state 
licensure.  This training program is 
essentially an apprenticeship in which the 
deputy pilot accompanies and learns from 
the port’s state pilots.  In the later stage of 
the training program, a deputy pilot serves 
as an advisor to a shipmaster while a pilot 
oversees his or her activities. 

Once a deputy pilot has completed the 
training program and obtained a Coast 
Guard first-class unlimited pilot’s 
endorsement covering the waters of the 
port, the port’s pilot association requests 
that the board allow the deputy pilot to take 
an examination to become a state pilot.  This 
examination is similar to the deputy pilot’s 
examination. 

Board vacancies and expired terms may 
affect regulatory effectiveness.  The Board 
of Pilot Commissioners licenses pilots, 
determines the number of state-licensed 
pilots for each port, and administers 
discipline for the profession.  The Pilotage 
Rate Review Board sets pilotage rates for 
individual Florida ports.  The Department of 
Business and Professional Regulation 
provides administrative, investigative, legal, 
and other support services for both boards.  
The Governor appoints members of both 
boards, subject to Senate confirmation. 

Both boards are experiencing vacancies and 
many members are serving with expired 
terms.  As of November 30, 2009, the 10-
member Board of Pilot Commissioners had 
one member serving on a current term, one 
vacancy, and the remaining eight 
commissioners were continuing to serve 
although their terms had expired, including 
the chair, whose term expired in 2006.8

                                                           
8 Section 20.165(5)(c), F.S., allows a member whose term has 

expired to continue to serve on the board until a 
replacement is appointed. 

  The 
seven-member Pilotage Rate Review Board 
had four vacancies and the remaining three 
members were continuing to serve after 
their terms expired. 
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These vacancies and expired terms may 
affect stakeholder perspectives on the 
boards’ effectiveness and reduce the 
expertise and representation intended by 
state law.  For example, the Pilotage Rate 
Review Board is currently operating 
without two statutorily mandated members, 
a certified public accountant and a Coast 
Guard-licensed unlimited master, which can 
affect stakeholders’ opinions on whether the 
board possesses the range of expertise 
intended by the Legislature.  Due to 
vacancies, a majority of the current 
members of the Board of Pilot 
Commissioners are licensed pilots, although 
state law provides that state pilots fill only 5 
of 10 board seats.9

The Board of Pilot Commissioners has 
taken disciplinary action against three 
state licensed harbor pilots during the last 
three fiscal years.  The board may take 
disciplinary action against pilots for various 
violations, such as being unable to perform 
their duties with reasonable skill and safety 
due to alcohol or drug use or illness, failing 
to navigate with caution in restricted 
visibility, and failing to obtain or properly 
use available information. 

  The lack of a statutorily 
mandated balance in pilots and non-pilots 
may result in allegations of bias in board 
decision making. 

The Department of Business and 
Professional Regulation investigates 
complaints, most of which are self-reported 
marine incidents.10, 11

                                                           
9 The current Board of Pilot Commissioners includes five 

harbor pilots and four maritime consumer members.  The 
current membership of the Pilotage Rate Review Board 
includes a retired administrative law judge and two 
consumer representatives. 

  Department staff 

10 Section 310.111, F.S., provides that each collision, 
grounding, stranding, or other marine peril sustained or 
caused by a vessel on which there was employed a 
licensed state pilot or certificated deputy pilot must be 
reported to the board office or the piloting consultant 
within 48 hours of the occurrence.  While pilots are 
required to report their own marine incidents, others are 
not prohibited from also doing so.  Marine incidents may 
or may not involve allegations against a harbor pilot.  For 

investigate all legally sufficient complaints 
and then present the information to a board 
panel for review.   As shown in Exhibit 1, 
during Fiscal Years 2006-07 through 2008-09, 
the department received a total of 54 marine 
incident complaints, of which 49 met the 
state threshold for legal sufficiency, 
resulting in an investigation of a pilot.12  The 
board panel sought disciplinary action in 
seven cases, and three resulted in 
disciplinary action by the Board of Pilot 
Commissioners.13

Exhibit 1 
The Board of Pilot Commissioners Investigated 
54 Complaints in the Last Three Fiscal Years 
and Took Disciplinary Action Against Three 
State Pilots 

 

 
Fiscal Year 

2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 

Complaints Received 28 3 23 

Complaints Deemed 
Legally Sufficient 26 2 21 

Complaints with Probable 
Cause Determination 2 3 2 

Disciplinary Actions 2 1 0 

Source:  Department of Business and Professional Regulation. 

 

 

                                                                                       
example, a marine incident such as a stranding may result 
from the mechanical failure of a ship not related to a pilot’s 
decisions.  Nevertheless, the incident must be reported to 
the board. 

11 Self-reported marine incident data may not be 
comprehensive and cannot be independently verified. 

12 Section 455.225(1)(a), F.S., provides that a complaint is 
legally sufficient if it contains ultimate facts that show that 
a violation of this chapter, of any of the practice acts 
relating to the professions regulated by the department, or 
of any rule adopted by the department or a regulatory 
board in the department has occurred. 

13 One case in 2004 resulted in payment of disciplinary costs 
($1,337) as well as additional continuing education and 
training. The second case in 2004 resulted in a fine ($500), 
payment of costs ($391), and a formal reprimand.  A 2005 
case resulted in 18 months probation, payment of costs 
($3,516), and license suspension for 14 days. 
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Representatives of state harbor pilots and 
the shipping industry have widely varying 
opinions on many aspects of the current 
regulatory system, including its 
effectiveness.  For example, shipping 
concerns asserted that because harbor pilots 
are not personally liable for damages in the 
event of an accident, the pilots are not 
sufficiently accountable.  Piloting concerns 
asserted that pilots are accountable because 
they can lose their licenses if they violate 
state regulations.  For a summary of these 
differing opinions, see Appendix B. 

How are harbor pilot rates 
established? 
Fees for harbor pilot services in Florida are 
based on the size of the vessel, with larger 
ships paying higher fees, but also vary 
among ports.  The Pilotage Rate Review 
Board considers a number of factors when 
deliberating rate change requests, including 
the average net income of pilots serving a 
port. 

Pilotage rates are primarily based on ship 
size and vary among Florida’s ports.  The 
Pilotage Rate Review Board generally 
prescribes pilotage rates based on a ship’s 
size, measured as its gross tonnage, and 
draft.14  A ship’s gross tonnage represents its 
total capacity expressed in volumetric tons 
and its draft represents the ship’s depth 
below the waterline.15

Rates charged for tonnage and draft vary 
among ports (see Exhibit 2).  For example, 
rates for pilot services at the Port of 
Jacksonville are $.0464 per ton and $21.20 
per foot of draft, while the comparable rates 
for Port Canaveral are $.028 per ton and 

 

                                                           
14 Two ports, Panama City and Pensacola, do not have a 

gross tonnage rate but instead use a rate based on the 
following formula:  Ship unit = (Length X Width)/100. 

15 Section 310.151 (6), F. S., requires the board to base pilotage 
fees on factors besides a ship’s gross tonnage and draft, 
such as its length, beam, and height above the waterline.  
However, the board has historically set pilotage rates 
based only on a ship’s tonnage and draft. 

$12.50 per foot of draft.  A large vessel (gross 
tonnage of 23,200 tons with a 20-foot draft) 
would pay $1,500 for piloting services in 
Jacksonville, while the same ship would pay 
$900 in Port Canaveral.  The shipping 
company pays these fees for each one-way 
trip into or out of a port. 

The Pilotage Rate Review Board oversees 
the rate-setting process, which involves 
several steps. 

 A pilot association or another party 
whose interests are substantially 
affected by pilotage rates submits an 
application to the Pilotage Rate Review 
Board requesting that the rates be 
changed in a specific port.   

 The board’s Investigative Committee 
visits the port to hold a public meeting 
at which stakeholders can provide input 
on the proposed rate change.  Once the 
investigation is complete, the committee 
presents a report on the proposed rate 
change to the board. 

 The board then conducts a public 
hearing on the proposed rate change, 
takes testimony from interested parties, 
and either approves the requested rate 
change, approves a modified rate 
change, or disapproves any change. 

The Pilotage Rate Review Board considers 
many factors in reviewing rate change 
requests.  State law requires that rates for 
pilotage fees be fair, just, and reasonable.16

                                                           
16 Section 310.151(3), F.S. 

  
When reviewing rate change requests, the 
Pilotage Rate Review Board is to consider 
many factors, including the average net 
income of pilots in the port, pilotage rates in 
other ports, the amount of time each pilot 
spends on actual piloting duty, the 
prevailing compensation of individuals in 
other maritime services of comparable skill 
and standing, the effect the rate change may 
have on individual pilots, projected changes 
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in vessel traffic, and special characteristics 
and risks of a particular port.17

Net income of pilots is defined as the total 
pilotage fees collected in the port minus 
reasonable operating expenses divided by 
the number of licensed and active state 
pilots within the port.  Given that total 
pilotage fees can rise and fall with the 
economy, association revenues also can 
fluctuate due to economic changes.  Pilot 
expenses vary over time, but typically 
include the purchase and maintenance of 
pilot boats, the costs associated with hiring 
employees, and retirement and medical 
plan costs.  The different pilot associations 
may have vastly different operating 
expenses, methodologies for calculating 
costs, and obligations regarding pilot 
benefits and retirement. 

 

Under state law, pilot compensation  
must equal or exceed the compensation 
available to individuals in comparable 
maritime employment.  Current annual 
compensation for Florida harbor pilots 
ranges from an estimated $100,000 to over 
$400,000, varying among ports due to 
differences in factors such as pilotage rates 
and shipping volume. 

The upper end of Florida’s pilot 
compensation range is similar to pilot 
compensation levels in other states with 
large ports.  For example, pilots in 
Charleston, South Carolina, and 
Savannah, Georgia, earn estimated annual 
salaries of between $460,000 and 
$560,000.18, 19

                                                           
17 Section 310.151(5)(b), F.S. 

  In contrast, experienced 

18 A 2008 study conducted for the Galveston, Texas harbor 
pilots notes that in some cases, pilot organizations act like 
employers and pay the cost of employee benefits such as 
health, dental, disability and life insurance and pension 
contributions.  In other organizations, pilots act as 
independent contractors and shareholders in the pilot 
organization, which may pay part or none of the pilot’s 
benefits. 

19 In response to a 2009 rate increase request, the Pilotage 
Rate Review Board’s Investigative Committee suggested 

cruise ship captains who are ultimately 
responsible for safely navigating ships into 
and out of ports reportedly earn between 
$180,000 and $195,000 a year.  As shown in 
Appendix B, the state harbor pilots and 
the shipping industry hold differing 
opinions regarding the appropriate 
comparison for pilot compensation. 

Information used to support rate changes 
is not standardized and is not verified by 
the board.  Two concerns exist regarding 
the state’s current harbor pilot rate-setting 
process.  First, no standardized measures 
exist for certain pilot activities considered 
in rate-setting such as the time spent on 
actual piloting duties (“bridge time”) and 
length of time in transit, which by one 
definition can include wait time and time 
spent on administrative tasks.20

Second, the board’s Investigative 
Committee does not verify bridge and 
transit time information supplied by pilot 
associations.  Instead, the board uses 
historical data from prior rate requests and 
accepts association-provided pilot 
workload data as being accurate.  The 
absence of standardized and verified 
measures introduces subjectivity into the 
rate-setting process, which may contribute 
to the board approving unnecessary 
changes in pilotage rates.  In addition, the 
subjective nature of the process may 
contribute to conflicts between pilots and 
shipping interests. 

  As a 
result, the board receives information 
from the various pilot associations that use 
different workload measures and data to 
support rate change requests. 

                                                                                       
that pilot associations should include fringe benefits when 
calculating pilot compensation since the associations pay 
some benefits. 

20 The distance a ship has to travel upon entering pilotage 
waters to reach its berth varies among ports.  For example, 
the distance a ship has to travel to reach a berth in the Port 
of Tampa is approximately 45 miles while a ship reaching a 
berth in Port Everglades would travel an estimated 2.5 
miles. 
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Exhibit 2 
Rates for Pilot Services Vary Significantly Among Ports 

Florida Port 
Rate per 

Foot of Draft 
Rate per 

Gross Ton 
Small Vessel 

Total Fee1 
Large Vessel 

Total Fee2 
Fernandina $23.09 $0.05183 $545.20 $1,664.26 

Fort Pierce 12.50 0.015 255.50 598.00 

Jacksonville 21.20 0.0464 520.80 1,500.48 

Key West 18.40 0.0345 401.34 1,168.40 

Miami 17.43 0.0364 404.79 1193.14 

Palm Beach 14.75 0.033 332.59 1,060.60 

Panama City 25.00 Not applicable3 882.40 1,655.61 

Pensacola 20.00 Not applicable3 710.00 1,279.27 

Port Canaveral 12.50 0.028 295.00 899.60 

Port Everglades  13.30 0.0356 328.40 1,091.92 

Tampa 37.96 0.07 825.59 2,383.20 

Average (mean) $19.65 $0.0389 $500.14 $1,317.68 
1 2,033 tons with 18 feet of draft. 
2 23,200 tons with 20 feet of draft. 
3 Two ports, Panama City and Pensacola, do not have a comparable gross tonnage rate but instead use a rate based on the following formula:  

Ship unit = (Length X Width)/100. 
Source:  Pilotage Rate Review Board.

What alternative regulatory and rate-
setting systems for harbor piloting 
are used by other states and 
governments? 
Florida’s current regulatory system for pilot 
services resembles the systems used in most 
other states, although states differ in their 
rate-setting processes.  The U.S. Coast Guard 
regulates U.S. harbor pilots operating on the 
Great Lakes as well as pilots on U.S.-flagged 
ships.  Other countries use alternative systems 
to regulate pilotage for foreign-flagged 
vessels. 

Florida’s regulatory model for pilot services 
is similar to that used by other states.  Other 
states use a regulatory system similar to 
Florida’s system that includes pilot licensure, 
pilot associations, and state regulatory boards.  
For example, the Virginia Board for Branch 
Pilots, housed in the state’s Department of 
Professional and Occupational Regulation, 

licenses and disciplines pilots while a separate 
commission sets pilotage rates.  Maine, 
Oregon, and South Carolina use a single 
board or commission that both licenses pilots 
and sets rates.  In each of these states, pilot 
associations function similarly to those in 
Florida with regard to coordinating piloting 
services and related business activities. 

Other states use state boards for licensing and 
regulation, but have different mechanisms to 
set rates.  In Alaska, a state board adopts 
pilotage rates proposed by the pilot 
associations and holds a hearing only if there 
is an objection to the proposal; however, ship 
owners also have the option to negotiate rates 
with individual pilot associations.  In 
Delaware and New York, state boards 
regulate pilots, but the state legislature sets 
pilotage rates.  In Alabama, the state pilotage 
commission sets rates and the legislature 
approves them.  In Maryland, the state’s 
public service commission sets pilotage rates. 



OPPAGA Report  Report No. 10-21 
 

8 

California uses several systems to regulate 
harbor pilots.  California harbor pilots are 
regulated differently depending upon the port 
in which they operate.  In San Francisco, the 
pilot association operates under a state board 
that administers licensing and regulatory 
functions in the same manner as Florida.  
However, in four California ports, including Los 
Angeles and Long Beach, harbor pilots are only 
required to have a U.S. Coast Guard license.21  
Long Beach contracts with a private firm to 
provide piloting services, with shipping 
companies paying for these services as part of 
the port tariffs set by the city.  This contractor 
determines the number of pilots needed to meet 
the demand for the services.  Los Angeles hires 
pilots as municipal employees and determines 
how many pilots it will employ.  It also 
determines the pilots’ pay and benefits; the cost 
of using these services is part of the port’s 
tariffs.22

The U.S. Coast Guard oversees piloting on the 
Great Lakes and issues U.S. pilot 
endorsements.  The U.S. Coast Guard regulates 
U.S. harbor piloting in the Great Lakes because 
these lakes include international waters and 
Canadian ports.  Under treaty, the Coast Guard 
has the authority to determine the number of 
pilots and set pilotage rates for ships entering 
U.S. ports.  Pilotage rates are based on a formula 
that takes into account the average 
compensation for shipmasters and mates on the 
Great Lakes vessels and pilot bridge hours. 

 

The Coast Guard also licenses U.S. pilots.  Under 
federal law, U.S.-flagged ships must have a 
federally endorsed pilot on board when 
operating between U.S. ports.23

                                                           
21 The Memorandum of Agreement between the U.S. Coast Guard, 

the State of California, and certain California Ports governs 
requirements for pilots on vessels engaged in foreign trade.  The 
ports are responsible for establishing apprenticeship programs 
and any additional requirements deemed necessary. 

  When operating 
with a federally-endorsed pilot on board, U.S.-
flagged ships are not required to have a state 

22 Pilots in Los Angeles belong to the local longshoreman’s union, 
which negotiates on their behalf. 

23 U.S. government vessels have the option to use Department of 
Defense harbor pilots, individuals (either military or civilian) 
who are employed to provide harbor pilot services to these ships. 

harbor pilot on board, although the ship may 
choose to use the services of a state harbor 
pilot.24

Some countries allow alternative regulation for 
foreign ship officers.  Harbor pilot services are 
typically required in ports throughout the  
world.  However, some European countries, 
including Belgium, France, Norway, Portugal, 
and the United Kingdom, allow for alternative 
pilotage of foreign-flagged ships through  
a pilotage exemption certificate.  This certificate 
allows shipmasters or other officers to  
bring ships into port without a harbor pilot on 
board. 

  The Coast Guard does not determine the 
number of pilots or set pilotage rates, but can 
take disciplinary action against federally-
licensed pilots. 

Qualifications for obtaining an exemption 
certificate vary somewhat among countries, 
but generally include a ship’s officer having to 
demonstrate that he or she possesses  
necessary skill, experience, and knowledge of 
local port conditions; passing a written or 
practical examination; and completing a 
specified number of trips to the port within a 
given time period.  Some countries restrict 
exemption certificates to individuals meeting 
language requirements.  For example, the 
United Kingdom requires English proficiency 
while Norway requires proficiency in either  
a Scandinavian language or English.  The  
level of ship officer experience required for  
an exemption certificate also may vary 
depending on the size and type of vessel  
(e.g., cargo versus passenger).  For example, the 
port of Southampton in the United Kingdom 
requires a passenger ship officer to complete 12 
round trips to qualify for an exemption,  
while the ship officers of other vessels are 
required to complete 6 round trips.25, 26

                                                           
24 Florida law requires state pilots to have a federal pilot’s license 

for the port(s) they service. 

   

25 Our review of pilot exemption certificates used in other countries 
indicates that these certificates are used primarily for short sea 
shipping, which refers to shipping excursions occurring on a 
single continent without crossing an ocean. 

26 In 2005, the U.S. Coast Guard approved changes by the U.S. 
Virgin Islands Port Authority to allow pilotage exemption 
certificates issued by the port authority. 
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Pilot exemption certificates have been available 
since 1988 at all ports in the United  
Kingdom and are typically used by pilots of 
smaller vessels rather than larger cruise ships. 

What options could the Legislature 
consider for modifying harbor pilot 
regulation? 
The Legislature could consider several options 
for modifying Florida’s current harbor pilot 
regulatory and rate-setting systems, including 
maintaining the current system but making 
changes to address concerns raised by  
shipping industry representatives about  
foreign ships that frequent Florida ports and  
the state’s regulatory and rate-setting processes.  
Alternatively, the Legislature could implement 
a new regulatory or rate-setting process.   
Exhibit 3 presents the advantages and 
disadvantages associated with each option.  
However, data are not available to draw 
definitive conclusions about the impact of  
these alternatives. 

When contemplating changes to harbor pilot 
regulation and rate setting, the Legislature  
may wish to do so in the context of  
impending changes to the current pilot 
workforce.  The potential for a significant 
number of active harbor pilots to retire over  
the next decade could affect the supply  
of harbor pilots in the coming years.  Specifically, 
the state’s 94 active harbor pilots range in  
age from 32 to 69; with 44% of active pilots  
age 55 or older.  Accordingly, the state should 
consider whether current pilot selection and 
training provisions will produce the needed 
numbers of highly competent pilots in coming 
years.  In addition, should the Legislature  
choose to maintain the current regulatory 
structure, it may wish to encourage the 
Department of Business and Professional 
Regulation to continue working with the 
Governor’s Office to address vacancies in  
the Board of Pilot Commissioners and the 
Pilotage Rate Review Board. 

Options to modify the current regulatory 
system.  The Legislature could consider several 
changes to the current regulatory system to 
address concerns raised by shipping industry 
representatives.  These changes could include (1) 
allowing pilot exemption certificates for officers 
of foreign-flagged ships that make frequent calls 
at Florida ports; (2) establishing a formula to 
determine pilot fees; and (3) establishing a 
formula to determine the number of pilots 
needed at each port. 

Issue exemption certificates for certain  
officers of foreign-flagged vessels.  Operators of 
foreign-flagged vessels that frequently enter 
Florida ports using the same captain and crew, 
such as cruise ships, that dock multiple times 
each month, assert that their vessels do not  
need to hire harbor pilots because their  
ship officers are capable of safely navigating 
the port.  These operators also assert that  
the need to hire Florida pilots for routine  
trips unnecessarily increases their costs. 

To address this issue, the Legislature could 
consider establishing pilotage exemption 
certificates as are used by other countries.   
These exemption certificates would authorize 
select, qualified ship officers to pilot their  
own ships when entering or leaving specific 
ports.  Exempting certain ships from the 
requirement to use Florida pilots would  
reduce shipping costs and could make  
Florida’s ports more competitive.  However, 
pilot associations oppose this option and  
suggest that it would increase risks because a 
ship piloted by an inexperienced person could 
run aground and become damaged, blocking 
the shipping channel and producing major 
economic and environmental consequences  
to the port and Florida’s economy.  The 
economic effects of a blocked channel would 
include lost wages and a disruption of the 
supply chain resulting in shortages, higher 
prices, and lost sales revenue. 

If the Legislature chose to implement this 
option, it would need to establish fees to  
cover the costs of processing the certificates.  
The port of Southampton in the United 
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Kingdom charges £150 (approximately $248) 
 in addition to 25% of the normal pilotage fee  
for the first 100 trips into or out of port where  
an exemption certificate is used. 

Develop a formula to determine maximum pilot 
fees.  To establish a more uniform rate-setting 
method, the Legislature could direct the Pilotage 
Rate Review Board to establish a formula to 
determine maximum rates for piloting services 
that takes into account factors such as the length 
of a trip.  In addition, the board could take steps 
to ensure that information it uses to support rate 
changes is verifiable. 

A more uniform rate-setting method may help 
ensure that pilot rates are fair, just, and 
reasonable, as required by state law.  However, 
pilots may not support changes to the rate-
setting process because they believe the current 
system appropriately accounts for unique 
differences in each port.  These differences 
include the length of the ship’s travel into port 
(which can vary from less than 3 miles to over 47 
miles), river currents and other hazards, and 
levels of shipping traffic. 

Establish a formula to determine the number of 
pilots per port.  To effectively manage workload 
in Florida ports, the Legislature could direct the 
Board of Pilot Commissioners to establish a 
system similar to the Great Lakes system, which 
relies on a formula to establish the number of 
pilots needed in each port.  This would entail 
using standardized workload measures, such as 
the amount of time a pilot is on duty on a vessel, 
to determine the number of pilots needed.  The 
advantage of this option is that it would help the 
board make more consistent decisions in 
establishing the number of pilots needed by 
state ports.  However, pilots may oppose 
formulas that do not take into account the 
unique characteristics of each port. 

Options to establish new regulatory and rate-
setting processes.  The Legislature could 
establish a different regulatory system to address 
shipping industry representatives’ concerns.  
There are several alternative systems that the 
Legislature could consider that are used by other 
jurisdictions, including providing local 

regulation for harbor pilots; abolishing the 
current state regulatory system and relying on 
federal licensing; and creating a new rate-setting 
system in which the Legislature or some other 
entity directly establishes pilotage rates.  

Adopt local regulation of pilot services.  The 
Legislature could grant individual ports control of 
harbor piloting for their area, relieving the state of 
this responsibility.  Each port could establish its 
own regulatory system, which could include 
licensing pilots, using contractors, or hiring pilots 
as local government employees.  Each port also 
would establish the number of pilots needed, 
regulate pilot licensing, and control pilotage rates.  
The advantage of this decentralized system is that 
it would reduce the size of state government and 
move regulatory authority closer to the local level 
where services are provided.  However, this option 
could result in a lack of uniformity in regulating 
piloting within the state because each port would 
implement regulations that address its unique 
characteristics. 

Abolish state regulation and rely on federal 
licensure.  The Legislature could eliminate state 
regulation of harbor pilots and require that 
persons who pilot foreign-flagged ships in 
Florida ports possess a federal first-class harbor 
pilot endorsement.  The state would no longer 
license or discipline pilots, but would rely on the 
Coast Guard for regulation.  This change could 
increase competition and potentially reduce 
pilotage rates and shipping costs.  However, this 
option would reduce licensure requirements, as 
the federal licensing system requires pilots to 
complete 20 trips into a port, while Florida’s 
current system requires pilots to serve a two- to 
three-year deputy pilot apprenticeship before 
being licensed.  Pilots assert that persons with 
less experience may be more prone to violate 
safety rules and increase risks to ports. 

Create alternative rate-setting procedures.  The 
Legislature could directly set pilot rates or assign 
this responsibility to the Public Service 
Commission rather than the current Pilotage Rate 
Review Board.  Rate setting or approval by elected 
officials or the Public Service Commission may 
have more credibility than the current system, 
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which relies on appointed volunteers.  Both the 
Legislature and the commission have professional 
staff that could provide research and verify data, 
and both hold public hearings that provide 
opportunities for public input.  However, pilot 
associations may oppose this alternative as they 
believe the current system is fair and transparent 
and that such changes could politicize rate setting, 
create an adversarial process, and increase costs to 
participants. 

Agency Response _______  
In accordance with the provisions of s. 11.51(5), 
Florida Statutes, a draft of our report was 
submitted to the Interim Secretary of the 
Department of Business and Professional 
Regulation to review and respond.  The Interim 
Secretary’s written response is included in 
Appendix C. 
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Exhibit 3 
The Legislature Could Consider Several Options to Modify Harbor Pilot Regulation 

Modify the Current Regulatory or Rate-Setting System 
Action Advantage Disadvantage 

Issue pilotage exemption certificates  Could reduce shipping costs and make Florida’s 
ports more competitive. 

 Having foreign ship officers pilot their 
own ships might pose increased 
security, environmental, and economic 
risks. 

 Safety could be threatened, as 
shipmasters are distracted with 
responsibilities other than navigation. 

 Could increase state costs because it 
would require the state to establish an 
administrative structure.1 

Establish a formula to determine 
maximum pilotage fees 

 Increased consistency and/or objectivity in rate 
setting. 

 Such a formula might not be feasible or 
useful because of the unique 
characteristics of each port.2 

Establish a formula to determine the 
number of pilots per port 

 Could reduce the conflict over the process by 
providing greater consistency. 

 Such a formula might not be feasible or 
useful because of the unique 
characteristics of each port and a 
concern that bridge time cannot be 
standardized.3 

Implement New Regulatory or Rate-Setting Systems 
Action Advantage Disadvantage 

Authorize local regulation  Move regulation closer to those being regulated.  Might result in lack of uniformity of 
piloting regulation across Florida.  

 Might threaten port safety with ports 
competing for each other’s business. 

Abolish state regulation in favor of 
federal government authority 

 Competition between pilots could result in reduced 
pilotage rates. 

 Might threaten port safety because of 
less stringent federal requirements and 
competition between pilots. 

 Could be difficult to ensure continual 
pilot availability in a competitive 
environment. 

Require Legislative approval of pilotage 
rates 

 Might lend more legitimacy to the rate-setting 
process. 

 The Legislature has staff that can analyze and 
verify data. 

 Might further politicize rate setting 

 The current system is perceived by pilot 
representatives to be fair and 
transparent. 

Authorize another independent entity, 
such as the Public Service Commission 
(PSC) to set pilotage rates  

 The commission has experience in rate setting. 

 The commission has staff that can analyze and 
verify data. 

 PSC commissioners are full-time professionals, 
and all commission positions are filled. 

 Rate setting by other states’ public 
service commissions is perceived by 
some to be contentious and costly.4 

1 A fee could be charged to cover the administrative costs of issuing exemption certificates. 
2 The U.S. Coast Guard has created a rate-setting formula for the U.S. Great Lakes that takes into account factors such as length of transit and 

geography. 
3 The U.S. Coast Guard has created a formula to determine the number of pilots required at U.S. Great Lakes’ ports. 
4 There has been only one pilotage dispute brought before the Maryland Public Service Commission since 2004. 

Source:  OPPAGA analysis. 
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Appendix A 

Florida Has 11 Active Deep Water Ports Served by State 
Harbor Pilots1 

 
 

1 Inactive ports include those located at Boca Grande, Fort Myers, and Port St. Joe. 

Source:  Florida Ports Council.

Pensacola Panama City

Fernandina Beach

Jacksonville

Palm Beach

Key West

Ft. Pierce

Everglades

Port Canaveral

Miami

Tampa
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Appendix B 

Harbor Pilots and Shipping Industry Interests Have 
Different Positions Regarding the Current System for 
Pilot Services 
State harbor pilots and shipping industry interests hold different positions regarding Florida’s current 
regulatory structure for harbor pilots.  The following table provides position statements that summarize 
opinions expressed by the Florida State Pilots Association, the American Pilots’ Association, and the 
representatives of the Florida Alliance of Maritime Organizations. 

Issue Harbor Pilot Position Shipping Industry Position 
Licensing  Florida state regulation of harbor pilots is 

comprehensive and transparent in its procedures, 
and separates the licensing and disciplinary 
functions from the rate-setting function. 

 Controlling the entrance of pilots into the profession 
is necessary, as competition among pilots would 
threaten safety. 

 State-licensed pilots have minimum qualifications 
above those of pilots with only a federal license. 

 State-licensed pilots continually increase their 
knowledge base by attending ship simulation and 
other training. 

 The regulatory and rate-setting system establishes a state-
supported monopoly disconnected from market forces. 

 State pilots control the number of pilots in Florida as a matter 
of financial interest rather than solely from a safety concern. 

 Shipping companies should have the option to use a harbor 
pilot of their choosing. 

 In certain circumstances, federally-licensed pilots are as 
qualified as state-licensed pilots; shipmasters who make 
regular transits into a port may have better ship-specific 
knowledge than state-licensed pilots. 

 State-licensed pilots have minimal statutory continuing 
education requirements. 

Rates  Harbor pilot fees represent a small percentage of 
port fees and do not affect the competitiveness of 
individual ports or the state. 

 Shipping industry pays the costs of harbor pilotage 
rather than Florida taxpayers. 

 Harbor pilot rates can cause a port to be less competitive and 
can negatively affect Florida’s economy as a whole. 

 Harbor pilot fees are passed through to consumers and are 
reflected in increased cargo and cruise ship rates. 

Rate setting   No change is needed to the current practice of 
setting pilotage rates based on draft and tonnage. 

 No change is needed to the use of a rate review 
board for setting rates; states that use other 
systems have experienced problems. 

 Use of a ship’s tonnage and draft to set pilotage rates lacks a 
consistent, substantive basis. 

 Differences in transit times are not reflected in the rates. 

 Enhanced maneuverability due to improved technology is not 
reflected in the rates. 

 The reliability of information on expenses and costs used to 
support pilot rate increases is questionable. 

 There is no unlimited master or certified public accountant 
currently serving on the Pilotage Rate Review Board as 
required by statute. 
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Issue Harbor Pilot Position Shipping Industry Position 
Compensation  Harbor pilot pay should be compared to other 

pilots’ pay for compensation purposes rather than 
to shipmasters’ pay, because shipmaster duties 
primarily relate to the management of the ship 
rather than to the pilot’s primary duty of safely 
navigating the ship in pilotage waters. 

 Harbor pilots should be compensated to reflect the 
dangerous nature of their work, especially the 
boarding process. 

 State-licensed harbor pilots have large capital 
expenses that should be considered in rate increase 
decisions. 

 Harbor pilot compensation must be sufficiently high 
to attract the most qualified applicants into the 
profession. 

 Harbor pilot compensation should be comparable to other 
maritime professions, such as shipmasters, rather than based on 
pilot compensation at other ports; harbor pilots can also be 
compared to commercial airline pilots and air traffic controllers 
for their role in ensuring the public safety of navigation. 

 Cruise ships have low-level boarding doors, eliminating the 
need for pilots to climb a long ladder during the boarding 
process and minimizing risks to pilots. 

 Some pilot operating expenses and compensation (e.g., pilot 
retirement packages and replacing pilot association cars 
every three years) should not be used to support rate 
increase requests. 

 Current regulated compensation levels are not required to 
attract the best and most qualified individuals to become 
state pilots. 

Accountability  Navigation of a ship in pilotage waters is a shared 
responsibility between the pilot and the shipmaster 
and bridge crew. 

 State-licensed harbor pilots are accountable as they 
can lose their license if they violate state regulations. 

 Harbor pilots in other states have been held 
personally liable and criminally responsible for their 
piloting errors. 

 State-licensed harbor pilots act as advisors to shipmasters; 
the shipmaster has ultimate responsibility for safe passage of 
the vessel. 

 Harbor pilots might be legally liable for piloting errors in some 
cases but in practice, rarely are. 

Security  State-licensed harbor pilots undergo a background 
check to obtain a Transportation Workers 
Identification Credential (TWIC) provided by the 
U.S. Transportation Security Administration and the 
U.S. Coast Guard; crew members of foreign-
flagged vessels do not have such clearance. 

 State-licensed harbor pilots are the “first line of 
defense” for suspicious activity in Florida’s ports; 
they have a memorandum of agreement with the 
U.S. Coast Guard that commits pilots to report 
suspicious activity. 

 There is little security screening for harbor pilots compared to 
ship captains who enter and exit Florida’s ports regularly. 

 State-licensed harbor pilots do not have a formal role in port 
security. 

Safety  State-licensed harbor pilots have minimum training 
and experience surpassing that of pilots who hold only 
a federal license, resulting in safer piloting activity. 

 The small number of disciplinary actions against 
state-licensed pilots in Florida demonstrates their 
superior safety. 

 State-licensed pilots represent the interests of the 
state and have independent judgment; they are 
uniquely oriented to prevent major environmental 
and economic damages to Florida’s ports. 

 No evidence exists that transits by state-licensed harbor 
pilots are safer than those by pilots with only a federal license 
or ship officers who regularly navigate the same waters. 

 Ship officers, as employees of the shipping interests, have 
the same level of interest in safe navigation as state-licensed 
pilots. 

 State pilots have no accountability to the ports, the Coast 
Guard, or the owners of the ships they pilot. 

Technology  The larger ships prevalent today are more difficult 
to maneuver and represent a greater risk to the port, 
the environment, and other ships. 

 Technology is a tool that is only as beneficial as the 
user is skilled at using it; it is not a substitute for a 
pilot’s local expertise. 

 Harbor pilots have expert technological knowledge; 
pilots introduced much of the current piloting 
technology. 

 Advancements in technology have made operating ships and 
tugboats safer; larger ships are often easier to maneuver than 
smaller ones. 

 Because of technological advances, mariners and federally-
licensed pilots have access to the same local knowledge as 
do state-licensed harbor pilots, minimizing state-licensed 
harbor pilots’ unique contribution to marine navigation. 

 Pilots have less ship-specific technological knowledge than 
shipmasters. 

Source:  OPPAGA analysis based on interviews with pilot and shipping industry representatives.
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The Florida Legislature 

Office of Program Policy Analysis  
and Government Accountability 

 
 
OPPAGA provides performance and accountability information about Florida 
government in several ways.   

 Reports deliver program evaluation, policy analysis, and Sunset  
reviews of state programs to assist the Legislature in overseeing government 
operations, developing policy choices, and making Florida government better,  
faster, and cheaper. 

 PolicyCasts, short narrated slide presentations, provide bottom-line briefings of 
findings and recommendations for select reports. 

 Government Program Summaries (GPS), an online encyclopedia, 
www.oppaga.state.fl.us/government, provides descriptive, evaluative, and 
performance information on more than 200 Florida state government programs. 
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of research reports, conferences, and other resources of interest for Florida's policy 
research and program evaluation community.  

 Visit OPPAGA’s website at www.oppaga.state.fl.us  

 
 

OPPAGA supports the Florida Legislature by providing evaluative research and objective analyses to promote government 
accountability and the efficient and effective use of public resources.  This project was conducted in accordance with applicable 
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Tallahassee, FL  32399-1475).  Cover photo by Mark Foley. 
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Port Everglades, Florida 
Workshop Report 

 
Introduction 
 
A Port Risk Assessment Workshop was conducted for the Port Everglades on July 26-27, 2000.  
This workshop report provides the following information: 

Brief description of the process used for the assessment; • 
• 
• 
• 
• 

List of participants;  
Numerical results from the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) 1; 
Summary of risks and mitigations discussion, and 
Port Profile for Port Everglades. 

 
Strategies for reducing unmitigated risks will be the subject of a separate report. 
 
Assessment Process  
 
The risk assessment process is a structured approach to obtaining expert judgments on the level 
of waterway risk.  The process also addresses the relative merits of specific types of Vessel 
Traffic Management (VTM) improvements for reducing risk in the port.  Based on the Analytic 
Hierarchy Process (AHP), the port risk assessment process uses a select group of 
experts/stakeholders in each port to evaluate waterway risk factors and the effectiveness of 
various VTM improvements.  The process requires the participation of local Coast Guard 
officials before and throughout the workshops.  Thus the process is a joint effort involving 
waterway users, stakeholders, and the agencies/entities responsible for implementing selected 
risk mitigation measures.  
 
This methodology employs a generic model of port risk that was conceptually developed by a 
National Dialog Group on Port Risk and then translated into computer algorithms by the Volpe 
National Transportation Systems Center.  In that model, risk is defined as the sum of the 
probability of a casualty and its consequences.  Consequently, the model includes variables 
associated with both the causes and the effects of vessel casualties.  Because the risk factors in 
the model do NOT contribute equally to overall port risk, the first session of each workshop is 
devoted to obtaining expert opinion about how to weight the relative contribution of each 
variable to overall port risk.  The experts then are asked to establish scales to measure each 
variable.  Once the parameters have been established for each risk-inducing factor, each port's 
risk is estimated by putting into the computer risk model specific values for that port for each 
variable.  The computer model allows comparison of relative risk and the potential efficacy of 
various VTM improvements between different ports. 

                                         
1 Developed by Dr. Thomas L. Saaty, et al, to structure complex decision making, to provide scaled measurements, 
and to synthesize many factors having different dimensions. 
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Participants 
 
The following is a list of stakeholders/experts that participated in the process: 
 

Participant Organization Phone Email 

Dave Alderman Maersk / Sea Land (954) 462-7073 N/A 
Kent Ballantyne Coastal Fuels Marketing, Inc. (954) 525-4261 kent.ballantyne@coastalcorp.com 
Randy Cernick  Port Everglades Clean Up Committee (954) 728-8808 RCJCINC@aol.com 
David Christie Princess Cruises (954) 525-8520 nangaflorida@msn.com 
CWO Joe Cocking USCG Group Miami (ATON) (305) 535-4311 jcocking@grumiami.uscg.mil 
Tim Conner Hvide Marine (954) 524-4200 x-506 tim.conner@hvide.com 
Sam Cory  Florida Fish & Wildlife Commission (305) 956-2500 corys@state.fl.us 
Michael Crane NOAA (305) 361-4305 mike.crane@noaa.gov 
Davison De Araujo CITGO Petroleum Corp. (954) 525-6742 N/A 
Luke Durocher USCG Auxiliary  (954) 989-5558 lukedurocher@aol.com 
Terry Edwards Florida DEP (954) 467-5970 Terry.L.Edwards@dep.state.fl.us 
John Fiore Broward Co. Parks & Recreation Div (954) 357-8139 jfiore@broward.org 
Bob Flint Port Everglades (954) 523-3404 rflint@broward.org 
John Gorman III Florida Transportation Services (954) 764-8988 jcgiii@fltranserv.com 
Mary Anne Gray Florida Boating Advisory Council (954) 523-2200  maryanne.gray@hvide.com 
Raquel Gutierrez  G&G Shipping (954) 927-1920 x-208 rgutierrez@gandgshipping.com 
LTJG Heath Hartley  USCG Marine Safety Office Miami  (305) 535-8762 hhartley@msomiami.uscg.mil 
Mike Hernandez BP Amoco (954) 523-0571 Hernanm1@BP.com 
John Humphrey NOAA Coastal Service Center (843) 740-1178 john.humphrey@noaa.gov 
Tommy Jordan Transmontagne, Inc. (954) 523-8828 Everglades@TransMontaigne.com 
Nicholas Kontax Broward County DPEP (954) 519-1287 nkontax@broward.org 
R.W. Lehr Chevron Products Co. (954) 764-2107 RWLE@chevron.com 
CDR Mike Miles USCG Marine Safety Office Miami (305) 535-8766 rmiles@msomiami.uscg.mil 
Fidel Murgas Amerada Hess Corp. (954) 523-3656 fidelmurgas@hess.com 
LT Nicole Nancarrow  USCG Station Ft. Lauderdale (954) 927-1612 nnancarrow@staftlauderdale.uscg.mil
Jim Ryan Port Everglades Pilots (954) 522-4491 pilots@bellsouth.net 
John Steffey Sun Cruz Casino (954) 875-5634 N/A 
Jim Tanner Owens Corning Trumbull (954) 764-8818 jamesrtanner@owenscorning.com 
Elian Travin G&G Shipping (954) 927-1920 x-208 etravin@gandgshipping.com 

   

Facilitation Team  Organization Phone Email 

Dave Murk USCG Commandant (G-MWV) (202) 267-1539 dmurk@comdt.uscg.mil 
Doug Perkins Potomac Management Group, Inc. (703) 836-1037 dperkins@potomacmgmt.com 
Fred Edwards Soza & Company, Ltd. (703) 560-9477 fredwards@soza.com  
Kris Higman Potomac Management Group, Inc. (757) 838-5296 khigman@hotmail.com 
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Numerical Results 
 
Book 1 – Risk Categories  (Generic Weights Sum to 100) 
 

Fleet 
Composition 

19.2 

Traffic 
Conditions 

17.9 

Navigational 
Conditions 

12.3 

Waterway 
Configuration

6.3 

Immediate 
Consequences 

24.0 

Subsequent 
Consequences

20.3 

 
Analysis: 
 
Book 1 begins the process of weighting the national port risk model.  The participant teams 
contribute their knowledge, using the AHP process, to provide weights to the six major risk 
categories.  The contribution to the national model by the Port Everglades participants is as listed 
above.  These participants felt that Immediate Consequences was the largest driver of risk.  
Waterway Configuration was a significantly lower influence. 
 
Book 2 - Risk Factors   (Generic Weights) 
 

Fleet 
Composition 

19.2 

Traffic 
Conditions 

17.9 

Navigational 
Conditions 

12.3 

Waterway 
Configuration

6.3 

Immediate 
Consequences 

24.0 

Subsequent 
Consequences 

20.3 

      

% High Risk 
Deep Draft 

15.1 

Volume 
Deep Draft 

4.6 

Wind 
Conditions 

3.7 

Visibility 
Obstructions 

1.2 

Volume of 
Passengers 

6.8 

Economic 
Impacts 

3.1 

% High Risk 
Shallow Draft 

4.1 

Volume 
Shallow Draft 

2.1 

Visibility 
Conditions 

5.2 

Channel 
Width 

2.6 

Volume of 
Petroleum 

8.4 

Environmental 
Impacts 

4.8 

 

Vol. Fishing 
& Pleasure 

Craft 

4.9 

Tide and 
River 

Currents 

2.0 

Channel & 
Bottom 

1.2 

Volume of 
Chemicals 

8.8 

Health & 
Safety Impacts

12.4 

 

Traffic 
Density 

6.3 

Ice 
Conditions 

1.4 

Waterway 
Complexity 

1.3 
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Analysis: 
 
Book 2 further refines the weighting for the national port risk model.  The participants examined 
the importance to port safety for each of the 20 risk factors and provided the above results to the 
national model.  They determined that the following factors contribute the most to overall risk 
under each of the six major categories: 

• Fleet Composition: High-Risk Deep Draft Vessels contribute the highest amount of risk. 
• Traffic Conditions: Traffic Density contributes the sixth-highest amount of risk. 
• Navigational Conditions: Visibility Conditions contributes the seventh-highest amount of 

risk. 
• Waterway Configuration: Channel Width is the most important contributor to risk in this 

category. 
• Immediate Consequences: The Volume of Chemicals contributes the third-highest 

amount of risk, the Volume of Petroleum contributes the fourth-highest amount of risk 
and the Volume of Passengers contributes the fifth-highest amount of risk. 

• Subsequent Consequences: Health and Safety Impacts contribute the second-highest 
amount of risk. 

 
Book 3 Factor Scales - Condition List (Generic)  
 Scale Value 
Wind Conditions 
 a. Severe winds < 2 days / month 1.0 
 b. Severe winds occur in brief periods 2.8 
 c. Severe winds are frequent & anticipated 4.9 
 d. Severe winds occur without warning 9.0 
Visibility Conditions 
 a. Poor visibility < 2 days/month 1.0 
 b. Poor visibility occurs in brief periods 2.5 
 c. Poor visibility is frequent & anticipated 4.7 
 d. Poor visibility occurs without warning 9.0 
Tide and River Currents 
 a. Tides & currents are negligible 1.0 
 b. Currents run parallel to the channel 2.3 
 c. Transits are timed closely with tide 5.0 
 d. Currents cross channel/turns difficult 9.0 
Ice Conditions 
 a. Ice never forms 1.0 
 b. Some ice forms-icebreaking is rare 2.2 
 c. Icebreakers keep channel open 5.1 
 d. Vessels need icebreaker escorts 9.0 
Visibility Obstructions 
 a. No blind turns or intersections 1.0 
 b. Good geographic visibility-intersections 2.4 
 c. Visibility obscured, good communications 5.0 
 d. Distances & communications limited 9.0 
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Channel Width 
 a. Meetings & overtakings are easy 1.0 
 b. Passing arrangements needed-ample room 2.8 
 c. Meetings & overtakings in specific areas 6.4 
 d. Movements restricted to one-way traffic 9.0 
Bottom Type 
 a. Deep water or no channel necessary 1.0 
 b. Soft bottom, no obstructions 1.8 
 c. Mud, sand and rock outside channel 4.9 
 d. Hard or rocky bottom at channel edges 9.0 
Waterway Complexity 
 a. Straight run with NO crossing traffic 1.0 
 b. Multiple turns > 15 degrees-NO crossing  2.7 
 c. Converging - NO crossing traffic 4.9 
 d. Converging WITH crossing traffic 9.0 
 
Passenger Volume 
 a. Industrial, little recreational boating 1.0 
 b. Recreational boating and fishing 3.1 
 c. Cruise & excursion vessels-ferries 6.0 
 d. Extensive network of ferries, excursions 9.0 
Petroleum Volume 
 a. Little or no petroleum cargoes 1.0 
 b. Petroleum for local heating & use 2.7 
 c. Petroleum for transshipment inland 5.3 
 d. High volume petroleum & LNG/LPG 9.0 
Chemical Volume 
 a. Little or no hazardous chemicals 1.0 
 b. Some hazardous chemical cargo 2.4 
 c. Hazardous chemicals arrive daily 5.2 
 d. High volume of hazardous chemicals 9.0 
Economic Impacts 
 a. Vulnerable population is small 1.0 
 b. Vulnerable population is large 3.5 
 c. Vulnerable, dependent & small 5.4 
 d. Vulnerable, dependent & large 9.0 
Environmental Impacts 
 a. Minimal environmental sensitivity 1.0 
 b. Sensitive, wetlands, VULNERABLE 3.1 
 c. Sensitive, wetlands, ENDANGERED 5.8 
 d. ENDANGERED species, fisheries 9.0 
Health and Safety Impacts 
 a. Small population around port 1.0 
 b. Medium - large population around port 2.6 
 c. Large population, bridges 5.6 
 d. Large DEPENDENT population 9.0 
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Analysis: 

The purpose of Book 3 is for the participants to calibrate a risk assessment scale for each risk 
factor.  For each risk factor there is a low (Port Heaven) and a high (Port Hell) severity limit, 
which are assigned values of 1.0 and 9.0 respectively.  The participants determined numerical 
values for two intermediate qualitative descriptions between those two extreme limits.  On 
average, participants from this port evaluated the difference in risk between the lower limit (Port 
Heaven) and the first intermediate scale point as being equal to 1.6; the difference in risk 
between the first and second intermediate scale points was equal to 2.7; and the difference in risk 
between the second intermediate scale point and the upper risk limit (Port Hell) was 3.8. 

Book 4 - Risk Factor Ratings (Port Everglades) 
 

Fleet 
Composition 

 
11.8 

Traffic 
Conditions 

 
26.6 

Navigational 
Conditions 

 
14.2 

Waterway 
Configuration

 
29.5 

Immediate 
Consequences 

 
17.0 

Subsequent 
Consequences

 
16.5 

      

% High Risk 
Deep Draft 

5.7 

Volume 
Deep Draft 

5.7 

Wind 
Conditions 

3.6 

Visibility 
Obstructions 

4.4 

Volume of 
Passengers 

5.8 

Economic 
Impacts 

5.3 

% High Risk 
Shallow Draft 

6.1 

Volume 
Shallow Draft 

5.8 

Visibility 
Conditions 

2.1 

Channel  
Width 

7.4 

Volume of 
Petroleum 

8.7 

Environmental 
Impacts 

7.4 

 

Vol. Fishing 
& Pleasure 

Craft 

7.1 

Tide & River 
Currents 

7.5 

Bottom 
Type 

9.0 

Volume of 
Chemicals 

2.5 

Health & 
Safety Impacts 

3.8 

 

Traffic 
Density 

8.0 

Ice 
Conditions 

1.0 

Waterway 
Complexity 

8.7 
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Analysis: 
 
This is the point in the workshop when the process begins to address local port risks.  The 
participants use the scales developed in Book 3 to assess the absolute level of risk in their port 
for each of the 20 risk factors.  The values shown in the preceding table do NOT add up to 100.  
Based on the input from the participants, the following are the top risks to port safety in Port 
Everglades (in order of importance): 
 

1. Bottom Type (9.0) 
2. Waterway Complexity (8.7) 
2. Volume of Petroleum (8.7) 
4. Traffic Density (8.0) 
5. Tide and River Currents (7.5) 
6. Channel Width (7.4) 
6. Environmental Impacts (7.4) 
8. Volume of Fishing and Pleasure Craft (7.1) 

Book 5 - VTM Tools (Port Everglades) 
 

Fleet 
Composition 

Traffic 
Conditions 

Navigation 
Conditions 

Waterway 
Configuration 

Immediate 
Consequences 

Subsequent 
Consequences

      

% High Risk 
Deep Draft 

Volume Deep 
Draft 

Wind 
Conditions 

Visibility 
Obstructions 

Volume of 
Passengers 

Economic 
Impacts 

10 1.4 14 0.6 19 -0.5 12 0.7 15 0.2 13 0.7 

IRR ALERT RA  RA  RA ALERT RA  RA ALERT

% High Risk 
Shallow Draft 

Volume 
Shallow Draft 

Visibility 
Conditions 

Channel  
Width 

Volume of 
Petroleum 

Environmental 
Impacts 

6 2.2 11 0.9 18 -0.3 8 2.0 9 1.8 7 2.1 

IRR  RA  RA  IRR ALERT RA  OTH  

  Vol. Fishing & 
Pleasure Craft 

Tide & River 
Currents 

Bottom 
Type 

Volume of 
Chemicals 

Health & 
Safety Impacts

  2 3.2 5 2.4 1 3.6 20 -0.5 17 -0.1 

  IRR  IDI  OTH  RA  RA  

  Traffic  
Density 

Ice 
Conditions 

Waterway 
Complexity     

  4 2.6 16 0.0 3 3.1     

  IRR ALERT RA  IDI ALERT     
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Legend:   
 
See the KEY (below).  Rank is the position of the Risk Gap for a particular factor 
relative to the Risk Gap for the other factors as determined by the participants.  
Risk Gap is the variance between the existing level of risk for each factor 
determined in Book 4 and the average acceptable risk level as determined by each 
participant team.  Negative numbers imply that the risk level could INCREASE 
and still be acceptable.  The teams were instructed as follows: If the acceptable 
risk level is equal to or higher than the existing risk level for a particular factor, 
circle RA (Risk Acceptable). If the mitigation needed does not fall under one of the 
VTM tools, circle OTH (Other) at the end of the line.  Otherwise, circle the VTM 
tool that you feel would MOST APPROPRIATELY reduce the unmitigated risk to 
an acceptable level. 
 
The tool listed is the one determined by the majority of participant teams as the 
best to narrow the Risk Gap.  An ALERT is given if no mathematical consensus is 
reached for the tool suggested.  Below are the tool acronyms and tool definitions. 
 

KEY  RA Risk Acceptable IDI Improve Dynamic Nav Info 
 IAN Improve Aids to Navigation VTIS Vessel Traffic Information System Risk 

Factor  ICM Improve Communications VTS Vessel Traffic System 

Rank Risk Gap  IRR Improve Rules and Regulations OTH Other – Not a VTM Solution 

Tool ALERT  ISI Improve Static Navigation Info   
 

Analysis: 
 
The results shown are consistent with the discussion that occurred about risks in the Port 
Everglades area.  For 9 of the 14 risk factors for which there was good consensus, the 
participants judged the risk to be at an acceptable level already due to existing mitigation 
strategies. 
 
No consensus alerts occurred for the following risk factors.  Votes were split as shown: 
• % High Risk Deep Draft – RA (5), IRR (5), ISI (1), VTIS (2), VTS (1) 
• Traffic Density – RA (4), IRR (5), VTIS (2), OTH (3) 
• Visibility Obstructions – RA (6), IAN (4), ICM (1), VTIS (3) 
• Channel Width – RA (3), ICM (1), IRR (4), IDI (2), VTIS (1), VTS (1), OTH (2) 
• Waterway Complexity – RA (1), IAN (2), IRR (1), ISI (1), IDI (3), VTIS (2), VTS (1), OTH (3) 
• Economic Impacts – RA (7), OTH (7) 
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Summary of Risks 
 
Scope of the port area under consideration: The participants defined the geographic bounds of 
the port area to be discussed. 
1. Approach to Port Everglades begins 1 NM east of sea buoy. 
2. Offshore anchorages to the north of the entrance channel. 
3. Outer Bar Channel, Turning Basin, North Extension north to 17th Street Bridge, South 

Extension, and ICW south to and including Dania Cut Off Canal and Port Lau Dania. 
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 

Fleet Composition 

% High Risk Deep 
Draft Cargo & 
Passenger Vessels 

Today: 

• 12,000 ship movements per year in deep draft 
category; 30% presented risk due to size of ship 

• General grouping of potential problems affect 60 
to 70% of ships in this group: 

1. Age of ship 
2. 30% due to draft 
3. Drug and alcohol abuse 
4. Maneuvering characteristics 

• High quality low risk ships:  

1. Very few Category I vessels.  
2. Category II vessels boarded once a year 

regardless of whether good or bad quality.  
3. Passenger ships are boarded quarterly and 

are Category III and IV 

• Majority of cargo ships are Category II or 
higher, less than 10 deficiencies per year average

• Large ships with crew issues: language, 
knowledge 

• 85% of cargo vessels are deep draft 

• Port Everglades experience at least one ship with 
a mechanical problem each day; 10 % have 
mechanical problems 

• Tanker crew: competency problems represent 
15% 

1. Do not conform to STCW 
2. Language barrier significant problem for 

foreign flag tankers 

• Container ships predominantly foreign flag  

• Maneuvering characteristics. Older ships 
designed to go fast at sea, not turn or otherwise 
maneuver at slow speed. Two passenger ships 
use port that fit this category. Maersk has some 
container ships that fit this category. Considered 
a very high risk. For these ships, tugs for assist 
are of marginal value in checking . 

• Note: large vessels, even in good condition, are 
considered risks because of the restricted size of 
the waterway 

Existing mitigations: 

• Most cruise ships are less than 2 
years old 

• Large tankers with competent 
crews 

• Large passenger ships with 
competent crews 

• Tugs used with 70% of ships which 
use port 

New mitigation: 

• Not discussed 

Continued Next Page 
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 
Fleet Composition (Continued) 

% High Risk Shallow 
Draft Cargo & 
Passenger Vessels 

Today: 

• 90% of recreational boaters do not have good 
knowledge, especially through cut 

• 100% of the jet ski recreational craft show poor 
judgment/knowledge  

• Sea-Tow and Offshore Towing tow 4,000 boats 
per year  

• Recreational boats including jet skis:  

1. Estimated that 25 to 30% are of 
questionable competence and at risk based 
on law enforcement boardings; ignorance of 
operators affecting operations in entrance 
channel and turning basin 

2. 50% of boats have safety or other 
regulation deficiencies 

3. Once per day recreational boat puts itself at 
risk with Sun Cruz catamaran  

4. Recreational boaters do not perceive 
themselves as causing risk or in danger 

5. Jet skis slap the hull of passenger vessels 
6. Alcohol related accidents estimated at 25 to 

30% of total 
7. Pilots report at least one incident during 

each ship movement and have to assure 
captain that his ship must keep going 
straight and the recreational boat will have 
to move. Cases where engines breakdown 
and people jump into the water 

8. Limited access to ocean. Next access is 
Haulover Inlet to south and Hillsboro Inlet 
to the north 

9. Lots of educational courses available, but 
few are taken 

10. Material condition of recreational boats is 
poor; frequently break down; pilot boats 
have to tow them out of the way 

11. Recreational boats ignore speed signs  

• Water-taxi boats do not present a particular risk 

• Coastal freighters do not present a particular risk

• Fishing boats: not specifically discussed 

No mitigation factors were discussed. 

 Continued Next Page 

  11



Port Risk Assessment Port Everglades, FL   

 

RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 
Traffic Conditions 

Volume of Deep Draft 
Vessels 

Today:  

• Weekends 4 to 6 cruise ships line up to depart 
within 2-hour period  

• Estimate 20 minute transit for deeper draft 
tankers 

• Arrivals also—several ships jockey for entrance 
within small window of time 

• Container ships: size limited by depth of channel

• Number of tank ship transits; CITGO sees 
seasonal changes rather than growth.  

• Draft for tankers restricted to 38 feet except for 
Berth 5, which is 39 feet 

• No commercial fisheries in port 

Trends: 

• Traffic levels growing at 5 to 10% per year  

• Tonnage, length and beam as well as draft will 
be a significant factor to consider 

1. LOA approaching 1200 feet 

• Cruise ships now seasonal; next summer will 
have year-round schedule. Increasing ships from 
1 to 3 berthed in Port Everglades 

• Port-wide trend is slow increase in volume; 112 
million bbls now 

• Number of ships does not change but size of 
ships is increasing 

• Trend for shallow draft inter-island freighters is 
to be displaced by larger ships which berth in 
Port Everglades 

• Pier 12 may accommodate passenger vessels 

Existing mitigations: 

• Pilots coordinate departure and 
arrival times and order for ships 

• Discussion to dredge channel to 42 
feet 

• One-way traffic for tankers 

New mitigation: 

• Not discussed 

 Continued Next Page 
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 
Traffic Conditions (Continued) 

Volume of Shallow 
Draft Vessels 

 

Today: Caribbean coastal vessels, offshore fishing 
vessels, OSVs, ferries 

• OSVs for fuel only; no rigs offshore 

• 3,000 movements per year.  

• Very little commercial fishery activity in Port 
Everglades 

No mitigation factors were discussed. 

 Continued Next Page 
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 
Traffic Conditions (Continued) 

Volume of Fishing & 
Pleasure Craft 

 

Today: 

• Recreational boat activity increasing. 44,000 
registered watercraft in Broward County 

• Launch areas: Many are trailered in. Launch 
sites include: 15th Street ramp, John Lloyd Park 
ramp, Dania Cut Off Canal in Harbor Town. Dry 
storage at Hot Water Canal. 

• Transits through port waterways to entrance  

• Seasonal (especially during winter months) 

• Major sight seeing; transits from north and south 
ICW 

Trend: 

• Recreational boating increases 5 to 10 percent 
per year 

• Trend is 16 to 26 foot size 

Level of risk is for this factor is not 
considered to be at an acceptable 
level. 

Existing mitigations: 

• Fees from boat registration to fund 
education programs 

• Speed regulations 

• On water presence of law 
enforcement, especially during 
movement of ships 

• Educational pamphlets available 
for recreational boaters 

• USCG Auxiliary conducts 
recreational boating programs 

• Children under 15 cannot operate a 
boat or jet ski without mandatory 
training/license 

• Web available courses 

• Mandatory boating safety card 
after 

1. Second violation 

2. First criminal violation 

• Mandatory boating safety cards 
provide proof of experience for 
people who rent boats 

New mitigations: 

• Establish exclusion zones for jet 
skis 

• Improve communications 
infrastructure between law 
enforcement agencies on 
background checks 

• County ordnance for jet ski 
defining where they can and cannot 
operate; specifically address 
distance from port and distance 
from ships 

 Continued Next Page 
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 
Traffic Conditions (Continued) 

Traffic Density 

 

Today: 

• Congestion area at times: 

1. Small boats: Any major holiday; winter 
season with snow birds; Winter Fest Boat 
parade, Air-Sea Show (May), Boat shows 
(test-drive boats), Mini lobster season 
(July), fishing tournaments 

2. Sunrise every Saturday and Morning at boat 
traffic which is also when inbound cruise 
ships come in 

3. Long spring/summer/fall for weekend 
boaters 

4. Fishing boats run entrance channel for 
fishing and diving; best fishing is on the 
range  

5. High recreational boat traffic 1400 to 1600 
daily including sport fishermen 

6. Major ship congestion at sea buoy due to 
single ship transit through entrance channel 
and approaches  

7. Mega-yachts not piloted; increasing traffic 
throughout Port. Significant congestion at 
17th Street Bridge and North Extension and 
Dania Cut 

Level of risk for this port is 
considered to be at an acceptable 
level with the exception of the 
recreational boaters whose 
knowledge is questionable. 

Existing mitigations: 

• Mandatory speed requirements 

• Permits and other special 
arrangements for special marine 
events 

• Pilots place second pilot boat on 
scene to clear path for commercial 
traffic 

• Local notice to mariners reporting 
special events 

• Quarterly Harbor Safety 
Committee meetings 

• Loud whistles 

• Aids to navigation to contain traffic 
flow 

• Seven tenths of mile precautionary 
area around sea buoy 

• Raising air draft of 17th Street 
Bridge to reduce openings and 
distribute recreational traffic 
density 

• There is congestion in cruise ships 
on Friday, Saturday, and Sunday 
but there is good orchestration and 
coordination of movement through 
harbor master’s office 

New mitigation: 

• Utilize facilities 7 days a week 
rather than highly concentrated 
during 2 or 3 days during the week 

Continued Next Page 
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 
Navigational Conditions 

Wind Conditions 

 

Today: 

• By and large a low wind area, but when high 
winds do blow, create significant problems for 
ship movements 

• Moderate to strong winds 20-25 knots for deep 
draft vessels. Occur in thunderstorms as well as 
predictable fronts. 

• Occasional cold fronts, weekly, in winter with 
25 knot sustained winds. Well predicted. 

• Summer SE winds 9 to 12 knots 

• Winter months20 to 25 knots NE sustained; 30% 
of the time, greater than 25 knots another 10%. 

• Summer unpredictable afternoon thunderstorms 
with microbursts that include tornadoes; 3 days 
per week on average during summer 

• Onshore wind with outgoing tide in entrance 
channel at jetties creates 4 to 6 foot waves and 4 
knot current 

• Winter: northerly winds, cross channel 

No mitigation factors were discussed 

Continued Next Page
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 

Navigational Conditions (Continued) 

Visibility Conditions Today: 

• Fog: not much of a problem; occurs 2 days per 
year 

• Visibility poor during thunderstorms; visibility 
to zero; during summer thunderstorms – 15 to 30 
minutes; unpredictable - even a short “white out” 
period creates high risk in entrance channel and 
maneuvering in port 

Existing mitigation: 

• Short run enables ships to wait out 
a microburst 

New mitigation: 

• None discussed 

Continued Next Page
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 

Navigational Conditions (Continued) 

Tide and River 
Currents 

Today: 

• Significant current through 17th Street Bridge on 
ebb tide 

• Cross current of 2 to 2.5 knots between entrance 
and sea buoy. For large ships, that represents 
25% of approach speed which affects course and 
set.  Can be north or south depending upon 
where Gulf Stream is. Can shift three times in 
the course of one transit. 

• At sea buoy and beyond can be 5 knots. 

• Sea buoy cross current makes approach to 
channel difficult at times. Sometimes get a 
counter current to the south! Sometimes get 
counter currents at lower depths. Ship hull 
responds to stronger current 

• Jetties on a flood tide have two cross currents-
inner to south, outer is to north which creates 
turning vortex. Can set boats on beach at light 
#12 

• Heavy rains in summer create stronger than 
normal ebb tides 

• Water management areas also impact ebb tide 
flow: Dania Cut and New River 

• Tankers create swirls in basin as they enter tank 
slips; goes from 1.5 knot at one end to 0 current 
at other. 

• Turning notch at Dania Cut. Confined area with 
both tidal and man-made currents which can be 
unpredictable 1.2 million gallons of water in and 
out at power generation plant 

Level of risk for this port is 
considered to be acceptable. 

Existing mitigations: 

• Doppler current meter outside 
Buoy #2. Goes to pilot office, 
which relays information to pilots 

• University weather buoy 3 miles 
offshore 

• Range (help detect drift left/right in 
the channel) 

• Local knowledge of pilots and 
other port users 

• Tug assistance available 

New mitigations: 

• Install additional real time current 
meters in selected parts of the port 

• Coordinate with Water 
Management district for opening 
floodgates. 

• Raise height of lower range light 

Ice Conditions • Not applicable for Port Everglades.  
Continued Next Page
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 

Waterway Configuration 

Visibility Obstructions 

 

Today: 

• Blind corners: 
1. North of USCG station at Buoy #9  
2. North of restaurant at _____ 
3. Dania Canal junction with ICW 
4. 17th Street Bridge 
5. Knuckle in ICW at Berths 25 and 26 
6. Jetties for low bridge boats and recreational 

boats 
• Background lights 

1. Interfere with sea buoy, entrance channel 
buoys for approaching ships  

Existing mitigations: 

• Existing bridge-to-bridge radio 
communications 

• Range lights adequately visible 

New mitigation: 

• None discussed 

Continued Next Page
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 

Waterway Configuration (Continued) 

Channel Width  

 

Today: 

• 500 feet outside jetties 

• 450 feet inside jetties 

• ICW is 500 feet 

• Commercial traffic one-way only 

Level of risk is acceptable for this 
port. 

Existing mitigations: 

• One-way traffic 

• Tug assistance available 

• VHF/FM communications between 
ships 

• Exclusive use of waterway when a 
tanker is moving 

• Pilot station controls vessel 
movements through 
communications with pilots on 
board transiting ships 

• Harbor Master utilizes pilot and tug 
information to manage port 
movements 

• Ocean-going yachts read and 
comply with Coast Pilot 
requirements to get Harbor Master 
permission before entering the port 

New mitigation: 

• None discussed 
Continued Next Page
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 

Waterway Configuration (Continued) 

Bottom Type Today: 

• Hard rock (oleolithic limestone) banks, very 
sheer and unforgiving. Vertical walls, blasted 
from outside jetties into and through the port 

• Anchor holding poor to non-existent 

• Cable crossing areas: Buoy #3, just inside 
breakwaters across Inner Bar Cut, north 
extension below 17th Street Bridge, just south of 
knuckle in ICW, outside and below port, 
extensive restricted area due to cables 

• Channel depth and width limit use of port by 
new generation large ships 

• DGPS accuracy in this area is not sufficient. 
Plus/minus 3 meter accuracy on a 1000-foot ship 
is not adequate; channel is narrow enough to not 
be error tolerant 

Risk is considered acceptable today. 

Existing mitigations: 

• Pilots 

• Tug services 

• Range with sector light 

• Aids to navigation 

• Nautical charts are adequate 

• High water transits of large ships 

• Tide tables reasonably accurate for 
existing traffic 

New mitigations: 

• Real time current meter at sea buoy

• Raise height of lower range light 
(view blocked by tankers in berths)

• Proposed dredging of outer channel 
to 700-foot, 500-foot channel in 
Entrance Cut 

• Real time tide gage information as 
larger ships are brought into port 

Continued Next Page 
 

  21



Port Risk Assessment Port Everglades, FL   

 
RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 

Waterway Configuration (Continued) 

Waterway Complexity  Today: 

• One 90-degree turn in main channel 

• Converging waterways:  

1. ICW and Dania Cut 
2. Turning notch 
3. Main port at entrance 
4. Basin in Port Lau Dania 

• Crossing traffic: 

1. North and southbound traffic at sea buoy 
2. Southbound traffic tries to stay close in to 

dodge Gulf Stream 
3. Convergence of multiple traffic patterns at 

sea buoy 
4. Convergence of multiple traffic patterns in 

port basin 

Risk level is high but considered 
acceptable today. 

Existing mitigations: 

• .7 NM Precautionary Area as a 
buffer around sea buoy to keep 
southbound traffic away from 
entrance to Port Everglades and 
anchorage 

• Good buoyage 
• Pilotage requirements in place for 

most commercial traffic 
• Florida Marine Research Institute 

has created public boater education 
guides for Broward and Dade 
Counties. 

• USCG patrols 
• Florida Fisheries and Wildlife 

patrol craft 
• Harbor Master coordinates arrivals 

and departures of deep draft ships 
• VHF/FM communications 
• Speed control for recreational and 

commercial traffic 
• Mandatory education for boat 

operators based on age 
• Voluntary boating safety courses 

are available 
• Regulator signs posted throughout 

the port 
New mitigations: 

• Expand moving safety zones to 
additional type and size vessels 

• Mandatory training and education 
levels for recreational boat 
operators 

• News events to inform boating 
public on restricted capabilities of 
large ships in restricted areas 

• County ordnance to establish 
moving safety zone around deep 
draft ships (500 feet ahead, 100 feet 
abeam and astern)  

Continued Next Page
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 
Immediate Consequences 

Volume of Passengers Today: 

• Passenger vessels move 3 million passengers a 
year 

1. Number of crew and passengers ~3000+ in 
one hull 

2. Sight seeing cruises up to 149 

3. Daily Seascape cruises - 500 daily 

4. Head boats - charter boats with 49 people 

Trends: 

• Water taxi traffic increasing (tourists) 

• Size of cruise ships increasing 

• Increasing cruise boats with 600+ in one hull 

No mitigation factors were discussed. 

Continued Next Page
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 
Immediate Consequences (Continued) 

Volume of Petroleum 
Cargoes 

Today: 

• 800 tank ship movements per year; 2 to 3 per 
day of which 30% are seagoing tank barges 
(200,000 bbls) and integrated tug and barge 
(ITB) 

• Still some “senior” tankers with single hulls 

• Barges not yet double hull 

Existing level of risk is acceptable. 

Existing mitigations: 

• Licensing and training for 
tankermen 

• Mandatory booms during all 
petroleum transfers 

• Contingency clean up capability 

• Public Safety department at port 
has First Responder Capability 

• Salvage capabilities are within 20 
minutes 

• Vessels and facilities have 
response plans 

• Port, county and USCG have 
contingency plans 

• Design of port’s petroleum berths 
enables isolation of spill; booms on 
scene ready to deploy 

• One-way traffic 

• Double hull  

• Juniper class buoy tender stationed 
in ______ has response capability 

• Active spill coop; MSRC ship in 
Miami; active drills and exercises 

New mitigation: 

• None discussed 
Continued Next Page
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 
Immediate Consequences (Continued) 

Volume of Hazardous 
Chemical Cargoes 

Today: 

• Less than 10% of cargo tonnage is HAZMAT 
and comes as container cargo 

• Nuclear powered Navy ships 

• One facility for HAZMAT: One propane barge 
per week, berth 11. Risk: T-bone collision from 
entrance channel if ship loses steering. Passenger 
terminal is just north and adjacent to LPG 
terminal. 

Existing mitigations: 

• Standby tug required for LPG 

• LNG prohibited from port 

• Risk study done before decision 
made as to where the barge should 
be moored 

Continued Next Page 
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 

Subsequent Consequences 

Economic Impacts Today: 

• Hurricane-induced port closure 

1. Predicted events 

2. Logistics requirements can be anticipated 
and addressed 

• If external trucker strike: immediate effects for 
wharfage, storage, laborers 

• Oil terminals. Inventory of product reserve from 
1 to 6 days depending upon last delivery. Airport 
shut down within 1 week. 

• In general: 1-week period before cargo delivery 
shortages felt 

• Just in time inventory management 

• Cruise ships: impact is immediate-especially on 
a Saturday or Sunday. If inbound a particular 
problem with autos in storage, air reservations 
and hotel space wherever they are taken, 
logistics returning them to Port Everglades 

• Freight: depends on product 

1. Special commodities 

2. Reefer cargoes within a week 

3. Containers could arrive by other routes 

Existing mitigations: 

• Hurricane contingency planning in 
place 

• Salvage capabilities are within 20 
minutes 

Continued Next Page 
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 

Subsequent Consequences (Continued) 

Environmental Impacts Today: 

• Spawning grounds and nurseries for crustaceans 

• Ft Lauderdale beach recreation 

• Manatee areas everywhere especially during 
cold weather in Hot Water Canal 

• Aquatic preserve 

• Entire ICW mangrove areas 

• Turtle nesting areas 

• Groundings in approaches  

• Three tiers of reefs parallel coast offshore at 30-
60-90 foot depths 

• Diving and fishing activities 

Existing mitigations: 

• Oil spill committee 

• Trained people 

• On scene response equipment 

• Booming strategies in contingency 
plans 

• Effectiveness: unknown in terms of 
having had a real spill. Have 
conducted drills and exercises 

• Annual preparatory drill 

• For tank vessels: 

1. Licensing and training for 
tankermen 

2. Mandatory booms during all 
petroleum transfers 

• Contingency clean up capability 

• Public Safety department at port 
has First Responder Capability 

• Port, county and USCG have 
contingency plans 

• Design of ports petroleum berths 
enables isolation of spill. Booms 
on scene ready to deploy 

• No idea what to do with manatees 
in event of an oil spill. They loiter 
in vicinity of power plant out-fall 
canal 

Continued Next Page 
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RISK FACTORS RISKS MITIGATIONS 

Subsequent Consequences (Continued) 

Health and Safety 
Impacts 

• Resident population: 10,000 

• Drinking water not an issue; piped from 
elsewhere. 

• Sewer line at 17th Street Bridge 

• Power plant cooling water intake 

• Tank farm is second largest on east coast. 
Disaster there will impact port activity 

No mitigation factors were discussed. 
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Port Everglades Port Profile 
 

 
Vessel Traffic Management Profile Presently in Place 

 
 
 Aids to Navigation (USCG and Private) 

 
- Lighted & Unlighted – Fixed & Floating:  USCG maintained. 
 
- Electronic Aids (GPS, DGPS, RACON, AIS, EAIS):  GPS and DGPS used in Pilot Boat 

and available on ships, Morse (A) RACON, & PEL SECTOR LIGHT. 
 

- Traffic Separation Schemes (TSS) –IMO: None 
 

- Regulated Navigation Areas (RNA) – USCG: Precautionary Area at channel entrance, 
Restricted Area South of channel entrance, two offshore anchorages, and 4 cable areas. 

 
 
 Vessel Traffic Systems (VTIS/VTS):  Traffic competently handled by Harbor Master 

coordinated with pilots. 
 
 
 Situation Awareness (Each Ship) 

 
- Own Ship’s & Other Ship’s Position:  Handled by Pilot, VHF communication and visual 

sighting. 
 
- Other Ship’s Intentions:  Through pilot radio communication with other vessel.  

 
- Environmental Conditions:  Warning of dangerous microbursts comes from airport 

Doppler radar via the Harbor Master’s office.  Manatees occasionally encountered in 
vicinity of docks slowing or temporarily halting docking/undocking procedures. 
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Port Everglades Port Profile 
 
 

Waterway Navigational Attributes 
 
 
 Ship Channel Complexity:  Large vessels transiting narrow channel with rocky sides 

encounter strong cross winds and currents, short stopping distances for large and deep draft 
vessels, safety of other vessels in port surging alongside due to “piston effect” and need for 
speed, traffic density, swirling currents in inner channel and basin. 

 
 
 Converging or Crossing Traffic:  High volume – including non-piloted commercial vessels, 

private mega-yachts and recreational craft. 
 
 
 Ship Channel Configuration:  Manmade outer and inner channels are straight with rocky 

sides and bottom. 
 
 
 Ship Channel Traffic:  11,000 piloted commercial movements per year, major and minor 

commercial vessels with highest number of recreational vessels in the Nation. 
 
 
 Recreational and Local Fishing Activity:  High volume, frequently impeding commercial 

traffic. 
 
 
 Bottom:  Rock, poor holding for emergency anchoring situations. 

 
 
 Currents:  Outer channel – dangerously strong cross currents that vary in strength and are 

unpredictable in direction.  In harbor – current swirls of varying characteristics, both 
horizontally and vertically causing random counter currents. 

 
 
 Wind:  Moderate to strong easterly, although possible from all directions during frontal 

passages.  Severe and shifting during frequent thunderstorms and microburst  -  often times at 
gale strength. 

 
 
 Visibility:  Generally good, except when driving rain reduces visibility.  Occasional early 

morning fog.   
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Port Everglades Port Profile 
 
 

Planned and Anticipated Changes 
 
 
 Planned Infrastructure Developments:  

- Construction of 1-3 additional cruise terminals. 
- Construction and expansion of new petroleum berths. 
- Construction of 2-3 new vehicle parking garages and the enlargement of 2 current 

facilities. 
- Addition of 1 and possibly 2 rail mounted container gantry cranes at Southport. 
- Replacement of the 2 current rail mounted container gantry cranes at Midport with 3 new 

panamax fully electric cranes. 
- Development of 271 acres of container/rail yard at Southport. 
- Portwide deepening of the harbor to include 53' depth at the outer bar, 50' in the inner 

channel, turning basins, and alongside the berths at Southport. 
- Deepening of Midport and Northport turning basins, slips, and berths. 
- Widening and deepening of the Dania Cutoff Canal to 310' and 28' respectively. 
- Continued roadway improvements and expansions. 
- Development of a dedicated transportation system linking the Port and Ft. Lauderdale 

airport. 
 
 Changes in levels and/or nature of waterway activities:   

- Vessel movements anticipated increasing 5-10% per year for the next 10 years. 
- Port and waterways must accommodate larger ships, particularly cruise and container in 

excess of 1,300 LOA in the years ahead. 
- Greater congestion expected from private boaters and other commercial vessel traffic. 

 
 Forecast Traffic Levels:  5-10% growth per year in numbers of vessels handled. 

 
 USCG Regulations to Be Implemented:  None. 

 
 Changes under Consideration, but not Committed:  Any of the items identified in Planned 

Infrastructure Developments are subject to modification in scope and numbers based upon 
the results of a full master plan review which is currently being conducted by a Port 
contracted master planner. 
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Preface

The United States Coast Pilot is published by the National Ocean Service (NOS), National 

Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), pursuant to the Act of 6 August 1947 

(33 U.S.C. 883a and b), and the Act of 22 October 1968 (44 U.S.C. 1310).

The Coast Pilot supplements the navigational information shown on NOAA nautical charts. 

The Coast Pilot is continually updated and maintained from inspections conducted by NOAA 

survey vessels and fi eld parties, corrections published in Notices to Mariners, information from 

other Federal agencies, State and local governments, maritime and pilots’ associations, port 

authorities, and concerned mariners.

NOAA’s Offi ce of Coast Survey encourages public feedback regarding its suite of nautical 

charting products and services through the Nautical Inquiry/Discrepancy Reporting System. 

This system allows comments, inquiries and chart discrepancies to be submitted directly to 

NOAA’s nautical charting program. Inquiries are typically acknowledged by email within one 

day, and ninety percent are answered or resolved within fi ve days. 

General comments or inquiries can be made at http://nauticalcharts.noaa.gov/inquiry.

Detailed nautical chart or Coast Pilot discrepancies can be reported at
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(324)  Route A1A highway bridge crossing the inlet has a 
bascule span with a clearance of 13 feet� The bridgetender 
monitors VHF-FM channel 16 and works on channel 13� 
(See 117.1 through 117.59 and 117.289, chapter 2, for 
drawbridge regulations.) On the flood tide the current past 
the bridge is reported to be as much as 5 to 6 knots� An 
overhead power cable at the bridge has a clearance of 
64 feet� Yacht landings are on the south shore on either 
side of the bridge� A depth of 5 feet is at the landings� 
Berthage, electricity, gasoline, diesel fuel, water, ice, 
some marine supplies, a mobile 10-ton lift, and hull, 
engine, and electronic repairs are available�

(325)  Southward of Hillsboro Inlet shoaling is rapid; depths 
of 6 to 8 fathoms have been found 1�5 miles offshore� A 
wreck 3�2 miles south of Hillsboro Inlet Entrance Light 
and 0�4 mile offshore has a depth of about 10 feet over 
it� Two small rock islets on each side of a stranded vessel 
were formed by the jettisoning of a cargo of cement about 
5 miles south of Hillsboro Inlet Entrance Light and 0�4 
mile offshore� They were blasted away during World War 
II, but until the depth over them has been determined, the 
area should be avoided by light-draft vessels�

(326)  Fish havens extend 1 to 2�4 miles offshore between 
Hillsboro Inlet and Port Everglades�

(327)  A submerged groin is 1 mile north of the entrance of 
Port Everglades and 0�4 mile offshore�

(328) 
Chart 11470

(329)  Port Everglades is a deepwater port on the east 
coast of Florida, 301 miles south of Jacksonville and 948 
miles from New York� Many of the world’s large passenger 
vessels call at this major cruise port� Although principally 
a consumer port, considerable foreign commerce passes 
through� The principal commodities handled include 
petroleum products, automobiles, bulk cement, steel 
products, scrap iron, lumber, newsprint, glass, and a 
variety of general cargo� Two unmarked jetties protect the 
harbor entrance which is virtually landlocked�  
 

(331) 
Prominent features

(332)  There are numerous tall hotel buildings on the 
north side of the entrance close westward of the north 
jetties� The numerous hotels and several tanks along the 
beach, and tanks, and radio and television towers in Fort 
Lauderdale are other conspicuous objects�

(333)  Because of the low shoreline good radar targets are 
limited in the approach to Port Everglades� It is reported, 
however, that the north and south jetties present good 
targets. Additionally, the entrance buoys are difficult to 
identify by radar because of the heavy small-craft traffic 
in the entrance�

Port Everglades, Florida
Image courtesy of USCG Sector Miami, AST3 Ryan J. Pierce (2014) NNNNN

(330)
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(334) 
COLREGS Demarcation Lines

(335)  The lines established for Port Everglades are 
described in 80.727, chapter 2�

(336) 
Channels

(337)  A Federal project provides for a 500-foot-wide 
entrance channel 45 feet deep converging at the jetties 
to a 450-foot-wide channel 42 feet deep leading to a 
turning basin 42 feet deep at the main port facilities with 
north and south extensions 31 feet deep� From the turning 
basin southward, the Intracoastal Waterway leading to the 
Southport terminal has been dredged for a Port Everglades 
sponsored project width of 500 feet and project depth of 
42 feet� Immediately north of the Southport terminal lies 
a turning notch on the west side of Intracoastal Waterway 
850 feet by 750 feet, 42 feet project depth and marked 
by 7 fingered dolphins to the north and three articulated 
yellow buoys to the west� The federal maintenance plan 
includes the Intracoastal Waterway to Southport and the 
turning notch� Although not a part of the Federal project, 
the Port Everglades Department of Broward County has 
dredged the south extension of the turning basin to a depth 
of 38 feet and will maintain it at that depth� (See Notice 
to Mariners and latest edition of chart for controlling 
depths�)

(338)  A lighted buoy marks the entrance, and channel 
markers include lighted buoys, lights, and a 269°30' 
lighted entrance range�

(339) 
Dangers

(340)  Two submerged breakwaters, extending almost 
0�7 mile offshore on either side of the entrance, are 
unmarked� A large abandoned spoil area north of the 
entrance channel has very little water on it and at times 
appears above the water as an island; it was reported to 
be building up to the northwestward in 1983� The shoal 
area westward of the spoil area is marked by daybeacons� 
A Naval restricted area extends about 2�5 miles offshore 
and about 4 miles southward of the south edge of the 
entrance channel� (See 334.580, chapter 2, for limits and 
regulations�) Large vessels entering the port on weekends 
and holidays are advised to exercise extreme caution 
because of very heavy small-craft traffic. The ruins of a 
former jetty, covered 3 feet, extend south from the inner 
end of the north jetty�

(341)  A large fish haven extends from 1.5 to 5.7 miles 
north of the entrance channel and from 1 to 2�2 miles 
offshore. A smaller fish haven is about 1 mile north of 
the entrance channel and about 1�5 miles offshore�

(342)  Large commercial vessels approach, enter and 
depart the entrance channel within both quadrants east 
of Lighted Buoys 2 and 3� Small craft in the vicinity of the 
approach areas of the entrance channel are advised to be 
underway and prepared to get out of the way of any large 
commercial traffic at all times. They are advised never to 
anchor within 0�6 mile of Lighted Buoy PE or anywhere 

in the entrance channel itself, in order not to impede the 
passage of large commercial traffic.

(343) 
Anchorage

(344)  The commercial anchorage area is NNE of Port 
Everglades Lighted Buoy 2 (See 110.186, chapter 2, for 
limits and regulations�) All commercial vessels planning 
to use the Port Everglades anchorage, whether bound 
for Port Everglades or not, are required to provide the 
U.S. Coast Guard with an advanced notice of arrival 
(See 160.212, chapter 2, for regulations�) Vessels using 
this anchorage must report their positions and time of 
anchoring to the Port Everglades Harbormaster on VHF-
FM channel 14�

(345)  No vessels may anchor in a “dead ship” status (i�e� 
propulsion or control unavailable for normal operations) 
without prior approval from the Coast Guard Captain of 
the Port (COTP)� In addition, vessels are not permitted 
to anchor for more than 72 hours without prior COTP 
approval� Vessels shall request approval from the USCG 
COTP via the Port Everglades Harbormaster on VHF-FM 
channel 14�

(346)  The anchorage is in close proximity to three (inner, 
middle, and outer) reefs that run along South Florida's 
coast� The anchorage area has charted soundings ranging 
from 125 feet to more than 500 feet� The depth of the 
western side of the anchorage area averages approximately 
125 feet� The bottom type in the anchorage consists of a 
sand, mud, and coral rubble mixture that does not provide 
adequate holding during adverse weather� There are also 
minor obstructions in the anchorage area that are mainly 
discarded spools of cable; these may be annotated on the 
chart as obstructions�

(347)  The close proximity of the anchorage area to the 
shallow reefs requires vigilance by vessel captains while 
piloting and anchoring in the area� Violent, unpredictable 
winds in excess of 50 knots can be associated with local 
thunderstorm activity� Upon the approach of thunderstorms 
from any direction or in sustained wind conditions of 
25 to 30 knots from NNE through SSE directions, all 
vessels in the anchorage ground are strongly advised to 
have engines on standby and be prepared to vacate the 
anchorage� It is highly recommended that vessels leave 
the anchorage and head to sea when sustained winds in 
excess of 30 knots are blowing from NNE through SSE 
directions� A proper anchor watch is vitally important 
with the vessel's position being checked frequently and 
VHF-FM channels 14 and 16 continuously monitored�

(348)  Although not required, pilotage to the anchorage 
is available upon request and is strongly recommenced 
for masters who are unfamiliar with the Port Everglades 
anchorage� Anchoring south of the entrance channel by 
vessels with a draft in excess of 12 feet is prohibited� (See 
334�480, chapter 2, for regulations�) The USCG COTP 
may close the anchorage and direct vessels to depart 
during periods of adverse weather or at other times as 
deemed necessary in the interest of port safety or security�
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(349) 
Currents

(350)  The tidal currents in the entrance average about 0�7 
knot. In 1983, it was reported that the flood currents attain 
a velocity of 3 knots and the ebb currents 4 knots� Current 
swirls of varying characteristics are often encountered in 
the turning basin and make handling of ships difficult. 
Prevailing winds from the southeast and east coupled 
with a rising tide are the most hazardous� Caution should 
be exercised to avoid striking the piers or the rocky sides 
of the turning basin�

(351)  The entrance channel has dangerously strong cross 
currents which vary in strength and are unpredictable in 
direction� These currents generally run at right angles 
to the direction of the narrow entrance channel making 
transit hazardous, without local knowledge, for deep draft 
vessels� These currents have been reported to be as much 
as 5 knots�

(352)  Several locations in the port are also reported to be 
affected by man-made currents. The outflow from the 
Florida Power and Light cooling water discharge canal, 
just south of Berth 29, will effect passing ships in varying 
ways depending upon the output of the plant and the size 
and draft of the ship� After periods of heavy rainfall, the 
flood control gates in the Everglades of South Florida 
are opened causing very strong ebb currents which might 
dominate the flood currents in areas such as the Dania 
Cut-off Canal�

(353) 
Weather, Port Everglades and vicinity

(354)  Tropical cyclones threaten (move within 180 miles 
of) Port Everglades once or twice each year on the 
average� About 50 percent of these are hurricanes� While 
the season runs from June through November, about 83 
percent of all threats have occurred in August, September, 
and October� However the port has also been affected, 
outside of the normal season, in December, February and 
May� Tropical cyclones have approached the port from all 
octants although they are rare from the northwest through 
northeast�

(355)  While the port is most vulnerable to winds off 
the open ocean, the relatively flat terrain provides 
little resistence to strong land winds; however, nearby 
manmade structures afford some protection� The 
Australian pines and other tall trees on the east side of 
the Intracoastal Waterway provide some lee effect from 
the prevailing easterly winds� Due to the narrow channel 
opening and two jetty systems the port is well protected 
from ocean waves except for those approaching from the 
east� However, energy from even these waves is lost by 
shoaling and diffraction inside the harbor� Wind waves 
inside are limited by lack of fetch�

(356)  Storm tides have exceeded 12 feet (3�6 m) at Fort 
Lauderdale in the past. The lack of significant elevations 
on barrier land strips, subjects the entire Intracoastal 
Waterway in this area, including Port Everglades, to 
severe flooding from hurricanes. These factors plus the 

absence of sheltered berths or anchorages makes evasion 
at sea the best course of action for all seaworthy, deep-
draft vessels when a hurricane threatens the port�

(357)  Thousands of shallow draft boats are moored in the 
extensive canal system just north of Port Everglades� If 
feasible, they should be removed and transported inland 
to higher elevations� Because of the many boats, it might 
not be possible to move along the Intracoastal Waterway, 
to seek protection up a canal or river, unless departure 
is quite early� If a boat must be moored, it should be 
ballasted to be low in the water, to escape wind effects, 
and be well secured with allowance for increased water 
heights� More detailed information may be found in the 
Hurricane Havens Handbook for the North Atlantic 
Ocean as mentioned in chapter 3�

(358)  Aside from the tropical cyclone threat the climate is 
conducive to marine activities� Gales are rare� They may 
occur with strong cold fronts or in severe thunderstorms� 
Winds of 17 knots or more are most likely from September 
through April when they blow about 2 to 5 percent of the 
time� Precipitation occurs on about 94 days annually and 
is most likely in summer� Thunderstorms occur on 10 to 
15 days per month from June through October, a period 
which records more than 60 percent of the annual rainfall 
total� These brief, heavy showers usually help cool things 
off in the late afternoon or early evening� Temperatures 
climb to 90°F (32�2°C) or more on an average of 56 
days each year and extreme of 100°F (37�8°C) has 
been recorded� The extreme minimum in winter is 28°F 
(-2�2°C)� Visibilities are generally good and drop below 
0�5 mile (0�9 km) on an average of just 8 days each year; 
November through March is the most likely period�

(359) 
Pilotage, Port Everglades

(360)  Pilotage is compulsory for all foreign vessels and for 
U�S� vessels under register in the foreign trade with a draft 
of 7 feet or more� Pilotage is optional for U�S� coastwise 
vessels that have on board a pilot licensed by the Federal 
Government�

(361)  The Port Everglades area is served by Port Everglades 
Pilots Association, P�O� Box 13017, Port Everglades, FL 
33316; telephone 954–522–4491, fax 954–522–4498, 
radiotelephone VHF-FM channels 14, 16, 18A, 19, and 
77�

(362)  Port Everglades pilot boat has a gray hull and white 
superstructure with the word PILOT displayed on the 
sides. The pilot boat displays the hotel flag by day and 
a white light over a red light at night� The pilot boat 
monitors and works VHF-FM channels 14 and 16� There 
is significant vessel traffic in the vicinity Port Everglades 
Lighted Buoy PE (26°05'30"N., 80°04'46"W.) Unless 
directed to come closer by the Port Everglades Pilots 
or the Port Everglades Harbormaster, all vessels should 
plan on receiving their pilot 2 miles E of Port Everglades 
Lighted Buoy PE; the buoy is equipped with a racon� 
Vessels should maintain a speed of 7 knots and provide 
a pilot ladder 3 feet (1 meter) above the water on the lee 
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side� Swift variable currents, usually east of the buoy, can 
affect boarding procedures�

(363)  Arrangements for pilots can be made through ships’ 
agents or the Port Everglades Harbormaster (telephone: 
954–468–3531)� At least 24 hours advance notice of 
arrival is requested, with confirmation given 1 hour in 
advance of arrival by radiotelephone�

(364) 
Towage

(365)  Three conventional tugs to 4,200 hp, two tractor tugs 
to 5,100 hp, and one Ship Docking Module of 4,000 hp 
are available for docking and undocking� Arrangements 
for tugs should be made through the harbormaster’s 
office.

(366) 
Quarantine, customs, immigration, and agricultural 
quarantine

(367)  (See chapter 3, Vessel Arrival Inspections, and 
Appendix A for addresses�)

(368)  Quarantine is enforced in accordance with 
regulations of the U�S� Public Health Service� (See 
Public Health Service, chapter 1.) There are five general 
hospitals and several smaller private hospitals in the area�

(369)  Port Everglades is a customs port of entry.
(370) 

Coast Guard
(371)  Fort Lauderdale Coast Guard Station is on the east 

side of the Intracoastal Waterway southeast of the turning 
basin�

(372)  Harbor regulations are established by the Port 
Everglades Department of Broward County� The 
administration, operation and maintenance of the port are 
under the direction and supervision of the port director� 
The harbormaster clears all traffic passing through the 
port, assigns berths and enforces the regulations ashore� 
The harbormaster should be contacted concerning all 
ship movements and any requirements that ships may 
have for their safe passage through the port, such as tug 
boat assistance or the removal of temporary obstructions� 
The Marine Division of local, county and state police 
departments enforce the regulations afloat. A copy of 
the port tariff is available at the port office which is in 
the Port Administration Building close westward of Pier 
5. The harbormaster’s office in the Port Administration 
Building can be contacted 24 hours a day by telephone 
(954–765–4602) or on VHF-FM channel 14�

(373) 
Manatees

(374)  Regulated speed zones for the protection of manatees 
are in Port Everglades� (See Manatees, chapter 3�)

(375) 
Wharves

(376)  Port Everglades has numerous deepwater berths 
adjacent to the main entrance channel and southern 
branch of the Intracoastal Waterway� All the berths are 
owned and operated by the Port Everglades Department 

of Broward County� The port has 380 acres of open 
storage, over 440,000 square feet of covered storage, over 
2 million cubic feet of cold storage space, 380 electrical 
reefer outlets and 8 roll-on/roll-off ramps� Foreign Trade 
Zone No� 25 with 388,600 square feet of warehousing 
is also located in the port� Privately owned facilities 
provide over 9½ million barrels of storage space for 
petroleum products as well as 34 cement silos totaling 
112,000 ton capacity� Berths 4 through 15 have pipeline 
connections available for handling petroleum products, 
asphalt, and other bulk liquids� Heavy lift cranes up to 
300 tons, six container gantry cranes of 30 to 50 tons, 
and modern cargo handling equipment are available at 
the port� Containers can be worked at all berths listing 
general cargo by means of ship’s gear or mobile container 
handling equipment available in the port� All berths have 
access to the highways and some have rail connections� 
The alongside depths given for each facility described 
are project depths� Actual depths alongside, in almost all 
locations, exceed project depth� For information on the 
latest depths, contact the Port Everglades Department of 
Broward County or the Port Everglades Harbormaster� 
Only the major facilities are described� For a complete 
description of the port facilities, refer to Port Series 
No� 16, published and sold by the U�S� Army Corps of 
Engineers (see Appendix A for address)�

(377)  Berth 1A: east side of Pier 6; 180 feet long; 12 feet 
(reported) alongside; deck height, 9 feet; used as a lay-
over berth�

(378)  Berth 1B: south side of Pier 6; 220 feet long with 
an adjacent 70-foot wide ro/ro ramp; 23 feet (reported) 
alongside; deck height, 9 feet; 6 feet at ramp; used as a 
lay-over berth�

(379)  Berths 1, 2, and 3: east side of Pier 4; 1,600 feet 
long; 31 feet alongside; deck height, 9 feet; ro/ro cargo 
at berth 1, secondary fiber, break bulk and general cargo, 
Naval ships, cruise ships�

(380)  Berth 4: south side of Pier 4; 900 feet long; 38 feet 
alongside; deck height, 7�5 feet; ro/ro cargo at head of 
slip, general cargo, cruise ships�

(381)  Berth 4A: head of slip 2; 290 feet along; 42 feet 
alongside; deck height, 4 feet; fingered ro/ro ramp for 
ships at berths 4 and 5� products�

(382)  Berth 5: north side of Pier 2; 900 feet long; 38 feet 
alongside; deck height, 7�5 feet; ro/ro cargo at head of 
slip, break bulk and general cargo, petroleum products, 
asphalt�

(383)  Berth 6: east face of Pier 2; 380 feet long; 38 feet 
alongside; deck height, 7�5 feet; break bulk and general 
cargo�

(384)  Berths 7 and 8: south side of Pier 2; 1,200 feet 
long; 38 feet alongside; deck height, 7�5 feet; primarily 
petroleum products, asphalt, occasional general cargo at 
berth 7�

(385)  Berths 8A: head of slip 1; 300 feet long; 38 feet 
alongside; deck height, 7�5 feet; miscellaneous and tug 
lay-overs while barges being worked�
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(386)  Berths 9 and 10: north side of Pier 1; 1,200 feet 
long; 38 feet alongside; deck height, 7�5 feet; petroleum 
products�

(387)  Berth 11: east face of Pier 1; 500 feet long; 38 feet 
alongside; deck height, 7.5 feet; liquefied petroleum gas 
with pipelines to storage tanks�

(388)  Berths 12 and 13: south side of Pier 1; 1,226 feet 
long; 38 feet alongside; deck height, 7�5 feet; petroleum 
products�

(389)  Berths 14 and 15: north side of Pier 3; 1,226 feet 
long: 33 feet alongside; deck height, 9 feet; rail mounted 
bulk cement self unloaders and pipelines leading to 34 
cement silos adjacent to dockside; primarily bulk cement, 
petroleum products, occasional break bulk and general 
cargo�

(390)  Berths 16, 17 and 18: east side of Pier 3; 1,648 
feet long with 43-foot wide roll on/roll off ramp at south 
end of Berth 18; 38 feet alongside; deck height, 9 feet 
at ramp; one 30 ton container gantry crane having an 
outreach of 108 feet at 90 feet above MHW and one 50 
ton container gantry crane having an outreach of 113 feet 
at 109 feet above MHW, pipelines extending to cement 
silos; containers, break bulk and general cargo, roll on/
roll off cargo using ramp at west end of Berth 19�

(391)  Berths 19 and 20: Pier 5; 1,300 feet long with 84 
foot wide roll on/roll off ramp at west end of Berth 19; 38 
feet alongside; deck height, 9 feet, 6 feet at ramp; break 
bulk and general cargo, roll on/roll off cargo using ramp 
at south end of Berth 18, Naval ships, cruise ships�

(392)  Berths 21 and 22: west side of Pier 7; 1,475 feet 
long; 38 feet alongside; deck height, 8 feet; primarily 
cruise ships, Naval ships, occasional general cargo�

(393)  Berth 23: north side of Pier 7; 200 feet long; 38 feet 
alongside; deck height, 9 feet; berth no longer used–pier 
head is occupied by a restaurant�

(394)  Berths 24 and 25: east side of Pier 7; 1,369 feet 
long; 42 feet alongside; deck height, 9 feet; cruise ships, 
Naval ships, lay-overs�

(395)  Berths 26 and 27: east side of Pier 9; 1,337 feet 
long; 42 feet alongside; deck height, 9 feet; break bulk 
and general cargo, cruise ships, Naval ships�

(396)  Berths 28A - 28F: surrounding the small basin in 
the southern half of Pier 9; 28A (north wall), 480 feet; 
28B and 28E (on finger pier), 350 feet each; 28F (south 
wall), 400 feet; 28A to 28E have 27 feet alongside, 28F 
has 21 feet alongside; deck height, 9 feet; 28A - harbor 
tug dockage; 28B to 28D - lay-over berths; 28F - general 
cargo�

(397)  Berth 29: east side of Pier 9; 800 feet; deck height, 
9 feet: 42 feet alongside; break bulk and general cargo, 
primary deep draft lumber dock�

(398)  Berth 30: north side of Southport terminal; 900 feet; 
deck height, 11 feet; 42 feet alongside; general cargo, 
scrap metal, bulk products�

(399)  Berths 31 and 32: east side of Southport terminal; 
2,000 feet; deck height, 11 feet; 42 feet alongside; three 
40 ton container gantry cranes having an outreach of 

145'-06" at 130 feet above MHW with setbacks of 5 feet 
from the bulkhead and 9 feet from the fenders; containers�

(400)  Berth 33A: southeast corner of Southport terminal; 
800 feet, 140 feet at ramp; deck height, 11 feet, 9 feet at 
ramp; 42 feet alongside; container cranes from berths 31 
and 32 can be used; containers and roll on/roll off cargo�

(401)  Berths 33B and 33C: southeast corner of Southport 
terminal, adjacent to 33A; finger pier 500 feet long by 
20 feet wide between the two berths; 120 feet ramp at 
each berth; deck height, 11 feet, 7 feet at ramp; 42 feet 
alongside; roll on/roll off cargo�

(402)  Supplies of all kinds in any quantity can be obtained 
and all types of marine supplies are available in Port 
Everglades� All berths have fresh water pipelines and 
some have electrical shore power connections� Berths 
1 through 27 have pipeline connections for bunkering 
vessels while alongside� Berths 28 through 33 are 
accessible by tank truck and barge� Arrangements can be 
made for special blended fuels�

(403) 
Repairs

(404)  There are no major repair facilities for large vessels 
in Port Everglades� The nearest major repair facility is in 
Jacksonville�

(405)  Several machine, electrical, electronic, and marine 
engine repair firms located off the waterfront can make 
above-waterline repairs to small craft�

(406) 
Communications

(407)  Class II railroads serve the port through a beltline 
owned by the port but leased and operated by Seaboard 
System Railroad� Truck and barge lines serve the port 
and local and interstate bus service is available� Many 
domestic and overseas airlines serve the port through the 
Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport, 1 
mile southwest of the port�

(408) 
Small-craft facilities

(409)  Yachting and small-craft facilities are centered 
at Fort Lauderdale close northward of the port and are 
described with the Intracoastal Waterway in chapter 12�

(410)  Port Laudania, just south of Port Everglades, is 
used by small ships handling general cargo and heavy 
equipment� The 3�1-mile route from Port Everglades 
entrance to the port is through the main channel, thence 
southward for 1�8 miles in the Intracoastal Waterway and 
westward for 0�9 mile in the Dania Cut-Off Canal to a 
540 by 310-foot turning basin on the north side� Due to 
the size and draft of the commercial vessels calling at 
Port Laudania, the center of the channel in the Dania 
Cut-off Canal is generally required for safe navigation� 
To prevent dangerous meeting situations, Security calls 
should be given by vessels over 50 feet in length or over 
7 feet in draft on VHF-FM channels 13 and 16 prior to 
transiting the Dania Cut-off Canal� In 1983, the reported 
controlling depth from the Intracoastal Waterway to 
the turning basin was 5 feet� An overhead power cable 
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across the Dania Cut-Off Canal has a clearance of 130 
feet� Facilities include 1,440 feet of wharfage with 14 
feet reported alongside, five ramps for roll-on/roll-off 
loading, 9 acres of open storage, over 15,000 square feet 
of enclosed warehouse storage, water, fuel and lubricants 
by truck� Truck service is available, and railroad sidings 
are nearby� Small-craft facilities in the area are described 
in chapter 12�

(411) 
Chart 11466

(412)  Between Port Everglades and the Miami Harbor 
entrance, 20 miles to the southward, the general trend 
of the coastline is south, and it is formed almost entirely 
by a low sand beach� The large buildings and tanks in 
Hollywood, Miami Beach, and Miami are particularly 
conspicuous from seaward�

(413)  This section of the coast is also fairly bold, and the 
20-fathom curve runs parallel to the beach at a distance of 
about 2 miles until in the Miami Harbor entrance where 
the curve of the shore becomes south-southwestward and 
the 20-fathom curve lies about 4 miles offshore� Inside 
this curve shoaling is rapid, and northward of the Miami 
Harbor entrance 6 to 8 fathoms are found in places 1�5 
miles from the beach�

(414)  Hollywood is a popular resort 5 miles south of Port 
Everglades and about 1 mile west of the Intracoastal 

Waterway� The Florida Bible College, a very prominent 
structure, is on the ocean beach east of the city�

(415) 
Charts 11466, 11467

(416)  Bakers Haulover Inlet has been dredged through 
the barrier beach at the north end of Biscayne Bay, 11�6 
miles south of Port Everglades, to provide circulation of 
water in the bay� The channel leads westward through 
the inlet, thence northward to a boat basin on the east 
side of the channel and connects with the Intracoastal 
Waterway north of the basin and through a cut opposite 
the basin� In 2008-2009, the controlling depth was 11 
feet through the inlet to the highway bridge, thence 10 
feet in the basin and 9 feet in the channels leading to the 
Intracoastal Waterway� Route A1A highway bridge over 
the inlet has a fixed span with a clearance of 32 feet; 
an overhead power cable just east of the bridge has a 
clearance of 53 feet� Current velocities of about 2�9 knots 
on the flood and 2.5 knots on the ebb have been recorded 
in the inlet� (For predictions see the Tidal Current Tables�)

(417)  Many charter-boat fishermen use the inlet in good 
weather� Several prominent hotels are south of the inlet� 
The Intracoastal Waterway is 0�4 mile inside the entrance�

(418)  The Florida Department of Natural Resources has 
established a slow-no wake speed zone in the Intracoastal 

Port of Miami, Florida
Image courtesy of USCG Sector Miami, AST3 Ryan J. Pierce (2014) NNNN

(422)
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PORT EVERGLADES
RISK MITIGATION STRATEGY PLAN

1. INTRODUCTION

Risk identification and mitigation are and have been ongoing activities within the Captain of the
Port (COTP) Miami, FL, area of responsibility. As a step toward standardizing methodology,
formal risk assessment and mitigation planning involving local waterway users and stakeholders
was conducted July 26-27, 2000. Facilitated by a team provided by Coast Guard Headquarters
(G-MWV), the formal assessment used the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) and a Port Risk
Model developed by George Washington University. The session brought together 29
participants from the local port community, who were chosen by the COTP to represent a cross-
section of waterway perspectives. Following the structure imposed by the AHP methodology,
participant teams were asked to identify risks present in the port’s waterways, determine which
of the risks identified could be addressed using vessel traffic management (VTM) tools, and
suggest appropriate VTM risk mitigation measures. The information thus developed serves as the
foundation for both near-term action and for future risk mitigation planning.

2. PORT EVERGLADES

This section provides a brief description of Port Everglades and its environs for the benefit of
those reviewers unfamiliar with that waterway complex. More complete information may be
obtained by consulting the Coast Pilot1, which was used as a reference for the material below.
The following NOAA charts also apply:

 Port Everglades 11470
 Lake Worth Inlet to Port Everglades 11466
 Bakers Haulover Inlet 11466, 11467

For the purpose of the Port Everglades Port Risk Assessment, the participant teams defined the
port area as having the following geographic bounds:

 Approach to Port Everglades begins 1 NM east of sea buoy.
 Offshore anchorages to the north of the entrance channel.
 Outer Bar Channel, Turning Basin, North Extension north to 17th Street Bridge, South

Extension and Intracoastal Waterway (ICW) south to and including Dania Cut Off Canal up
to Port Lau Dania.

3. PANEL IDENTIFIED RISKS

The facilitated risk assessment sessions were structured to address six risk categories, with
associated risk factors under each. The twenty factors used were those identified by the National
Dialogue Group as those that should be addressed when considering improvements to vessel

1 - United States Coast Pilot No. 4,32nd Edition, Cape Henry to Key West, National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration, National Ocean Service, Washington, DC., 1999
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traffic management measures. Numerical scores were assigned by the Port Everglades participant
teams to each risk factor using the AHP methodology and are tabulated below. The higher the
number, the higher the perceived risk level for that category or factor. The five highest risk
factors and the highest ranking factor under each risk category are highlighted by shading. Please
note that the maximum possible score for each factor is 9.0 and the minimum is 1.0. The scoring
has not been normalized and is not intended to total 100.

TABLE 1: PORT EVERGLADES RISK FACTOR SCORES

Fleet
Composition

11.8

Traffic
Conditions

26.6

Navigational
Conditions

14.2

Waterway
Configuration

29.5

Short-term
Consequences

17.0

Long-term
Consequences

16.5

% High Risk
Deep Draft

5.7

Volume
Deep Draft

5.7

Wind
Conditions

3.6

Visibility
Obstructions

4.4

# of People on
Waterway

5.8

Economic
Impacts

5.3

% High Risk
Shallow Draft

6.1

Volume
Shallow Draft

5.8

Visibility
Conditions

2.1

Channel
Width

7.4

Volume of
Petroleum

8.7

Environmental
Impacts

7.4

Vol. Fishing &
Pleasure Craft

7.1

Tide & River
Currents

7.5

Bottom
Type

9.0

Volume of
Chemicals

2.5

Health &
Safety Impacts

3.8

Traffic
Density

8.0

Ice
Conditions

1.0

Waterway
Complexity

8.7

The scoring shown is generally consistent with the concerns discussed during the panel’s
deliberations. Each risk category is discussed separately, below.

 Fleet Composition: Quality of the calling fleet was the lowest risk category overall. The
participant teams did not consider the quality of the deep draft calling fleet to be a major
risk factor. Most transits are repeat calls by a limited number of passenger, container and
RO/RO foreign flag deep draft vessels typically operated by highly responsible
companies using high value (and low risk) ships. The presence of low quality coastal
freighters and of a large number of sport fishing and other recreational boats who make
unanticipated course changes contribute to raising this risk factor.



Port Everglades
Risk Mitigation Strategy Plan

DRAFT - 3 -

 Traffic Conditions: The participant teams evaluated this risk category to be the second
highest. The volume of deep draft traffic is increasing, especially for cruise ships, whose
size also is increasing. The channel depth and width restrict the size of other commercial
ships. The volume of sport fishing and pleasure craft is increasing significantly. The
participant teams considered risks associated with traffic density to be the fourth highest
risk factor for the port.

 Navigational Conditions: The participants considered risk levels within this category to
be low with the exception of tide and river currents, which were the fifth highest risk
factor for the port. Due to existing risk mitigation activities, the risks due to wind and
visibility conditions were considered acceptable. Ice conditions are not a risk factor in
Port Everglades.

 Waterway Configuration: The participant teams considered the risks to port safety
associated with this category to be of considerable concern. Bottom type was evaluated as
the highest risk factor for the port. The channel walls and bottom throughout the port are
characterized as hard and unforgiving limestone. Tied with the volume of petroleum, the
participant teams considered the risks associated with waterway complexity to be the
second highest for the port. The port includes one 90-degree turn, three converging
waterways, restricted turning basins, considerable crossing traffic, and scads of
unpredictable recreational boaters. Channel width will become an increasingly significant
risk as the volume and size of deep draft shipping grows ever larger. Tied with
environmental impacts, the participants considered the risks associated with the channel
width to be the sixth highest risk factor for the port. As volume of traffic increases careful
planning will have to go into traffic management since little can be done to improve
waterway configuration, channel width or depth without blasting, which is
environmentally challenging. The existing channel width and depth are potentially
limiting factors to expansion. Visibility obstructions, while not ranking in the top risks
overall, still cause risk at an unacceptable level.

 Immediate Consequences: The participant teams believed that existing risk mitigation
practices associated with the number of people on the port’s waterways and the volume
of hazardous chemicals lower these two risk factors to well within acceptable limits. Tied
with waterway complexity, the risk associated with the volume of petroleum moving
through the port was evaluated as the second highest risk factor.

 Subsequent Consequences: Environmental impact was tied with channel width as the
sixth highest risk factor for the port. Marine sanctuaries, spawning grounds, endangered
species (manatees) and water and beach recreation areas surround the port area. This
entire section of coast and ICW is an environmentally sensitive area. The risks associated
with economic and health and safety impacts were moderate and generally considered to
be acceptable, given current mitigation strategies.

Specific risks identified by the panel are set forth in Appendix A to this report.
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4. PANEL SUGGESTED MITIGATIONS

The Port Everglades Risk Assessement participant teams were asked to assess the probable
impact of various VTM measures upon the risks identified. The relative merit assigned by the
panel to each risk factor is shown in Table 2, below. One shortfall of the ranking process is that it
does not permit considering a mixture of mitigation stategies, such as making some improvement
to the existing system and also implementing Enhanced AIS. This should be kept in mind when
drawing conclusions from the scores shown.

TABLE 2: RECOMMENDED RISK MITIGATIONS AND THEIR POSSIBLE EFFECTS

Fleet
Composition

Traffic
Conditions

Navigation
Conditions

Waterway
Configuration

Immediate
Consequences

Subsequent
Consequences

% High Risk
Deep Draft

Volume Deep
Draft

Wind
Conditions

Visibility
Obstructions

# of People on
Waterway

Economic
Impacts

10 1.4 14 0.6 19 -0.5 12 0.7 15 0.2 13 0.7

IRR ALERT RA RA RA ALERT RA RA ALERT

% High Risk
Shallow Draft

Volume
Shallow Draft

Visibility
Conditions

Channel
Width

Volume of
Petroleum

Environmental
Impacts

6 2.2 11 0.9 18 -0.3 8 2.0 9 1.8 7 2.1

IRR RA RA IRR ALERT RA OTH

Vol. Fishing &
Pleasure Craft

Tide & River
Currents

Bottom
Type

Volume of
Chemicals

Health &
Safety Impacts

2 3.2 5 2.4 1 3.6 20 -0.5 17 -0.1

IRR IDI OTH RA RA

Traffic
Density

Ice
Conditions

Waterway
Complexity

4 2.6 16 0.0 3 3.1

IRR ALERT RA IDI ALERT
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Legend:

See the KEY (below). Rank is the position of the Risk Gap for a particular factor
relative to the Risk Gap for the other factors as determined by the participants.
Risk Gap is the variance between the existing level of risk for each factor
determined in Book 4 and the average acceptable risk level as determined by each
participant team. Negative numbers imply that the risk level could INCREASE and
still be acceptable. The teams were instructed as follows: If the acceptable risk
level is equal to or higher than the existing risk level for a particular factor, circle
RA (Risk Acceptable). If the mitigation needed does not fall under one of the VTM
tools, circle OTH (Other) at the end of the line. Otherwise, circle the VTM tool
that you feel would MOST APPROPRIATELY reduce the unmitigated risk to an
acceptable level.

The tool listed is the one determined by the majority of participant teams as the
best to narrow the risk gap. An ALERT is given if no mathematical consensus is
reached for the tool suggested. Below are the tool acronyms and tool definitions.

KEY RA Risk Acceptable IDI Improve Dynamic Navigation Info

Risk
Factor

IAN Improve Aids to Navigation VTIS Vessel Traffic Information System

ICM Improve Communications VTS Vessel Traffic System

Rank Risk Gap IRR Improve Rules & Regulations OTH Other – not a VTM solution

Tool ALERT ISI Improve Static Navigation Info

Analysis:

The results shown are consistent with the discussion that occurred about risks in Port Everglades.
For 9 out of the 14 risk factors for which there was good consensus, the participant teams judged
the risk to be at an acceptable level already due to existing mitigation strategies.

The biggest risk gap was for the Bottom Type risk factor. Thirteen of the fourteen participant
teams considered the level of risk for this factor to be unacceptable. Twelve teams indicated that
a non-VTM solution, specifically blasting and dredging, would be the most appropriate way to
reduce risk to an acceptable level for this factor.

No consensus alerts occurred for the following risk factors because votes were split as shown.

 % High Risk Deep Draft – RA (5), IRR (5), ISI (1), VTIS (2), VTS (1)
 Traffic Density – RA (4), IRR (5), VTIS (2), OTH (3)
 Visibility Obstructions – RA (6), IAN (4), ICM (1), VTIS (3)
 Channel Width – RA (3), ICM (1), IRR (4), IDI (2), VTIS (1), VTS (1), OTH (2)
 Waterway Complexity – RA (1), IAN (2), IRR (1), ISI (1), IDI (3), VTIS (2), VTS (1), OTH (3)
 Economic Impacts – RA (7), OTH (7)



Port Everglades
Risk Mitigation Strategy Plan

DRAFT - 6 -

5. PLANNED ACTIONS

The catalog of risks and possible mitigation strategies derived from the assessment is set forth in
Appendix A, which forms an excellent base from which to continue locally the risk assessment
and mitigation process. This catalog of risks also provides justification to institutionalize as an
ongoing process at the local port level consideration of risks and their amelioration. Follow-on
sessions should focus initially on four actions:

1. Ensuring that all risks have been identified and that the catalog of risks is complete;

2. Assessing each identified risk in terms of its impact on safety and efficiency in order to
determine if the level of risk posed is either acceptable, given ongoing risk mitigation
activities, or requires additional mitigation measures;

3. Reviewing, for each risk requiring additional mitigation, what is needed (as opposed to
what may be desired) to reduce the risk to an acceptable level; and

4. Examining mitigation options available to determine which best suits the local need(s) for
each risk.

The methodology followed should recognize that local waterways management, including
identification and mitigation of unacceptable risks, is a joint public/private sector responsibility.
This shared responsibility means that mitigation measures may be accomplished by government
alone, by government in partnership with the private sector, or by the private sector without
government participation. Any approach used should include developing a comprehensive local
action plan which takes into account both costs and benefits.

Appendix A has been annotated to include those initial actions that appear appropriate in
response to the participants’ expressed concerns. Identification of initial actions will help focus
subsequent discussions with the local port community waterway users and stakeholders
regarding each risk, permitting the testing of each proposed action for validity and
appropriateness prior to implementation. The listing of initial possible actions should be viewed
as a starting point for the Captain of the Port to help coordinate a continuing dialogue with the
local maritime community, leading to clear identification of risks and well thought-out
mitigation measures.

Appendix A also identifies, where appropriate for each new mitigation measure, the
organizational element within the Coast Guard deemed responsible for action. Following further
consideration by the local maritime community, the Captain of the Port should consider initiating
a specific request up the Coast Guard chain-of-command in each case where action falls to a
higher organizational level.
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Port Everglades Waterborne Commerce Chart for the Ten Fiscal Years 2013 through 2004
FISCAL YEAR 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Operating Revenue 147,317,976$            142,931,312$     139,177,090$        124,653,452$       114,441,818$           121,169,061$         112,500,017$         107,577,863$         105,858,262$         112,476,658$     
Expenses 74,936,974$              72,146,510$       73,405,360$          73,950,966$         73,235,677$             73,093,351$           72,111,017$           69,117,148$           65,232,415$           56,488,710$        
Gross Margin 72,381,002$              70,784,802$       65,771,730$          50,702,486$         41,206,141$             48,075,710$           40,389,000$           38,460,715$           40,625,847$           55,987,948$        
TOTAL WATERBORNE OPERATING REVENUE 125,866,644$            122,018,332$     118,021,876$        103,312,041$       92,665,832$             96,958,452$           90,737,653$           85,850,912$           84,828,184$           81,516,312$        
Cruise Revenue 62,152,647$              60,159,964$        56,754,102$           45,724,190$          37,428,549$              35,217,120$            31,483,362$            28,146,431$            30,000,619$            30,601,167$        
Containerized Cargo Revenue 31,670,506$              31,321,019$        31,669,031$           29,473,963$          28,711,223$              33,867,064$            28,556,927$            25,393,178$            24,192,949$            20,487,292$        
Petroleum Revenue 27,530,193$              25,656,369$        25,771,885$           25,486,535$          23,537,174$              23,620,073$            23,756,489$            22,946,933$            22,945,117$            22,734,391$        
Bulk Revenue 1,701,037$                2,003,023$           1,378,516$             925,567$               1,090,407$                1,599,476$              3,251,766$              5,661,670$              4,836,366$              4,595,168$          
Break Bulk Revenue 2,130,060$                1,552,505$           1,283,503$             872,967$               886,826$                    1,670,354$              2,803,198$              2,798,064$              2,228,132$              2,147,521$          
Lay-In Revenue 569,175$                    1,078,394$           806,288$                467,858$               736,089$                    692,866$                 384,696$                 468,490$                 388,664$                 534,936$             
Navy Revenue 113,026$                    247,058$              358,551$                360,961$               275,564$                    291,499$                 501,215$                 436,146$                 236,337$                 415,837$             
TOTAL SHIP CALLS 3,850                          4,000                   4,183                     4,079                   4,251                         5,226                       5,496                      5,510                      5,901                      6,389                  
Cruise Ships 772                             838                       969                          1,015                     1,007                          1,676                        1,852                        1,763                        2,362                        2,854                   
Container Ships 1,872                          1,867                    1,861                       1,830                     1,980                          2,197                        2,270                        2,185                        1,988                        1,890                   
Cargo Ships 188                             194                       180                          113                        105                             157                           202                           268                           247                           231                      
Petroleum Tankers/Barges 591                             618                       630                          661                        683                             727                           732                           744                           751                           763                      
Navy/USCG 14                               16                         26                            29                          34                               22                             39                             29                             18                             25                        
Other (Bunkers/Tugs) 413                             467                       517                          431                        442                             447                           401                           521                           535                           626                      
TOTAL CRUISE PASSENGERS 3,600,636                   3,757,320            3,952,843             3,674,226            3,139,820                 3,227,770               3,409,946              3,239,154              3,801,464              4,075,406           
Single Day 90,909                        68,298                  288,740                  360,018                 302,866                      591,059                    719,888                    779,470                    1,113,101                1,400,110            
Multi-Day 3,509,727                   3,689,022             3,664,103               3,314,208              2,836,954                   2,636,711                2,690,058                2,459,684                2,688,363                2,675,296            
TOTAL CONTAINERIZED CARGO (tons)* / ** 6,045,588                   5,944,513            5,787,961             5,216,831            5,204,103                 6,584,747               6,060,149              5,688,442              5,076,403              4,145,394           
TEUs Loaded 663,410                      655,046                621,632                  552,781                 551,862                      697,808                    665,729                    624,524                    572,342                    486,598               
TEUs Total 927,572                      923,600                880,999                  793,227                 796,160                      985,095                    948,680                    864,030                    797,238                    653,628               
TOTAL PETROLEUM (tons)* / **** 15,330,225                14,830,384          15,325,199           15,483,856          15,337,063              16,143,971             17,486,726            17,566,394            18,338,378            17,585,603         
Barrels 108,377,053              104,819,812        108,262,845           109,380,437          108,356,216              113,941,485            122,979,685            123,479,901            128,842,410            123,734,414        
TOTAL BULK (tons)* 884,908                      973,191               531,572                511,467               566,820                    895,147                   1,752,974              2,954,310              2,848,333              2,854,588           
Bulk Cement 534,469                      613,051                375,050                  264,211                 306,727                      494,054                    1,432,837                2,465,753                2,222,492                2,333,142            
Dry Bulk 337,239                      346,976                141,189                  234,068                 246,988                      387,383                    307,825                    475,084                    607,063                    509,891               
Liquid Bulk (Non-petroleum) 13,200                        13,164                  15,333                    13,188                   13,105                        13,710                      12,312                      13,473                      18,778                      11,555                 
TOTAL BREAK BULK (tons)* / ** 191,752                      120,812               94,921                  69,960                 67,462                      91,007                     302,301                  376,535                  279,139                  297,678              
Steel/Coils/Rebar 116,448                      53,055                  27,180                    15,192                   15,523                        17,660                      175,361                    256,271                    159,353                    150,951               
Other Break Bulk 75,304                        67,757                  67,741                    54,768                   51,939                        73,347                      126,940                    120,264                    119,786                    146,727               
TOTAL VEHICLES & YACHTS (tons)* / ** 134,506                      166,237               180,986                181,169               172,361                    240,129                   196,014                  152,549                  125,166                  104,167              
Trucks/Trailers 30,416                        28,222                  28,112                    34,105                   40,903                        69,712                      57,390                      28,729                      23,400                      18,536                 
Tractors 50,247                        76,163                  83,337                    79,210                   65,255                        69,552                      52,089                      45,462                      26,630                      18,812                 
Yachts/Boats 43,744                        55,198                  60,812                    54,396                   53,871                        75,729                      63,999                      57,668                      32,866                      42,940                 
Autos 5,310                          4,307                    7,253                       12,972                   11,314                        23,845                      20,184                      16,983                      23,491                      22,104                 
Buses 4,789                          2,347                    1,472                       485                        1,018                          1,291                        1,720                        3,708                        1,917                        1,775                   
TOTAL WATERBORNE COMMERCE (tons)* / *** 22,452,473                22,116,275          22,087,515           21,640,144          21,503,720              24,227,435             26,400,271            27,114,362            27,159,194            25,462,798         

   *Tonnage is measured in 2,000-pound short tons
  **Vehicles & Yachts tonnage is presented in detail in its own section for informational purposes, but this tonnage is accounted for in other areas abov
***Total includes other amounts that are not part of the tonnage presented above for the primary revenue centers
P****Petroleum does not include truck and rail volumes
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